

# LUND UNIVERSITY

#### Restoring antitumor immunity with dendritic cell reprogramming strategies. Reprogramming cancer cells to antigen-presenting cells.

Barros Ferreira, Alexandra Gabriela

2023

Document Version: Publisher's PDF, also known as Version of record

Link to publication

Citation for published version (APA):

Barros Ferreira, A. G. (2023). *Restoring antitumor immunity with dendritic cell reprogramming strategies. Reprogramming cancer cells to antigen-presenting cells.* [Doctoral Thesis (compilation), Department of Laboratory Medicine]. Lund University, Faculty of Medicine.

Total number of authors: 1

**General rights** 

Unless other specific re-use rights are stated the following general rights apply:

Copyright and moral rights for the publications made accessible in the public portal are retained by the authors and/or other copyright owners and it is a condition of accessing publications that users recognise and abide by the legal requirements associated with these rights. • Users may download and print one copy of any publication from the public portal for the purpose of private study

or research.

- You may not further distribute the material or use it for any profit-making activity or commercial gain
  You may freely distribute the URL identifying the publication in the public portal

Read more about Creative commons licenses: https://creativecommons.org/licenses/

#### Take down policy

If you believe that this document breaches copyright please contact us providing details, and we will remove access to the work immediately and investigate your claim.

LUND UNIVERSITY

**PO Box 117** 221 00 Lund +46 46-222 00 00

# Restoring antitumor immunity with dendritic cell reprogramming strategies Reprogramming cancer cells to antigen-presenting cells

ALEXANDRA GABRIELA BARROS FERREIRA DEPARTMENT OF LABORATORY MEDICINE | FACULTY OF MEDICINE | LUND UNIVERSITY



Restoring antitumor immunity with dendritic cell reprogramming strategies

# Restoring antitumor immunity with dendritic cell reprogramming strategies

Reprogramming cancer cells to antigen-presenting cells

Alexandra Gabriela Barros Ferreira



#### DOCTORAL DISSERTATION

Doctoral dissertation for the degree of Doctor of Philosophy (Ph.D.) at the Faculty of Medicine at Lund University and University of Coimbra to be publicly defended on 17<sup>th</sup> November at 14.30 in Segerfalksalen, BMC A10, Lund, Sweden

#### **Faculty opponent**

Professor Konrad Hochedlinger Harvard Stem Cell Institute, Harvard University Cambridge, MA, USA

#### Organization: LUND UNIVERSITY Document name: DOCTORAL DISSERTATION

#### Author: Alexandra Gabriela Barros Ferreira

**Title and subtitle:** Restoring antitumor immunity with dendritic cell reprogramming strategies. Reprogramming cancer cells to antigen-presenting cells.

**Abstract:** For the past two decades, immunotherapy revolutionized cancer treatment. However, responses vary significantly among eligible patients and some cancer types are not yet open to immunotherapy. Several mechanisms contribute to immunotherapy resistance, including loss of antigen presentation machinery and immunosuppression. Conventional dendritic cells type 1 (cDC1) are a rare population of professional antigen-presenting cells (APCs) that specialize in recognizing, processing, and cross-presenting antigens to cytotoxic CD8+T cells and orchestrating complex immune responses. During carcinogenesis, the role of cDC1 is to capture tumor-associated antigens (TAAs) and stimulate effector immune cells to build an immune response against cancer. In cancer patients, cDC1s are dysfunctional or excluded from the tumor microenvironment (TME). Furthermore, cancer cells downregulate key components of antigen presentation pathway, including major histocompatibility complex class I (MHC-I), allowing them to evade immune surveillance. Therefore, there is a need for strategies that counteract cancers' mechanisms of immune evasion.

Cell reprogramming has highlighted the cellular plasticity of somatic cells, while direct lineage conversion promoted the identification of the transcription factor combinations that gatekeep the cell identity for various cell types. Additionally, cell reprogramming products have opened new avenues for regenerative medicine and repair. Cancer cells were shown to be amenable to cell reprogramming strategies; however, previous efforts to reprogram cancer cells aimed at decreasing tumorigenic drive. In this thesis, I leveraged direct cell reprogramming to enhance tumor immunogenicity and overcome major immune evasion mechanisms. In Study I. I participated in the identification of the transcription factors that impose a cDC1-lineage in unrelated cell types, including mouse and human fibroblasts, within 9 days of reprogramming. Overexpression of PU.1, IRF8, and BATF3 led to cDC1-like morphology and induced the expression of hematopoietic marker CD45 and professional APC marker MHC class II (MHC-II). Additionally, combining the expression of PU.1, IRF8, and BATF3 in a polycistronic cassette improved reprogramming efficiency and demonstrated that higher levels of PU.1 are required to initiate reprogramming. In Study II, single-cell RNA and chromatin immunoprecipitation (ChIP)-sequencing informed the cooperation between the cDC1-specific factors to silence the fibroblast program and kickstart the dendritic cell state as early as day 3 of reprogramming. In Studies III and IV, I demonstrated that dendritic cell reprogramming endowed mouse and human cancer cells with professional APCs machinery and function, including the secretion of cytokines (interleukin-12) and chemokines (CXCL10) with important roles in antitumor immune responses. Moreover, tumor-APCs responded to inflammatory stimuli, engulfed dead cells and other exogenous antigens, and primed naïve CD4+ and CD8+ T cells. Importantly. I have also shown that cDC1 reprogramming enhances tumor cells' immunogenicity by increasing MHC-I molecules and, consequently, the presentation of tumor antigens at the cell surface, leading to higher cytotoxic T cell-mediated cell death in vitro. I also showed that primary cancer cells and cancer-associated fibroblasts (CAFs) are amenable to cDC1 reprogramming. Finally, intratumoral infusion of tumor-APCs in vivo synergized with immune checkpoint inhibitors to delay tumor growth, resulting in increased mice survival.

The results presented here show that cDC1 reprogramming enhances antitumor immunity by combining cDC1's antigen processing and presenting abilities with the endogenous generation of tumor antigens. This thesis lays the groundwork for generating novel immunotherapies based on endowed APC function through direct reprogramming.

Keywords: Cell Reprogramming, Cancer cells, Tumor antigen-presenting cells, Immunotherapy.Language: EnglishISSN and key title: 1652-8220ISBN: 978-91-8021-472-8

#### Number of pages: 154

#### Price: N/A

I, the undersigned, the copyright owner of the abstract of the dissertation mentioned above, hereby grant to all reference sources permission to publish, and disseminate the abstract of the abovementioned dissertation.

Signature

Date 2023-09-30

# Restoring antitumor immunity with dendritic cell reprogramming strategies

Reprogramming cancer cells to antigen-presenting cells

Alexandra Gabriela Barros Ferreira



Cell Reprogramming in Hematopoiesis and Immunity Lab Department of Laboratory Medicine, Division of Molecular Medicine and Gene Therapy Faculty of Medicine, Lund University, Sweden

&

Cell Reprogramming and Developmental Hematopoiesis Lab Center for Neuroscience and Cell Biology Universidade de Coimbra, Portugal Cover Art by: Océane Rumfels and Alexandra Gabriela Ferreira. The image was partially generated by Microsoft BING Image Creator powered by DALL-E. The image is a composite of various outputs and was illustrated and edited by the authors of the image using Adobe Illustrator and Krita softwares.

Copyright pp 1-154 Alexandra Gabriela Barros Ferreira

Paper 1 © Science Immunology

Paper 2 © Science Immunology

Paper 3 © Science Immunology

Paper 4 © Bio-protocol

Faculty of Medicine Department of Laboratory Medicine

Division of Molecular Medicine and Gene Therapy

ISSN 1652-8220 ISBN 978-91-8021-472-8 Lund University, Faculty of Medicine Doctoral Dissertation Series 2023:130

Printed in Sweden by Media-Tryck, Lund University Lund 2023



Media-Tryck is a Nordic Swan Ecolabel certified provider of printed material. Read more about our environmental work at www.mediatryck.lu.se

MADE IN SWEDEN 📲

To Filipe Dias

# TABLE OF CONTENTS

Acknowledgments	11
List of Articles	15
Articles included in this thesis.	15
Additional articles not included in this thesis	16
Abbreviations	17
Abstract	21
Popular Summary in English	23
Populärvetenskaplig sammanfattning	25
Resumo Popular em Português	27
Introduction	29
The Rise of Immuno-Oncology	29
Targeting the immune system against cancer	30
A T cell centric view of immunotherapy	
Exploiting alternative immunotherapies against cancer.	34
Current Challenges and Limitations of Cancer Immunotherapy	
Hot and Cold Tumors: Defining Immunotherapy Response	
Antigen presentation: the cornerstone of the cancer immunity cyc Kickstarting immunity – the role of professional antigen-presenti	
cells	
Dendritic cells as professional APCs – ontogeny, diversity, and	
function	
Tumor immunogenicity and antigen presentation by cancer cells.	
Strategies to enhance tumor immunogenicity.	52
Cell Fate Reprogramming	55
Direct lineage reprogramming	
Reprogramming hematopoiesis and immune cell fates	
Reprogramming immunity.	
Reprogramming cancer cells into pluripotency	63
Instructing benignity in cancer cells through direct cell	
reprogramming.	
Inducing immune cells.	66

Aims69
Summary of Results71
Direct Reprogramming of Somatic Cells to Induced Dendritic Cells (Study I and II)
Identification of PU.1, IRF8, and BATF3 as cDC1-lineage instructors.
Inducing an APC immunophenotype through ectopic expression of PIB74
Overexpression of PIB endows somatic cells with dendritic cell- abilities
Polycistronic vectors increase reprogramming efficiency and generate cDC1-like cells with high fidelity
higher lineage fidelity
Interactions between PU.1, IRF8, and BATF3 in open chromatin determine cDC1 identity
Restoring Antitumor Immunity with Dendritic Cell Reprogramming (Study III and IV)
Mouse and human cancer cells can be reprogrammed to cDC1-like cells
Tumor-APCs are more immunogenic and present tumor-associated antigens
Tumor-APCs are endowed with cDC1-like functional properties91 Tumor-APCs have low tumorigenic potential and induce antitumor
immunity <i>in vivo</i>
General Discussion and Future Perspectives99
Materials and Methods107
References

## ACKNOWLEDGMENTS

As many before me did, I started my Ph.D. full of hope that this road would be straightforward, from conceptualizing to publishing to having my degree. It took 6 years of long and sinuous curves, hardship, and perseverance to finally accomplish this goal. During this time, I was never alone and for this, I must thank all the people that contributed to this journey and made it perfectly imperfect – I wouldn't have it any other way.

First and foremost, I need to express my gratitude to my supervisor, **Filipe Pereira**. I am thankful for the project that challenged me the most and allowed me to be here today. Your feedback and guidance allowed me to grow as an independent scientist. Your clear vision and big objectives for this project were, at times, the main motivators and, for sharing them and the responsibility to accomplish them, I am sincerely thankful. I extend a special nod to the current and past members of the **Pereira Lab** who have helped me reach this goal. I specifically want to acknowledge those who have worked hard on all the publications present in this thesis.

I want to thank all the members of the A12 floor. To the PIs, Jonas Larsson, Mattias Magnusson, Niels-Bjarne Woods, Jörg Cammenga, Valgardur Sigurdsson and Nick Leigh, thank you for the fruitful discussions during project meetings, for the words of encouragement and for making A12 a collaborative and good environment to work in. A special thanks to my co-supervisor, Johan Flygare, for your positivity and enthusiasm over this project. To the members of A12, whom I first met when I started, thank you for the kindness, empathy, the wise words you've imparted to me, for all the fun moments we shared in and out of the lab. A special thanks to Leal, Els, Pavan, Agathees, and Anna R. for promoting a healthy dose of work-life balance. To my fellow Ph.D. graduates who embarked on the same challenging journey and have now finished, Merhnaz, Simon, Taha, Fábio, Svetlana, Ludwig, Alexandra, and Kris, your own journeys and accomplishments were inspiring. Thank you to Ineke and Xiaojie for maintaining order in the laboratory. Thank you to Beata for fixing better viruses than I ever could, sometimes on very short notice! Thank you all for the lunch and fika breaks, for the Christmas parties, and for the fun after-works. It was a pleasure to have shared my journey with you!

To **Zhi** and, especially, **Ana F**. from FACS core, thank you for your lessons in flow cytometry, your patience with me, and your friendliness. Despite the gruesome, long hours I spent using your machines, it was always a pleasure to meet you and

chat. Thank you for allowing me the room to learn on my own but also for being there to help me when I requested and for sharing your enthusiasm for flow.

I need to acknowledge the **Steering Committee of WINGS** and the **Pint of Science organization team** for giving me a productive sense of purpose outside of my own scientific endeavors. Thank you for everything I learned during this last year about equality, responsibility, and public communication.

I would like to take a moment to thank the friendships I have brought with me from Portugal and some that I have forged throughout the years. Rita, I want to express how proud and honored I am for you to finish this journey and to be graduating alongside you. I genuinely appreciate your friendship and unwavering support throughout these years. You have motivated me to be the best version of myself every time. Thank you for the countless hours we spent talking about everything and nothing and for the strength you gave me when I needed it. I am so deeply grateful for all the good moments, memories, and adventures that started when we first moved to Sweden with almost no place to live! I hope there are many more to come! Olga, our relationship started as colleagues working together on parallel projects, but it has quickly evolved into a friendship that I cherish. I am indebted to you for your support and advice throughout the years. Professionally, thank you for your hard work on getting us through one of the most difficult papers to get out and, lately, for your feedback. On a personal level, I am grateful to you for your friendship, for pushing me out of my comfort zone, making me try sports I would never try on my own, for the hikes across Skåne, the memories, and the adventures. I don't think I have enough words to express how important you girls have been in my life. Thank you for being there for me all the way and I hope I can be half as good as you are. I'll truly miss seeing you every day, but wherever life takes us, I hope our friendships remain! Vanessa, I truly appreciate your friendship through all this time. Thank you for reading my texts at ungodly hours, and for reminding me there is always more than science. I am deeply thankful for having you in my life, even if circumstances do not allow for closer contact. I also want to leave some words for Nejc and Ana, Océane, Johan, and Magda for their friendship, the board game nights, the after-work evenings, the lunch breaks, and the ice-skating sessions. You all have been such a positive influence in the last couple of years. I am truly grateful for having you in my life!

I want to leave some words for my close family, who have always encouraged me in this endeavor. Aos meus pais, **Júlia** e **Horácio**, um muito obrigada por terem proporcionado o primeiro salto que me levaria a estar aqui um dia, por me apoiarem ao longo destes anos e representarem um porto seguro sempre que eu precisei de recarregar. À minha irmã, **Francisca** (Kikinha), eu adoro-te. Obrigada por todos os abraços, as idas ao aeroporto, as semanas de Verão que não te importaste de passar comigo. Onde quer que a vida te leve e o que decidas, eu estarei orgulhosamente a apoiar-te! Um carinho muito especial à minha **Madrinha Sónia** que sempre me apoiou, compreendeu a dificuldade desta jornada e em parte deixou-me o bichinho

da ciência desde que eu era criança! Ao meu **Padrinho Rui** e restantes **tios**, obrigada pelo apoio!

Finally, to the most important person in my life, my biggest supporter, my greatest joy, my best friend, and my soulmate, **Filipe Dias**. Two hands are not enough to count all the years we've been together, and I honestly prefer holding you tight than doing math right now. We have been partners for so long, we have endured distance and a difficult Ph.D. journey, and in the end, we persevered together! I don't have enough words in the world for everything you have represented to me during all this time; you have been my rock, my biggest critic, and my biggest admirer. For you, I strive to be a better person every day and overcome all the challenges life throws our way. I will be forever indebted to you for your unrelenting support, wisdom, and kindness. I am so grateful for having you and your beautiful soul to share my life with. You are the main reason why I can be excited about the future again. I can just hope you'll be there holding my hand in return. I love you, from the very bottom of my heart.

# LIST OF ARTICLES

#### ARTICLES INCLUDED IN THIS THESIS.

Direct reprogramming of fibroblasts into antigen-presenting dendritic cells. F. F. Rosa\*, C. F. Pires\*, I. Kurochkin, <u>A. G. Ferreira</u>, A. M. Gomes, L. G. Palma, K. Shaiv, L. Solanas, C. Azenha, D. Papatsenko, O. Schulz, C. R. e Sousa, C.-F. Pereira, \*equal contribution. Science Immunology 3, eaau4292 (2018). DOI: 10.1126/sciimmunol.aau4292

#### Study II

Single-cell RNA-seq informs efficient reprogramming of human somatic cells to cross-presenting dendritic cells.

F.F. Rosa, C. F. Pires, I. Kurochkin, E. Halitzki, T. Zahan, N. Arh, O. Zimmermannova, <u>A. G. Ferreira</u>, H. Li, S. Karlsson, S. Scheding, C.-F. Pereira. Science Immunology 7, eabg5539 (2022). DOI: <u>10.1126/sciimmunol.abg5539</u>

#### Study III

Restoring tumor immunogenicity with dendritic cell reprogramming.

O. Zimmermannova\*, <u>A. G. Ferreira</u>\*, E. Ascic#, M. V. Santiago#, I. Kurochkin#, M. Hansen, O. Met, I. Caiado, I. E. Shapiro, J. Michaux, M. Humbert, D. Soto-Cabrera, H. Benonisson, R. Silvério-Alves, D. Gomez-Jimenez, C. Bernardo, M. Bauden, R. Andersson, M. Höglund, K. Miharada, Y. Nakamura, S. Hugues, L. Greiff, M. Lindstedt, F. F. Rosa, C. F. Pires, M. Bassani-Sternberg, I. M. Svane, C.-F. Pereira. \*equal contribution, #equal contribution. Science Immunology 8, eadd4817 (2023). DOI: <u>10.1126/sciimmunol.add4817</u>

#### Study IV

Reprogramming mouse and human cancer cells to antigen-presenting cells.

<u>A. G. Ferreira</u>, O. Zimmermannova, I. Kurochkin, E. Ascic, F. Akerström, C.-F. Pereira. (*accepted*, *in press*, 2023) Bio-protocol.

#### ADDITIONAL ARTICLES NOT INCLUDED IN THIS THESIS

Cell fate reprogramming in the era of cancer immunotherapy.

O. Zimmermannova, I. Caiado, <u>A. G. Ferreira</u>, C.-F. Pereira. Frontiers of Immunology 12 (2021). DOI: <u>10.3389/fimmu.2021.714822</u>

Gata2 mitotic bookmarking is required for definitive hematopoiesis.

R. Silvério-Alves, I. Kurochkin, A. Rydström, C. V. Echegaray, J. Hayder, M. Nichols, C. Rode, L. Thelaus, A. Y. Lindgrem, <u>A. G. Ferreira</u>, R. Brandão, J. Larsson, M. F. T. R. de Brujin, J. Martin-Gonzalez, C.-F. Pereira. Nature Communications 14, 4645 (2023). DOI: <u>10.1038/s41467-023-40391-x</u>

# **ABBREVIATIONS**

ACN	Acetonitrile
ACT	Adoptive T cell-based therapy
AGC	Automatic gain control
AML	Acute myeloid leukemia
APC	Antigen-presenting cell
B-ALL	B- acute lymphocytic leukemia
BCR	B cell receptor
BL	B cell lymphoma
BM	Bone-marrow
BM-DC	Bone-marrow derived dendritic cell
CAFs	Cancer-associated fibroblasts
CAR	Chimeric antigen receptor
cDC	Conventional dendritic cell
CDP	Common or conventional dendritic cell progenitor
CEA	Carcinoembryonic antigen
CFSE	Carboxyfluorescein succinimidyl ester
ChIP-seq	Chromatin immunoprecipitation sequencing
CLP	Common lymphoid progenitor
CLR	C-type lectin receptors
CMP	Common myeloid progenitor
CMV	Cytomegalovirus
CRISPR	Clustered regularly interspaced short palindromic repeats
CTL	Cytotoxic T lymphocyte
CTV	CellTrace Violet
DAMPs	Damage-associated molecular pattern molecules
DDA	Data dependent analysis
DIA	Data independent analysis
Dox	Doxycycline
ESCs	Embryonic stem cells
FA	Formic acid
FACS	Fluorescent-activated cell sorting
FDA	Food and Drug Administration
FDR	False discovery rate
FMO	Fluorescence minus one
GI	Gastrointestinal

GM-CSF GSEA	Granulocyte-macrophage colony-stimulating factor Gene set enrichment analysis
h UDEa	hours
HDFs HEFs	Human dermal fibroblasts
	Human embryonic fibroblasts Human induced dendritic cell
hiDC HLA	
HSCs	Human leucocyte antigen
HSPCs	Hematopoietic stem cell
HSV-1	Hematopoietic stem and progenitor cell Herpes Simplex Virus-1
ICI	Immune checkpoint inhibitors
iDC	Induced dendritic cell
IFN	Interferon
IL	Interleukin
iPSCs	
L	Induced pluripotent stem cells liter
LPS	Lipopolysaccharide
M1/M2	Macrophage type 1 or macrophage type 2
MACS	Magnetic-activated cell sorting
M-CSF	Macrophage colony-stimulating factor
MEFs	Mouse embryonic fibroblasts
MEP	Megakaryocytes-erythroid progenitor
MFI	Median fluorescent intensity
MHC	Major histocompatibility complex
mg	Milligram
μg	Microgram
mL	Milliliter
min	Minutes
moDC	Monocyte-derived dendritic cell
ms	milliseconds
MS	Mass spectrometry
MSC	Mesenchymal stromal or stem cell
MuLV	Murine leukemia virus
ng	Nanogram
NSCLC	Non-small cell lung cancer
OSKM	OCT4, SOX2, KLF4, MYC
OVA	Ovalbumin
PAMPs	Pathogen-associated molecular pattern molecules
PBMC	Peripheral blood mononuclear cells
PBS	Phosphate buffered saline solution
PCA	Principal component analysis
PDAC	Pancreatic ductal adenocarcinoma
pDC	Plasmacytoid dendritic cell
•	•

PIB	PU.1, IRF8, and BATF3
Poly(I:C)	Polyinosinic:polycytidylic acid
PRRs	Pattern recognition receptors
RNA-seq	RNA-sequencing
s	Seconds
SCC	Squamous cell carcinoma
SFFV	Spleen focus-forming virus
STING	Stimulator of interferon genes
TAAs	Tumor-associated antigens
TAMs	Tumor-associated macrophages
tdLN	Tumor-draining lymph nodes
tdT	tdTomato
TCGA	The Cancer Genome Atlas
TCR	T cell receptor
TFA	Trifluoroacetic acid
Th1/Th2	T cell helper type 1 or T cell helper type 2
TIL	Tumor-infiltrating lymphocyte
TLR	Toll-like receptor
TMB	Tumor mutational burden
TME	Tumor microenvironment
TNF	Tumor necrosis factor
Treg	Regulatory T cell
VEGF	Vascular endothelial growth factor
	C

### ABSTRACT

For the past two decades, immunotherapy revolutionized cancer treatment. However, responses vary significantly among eligible patients and some cancer types are not yet open to immunotherapy. Several mechanisms contribute to immunotherapy resistance, including loss of antigen presentation machinery and immunosuppression. Conventional dendritic cells type 1 (cDC1) are a rare population of professional antigen-presenting cells (APCs) that specialize in recognizing, processing, and cross-presenting antigens to cytotoxic CD8+ T cells and orchestrating complex immune responses. During carcinogenesis, the role of cDC1 is to capture tumor-associated antigens (TAAs) and stimulate effector immune cells to build an immune response against cancer. In cancer patients, cDC1s are dysfunctional or excluded from the tumor microenvironment (TME). Furthermore, cancer cells downregulate key components of antigen presentation pathway, including major histocompatibility complex class I (MHC-I), allowing them to evade immune surveillance. Therefore, there is a need for strategies that counteract cancers' mechanisms of immune evasion.

Cell reprogramming has highlighted the cellular plasticity of somatic cells, while direct lineage conversion promoted the identification of the transcription factor combinations that gatekeep the cell identity for various cell types. Additionally, cell reprogramming products have opened new avenues for regenerative medicine and repair. Cancer cells were shown to be amenable to cell reprogramming strategies; however, previous efforts to reprogram cancer cells aimed at decreasing tumorigenic drive. In this thesis, I leveraged direct cell reprogramming to enhance tumor immunogenicity and overcome major immune evasion mechanisms. In Study I, I participated in the identification of the transcription factors that impose a cDC1lineage in unrelated cell types, including mouse and human fibroblasts, under 9 days of reprogramming. Overexpression of PU.1, IRF8, and BATF3 led to cDC1-like morphology and induced the expression of hematopoietic marker CD45 and professional APC marker MHC class II (MHC-II). Additionally, combining the expression of PU.1, IRF8, and BATF3 in a polycistronic cassette improved reprogramming efficiency and demonstrated that higher levels of PU.1 are required to initiate reprogramming. In Study II, single-cell RNA and chromatin immunoprecipitation (ChIP)-sequencing informed the cooperation between the cDC1-specific factors to silence the fibroblast program and kickstart the dendritic cell state as early as day 3 of reprogramming. In Studies III and IV, I demonstrated that dendritic cell reprogramming endowed mouse and human cancer cells with professional APCs machinery and function, including the secretion of cytokines (interleukin-12) and chemokines (CXCL10) with important roles in antitumor immune responses. Moreover, tumor-APCs responded to inflammatory stimuli, engulfed dead cells and other exogenous antigens, and primed naïve CD4+ and CD8+ T cells. Importantly, I have also shown that cDC1 reprogramming enhances tumor cells' immunogenicity by increasing MHC-I molecules and, consequently, the presentation of tumor antigens at the cell surface, leading to higher cytotoxic T cell-mediated cell death in vitro. I also showed that primary cancer cells and cancer-associated fibroblasts (CAFs) are amenable to cDC1 reprogramming. Finally, intratumoral infusion of tumor-APCs in vivo synergized with immune checkpoint inhibitors to delay tumor growth, resulting in increased mice survival.

The results presented here show that cDC1 reprogramming enhances antitumor immunity by combining cDC1's antigen processing and presenting abilities with the endogenous generation of tumor antigens. This thesis lays the groundwork for generating novel immunotherapies based on endowed APC function through direct reprogramming.

# POPULAR SUMMARY IN ENGLISH

The immune system is a security system responsible for finding and dealing with daily threats, such as microbes and cancer, thus maintaining the human body's health. Over the last 20 years, doctors have been using immunotherapy that improves our immune system's capacity to recognize and fight cancer. However, immunotherapy does not always work for certain cancers, as cancer cells find ways to hide from this security system and avoid being eliminated. Within our immune system, a unique and rare group of cells works as elite sentinels. They are called conventional dendritic cells type 1 (cDC1), and they can find cancer cells and alert other cells that will attack cancer directly. However, in many cancer patients, these sentinels do not work properly and sometimes cannot get close enough to the cancer cells to do their job. Cancer cells also avoid being attacked by the defense team arranged by cDC1 by hiding specific proteins, called MHC-I, from the cell surface, impairing their recognition as intruders and limiting immunotherapy success. Therefore, there is a need for solutions that target cancer cells directly and force them to reveal themselves to the immune system. Direct cellular reprogramming, where a cell can be converted to adopt another cell's function or job, provides an exciting strategy to convince cancer cells to act as cDC1. This can be accomplished by introducing special proteins that overwrite the initial cancer cell program and masquerade cancer cells as cDC1.

In this thesis, I helped identify the special proteins called transcription factors, PU.1, IRF8, and BATF3, responsible for masquerading a cancer cell into a cDC1-like cell. Within 9 days of reprogramming, cancer cells start looking and acting like cDC1. By assessing individual cells, I also showed that reprogrammed cancer cells rapidly lose their cancerous potential and fully adopt cDC1 skills as early as day 3 of reprogramming. These cancer cells turned sentinels responded to inflammatory stimuli to start producing alarm signals, called cytokines and chemokines, that are important to organize the attacking team of cells that will later recognize and fight cancer directly. Reprogrammed cancer cells are apt at eating dead cells and showing pieces of their original cancerous program. Like a trojan horse, reprogrammed cancer cells, making them more visible. Finally, I showed that injecting these detective cancer cells into live mice could boost the immune system. Combined reprogrammed cancer with other immunotherapy drugs significantly slowed cancer growth and increased mice survival. The results I presented in this thesis open new

avenues for generating immunotherapies based on direct cell reprogramming strategies.

# POPULÄRVETENSKAPLIG SAMMANFATTNING

Immunförsvaret är ett säkerhetssystem som ansvarar för att hitta och hantera dagliga hot, som mikrober och cancer, och därigenom upprätthålla den mänskliga kroppens hälsa. Under de senaste 20 åren har läkare använt en teknik som kallas immunoterapi som förbättrar vårt immunsystems förmåga att känna igen och bekämpa cancer. Men för vissa cancerformer fungerar immunoterapi inte alltid eftersom cancerceller hittar sätt att gömma sig från detta säkerhetssystem och undvika att bli eliminerade. Inom vårt immunsystem finns det en unik och sällsynt grupp av celler som fungerar som elitvakter. De kallas konventionella dendritiska celler av typ 1 (cDC1) och de kan hitta cancerceller och larma andra celler som direkt kommer att attackera cancern. Men hos många cancerpatienter fungerar dessa vakter inte korrekt och kan ibland inte ens komma tillräckligt nära cancercellerna för att göra sitt jobb. Dessutom undviker cancerceller också att bli attackerade av försvarsteamet som organiserats av cDC1 genom att dölja specifika proteiner, kallade MHC-I, från cellens yta, vilket hindrar att de identifieras som inkräktare och begränsar framgången med immunoterapi. Därför finns ett behov av lösningar som direkt riktar sig mot cancerceller och tvingar dem att visa sig för immunsystemet. Direkt cellulär omprogrammering, där en cell kan omvandlas för att anta en annan cells funktion eller arbetsuppgift, kan vara en strategi för att få cancerceller att agera som cDC1. Genom att introducera speciella proteiner kan man ersätta det ursprungliga cancercellprogrammet och maskera cancercellerna som cDC1.

I denna avhandling bidrog jag till att identifiera de speciella proteiner som kallas transkriptionsfaktorer, PU.1, IRF8 och BATF3, som är ansvariga för att maskera en cancercell till en cDC1-liknande cell. Efter endast 9 dagar av omprogrammering börjar cancerceller se ut och bete sig som cDC1. Genom att studera enskilda celler, visade jag dessutom att omprogrammerade cancerceller snabbt förlorar sin cancerösa potential och helt antar cDC1-färdigheter redan på dag 3 av omprogrammeringen. Dessa omprogrammerade cancerceller reagerade på inflammatoriska stimuli och började producera larmsignaler, så kallade cytokiner och kemokiner, som är viktiga för att organisera det angripande teamet av celler som senare kommer att känna igen och direkt bekämpa cancern. Omprogrammerade cancerceller är skickliga på att äta döda celler och visa delar av sitt ursprungliga cancerösa program. Likt en trojansk häst kan omprogrammerade cancerceller verka inifrån tumörerna och utsätta omkringliggande tumörceller för andra immunceller,

vilket gör dem mer synliga. Slutligen visade jag att genom att injicera dessa detektivcancerceller i levande möss kunde de stärka immunsystemet. Kombinationen av omprogrammerad cancer med andra immunoterapiläkemedel bromsade cancerutvecklingen och ökade mössens överlevnad betydligt.

De resultat jag presenterar i denna avhandling öppnar nya vägar för framställning av immunoterapier baserade på direkta cellomprogrammeringsstrategier.

# RESUMO POPULAR EM PORTUGUÊS

O sistema imunitário é um sistema de seguranca responsável por encontrar e lidar com ameacas diárias, tal como micróbios e células do cancro, e, assim, manter a saúde do organismo humano. Nos últimos 20 anos, os médicos comecaram a explorar imunoterapia como forma de melhorar a capacidade do sistema imunitário para detetar e combater o cancro. No entanto, para certos tipos de cancro, a imunoterapia nem sempre é eficaz, pois as células cancerígenas adotam mecanismos para se esconder deste sistema de segurança e evitar ser eliminadas. Dentro do nosso sistema imunitário existe um grupo de células único e raro que atua como sentinelas, que são designadas células dendríticas convencionais do tipo 1 (cDC1). Estas células patrulham o corpo humano à procura de intrusos, incluindo células do cancro, e, quando os encontram, conseguem capturá-los e apresentá-los a outras células que, consequentemente, irão formar uma resposta imunitária contra a ameaça. Contudo, em doentes de cancro, estas células dendríticas não funcionam corretamente, nem conseguem interagir diretamente com as células do cancro para fazerem o seu trabalho. Adicionalmente, as células do cancro conseguem também esconder a sua identidade do resto das células do sistema imunitário e evitar ser atacadas ao não expressar proteínas específicas, chamadas de MHC-I, à sua superfície. Estes mecanismos impedem que as células de cancro sejam reconhecidas e limitam a eficácia da imunoterapia. Assim, há uma necessidade de encontrar alternativas terapêuticas que obriguem as células de cancro a revelar a sua identidade às células efetoras do sistema imunitário. A reprogramação celular direta surge como uma estratégia interessante para converter, ou reprogramar, a identidade de uma célula de cancro e obrigá-la a adotar a função de uma célula dendrítica. Isto é possível através da introdução de proteínas especiais, conhecidos como fatores de transcrição, que alteram a identidade da célula original mudando a expressão genética para a da célula desejada, neste caso, o de uma célula dendrítica.

Neste trabalho, eu ajudei a identificar estes fatores de transcrição que codificam a identidade de uma célula dendrítica, conhecidos pelos seus símbolos PU.1, IRF8, e BATF3. Durante 9 dias de reprogramação, as células cancerígenas adotam a forma estrelada da célula dendrítica e começam a expressar marcadores específicos desta célula. Além disto, eu mostrei que as células do cancro perdem muito rapidamente o potencial tumorigénico e adquirem as funções das células dendríticas, logo a partir do terceiro dia de reprogramação. As células do cancro reprogramadas respondem a estímulos inflamatórios para produzir sinais de alarme, conhecidos por citocinas e quimiocinas, que são importantes para organizar uma resposta imunitária eficaz

contra o cancro. As células reprogramadas são ainda capazes de fagocitar células mortas e mostrar marcadores da sua identidade original. Tal como o "cavalo de Troia", após a reprogramação, as células do cancro conseguem infiltrar-se no tumor e expor a sua identidade às células efetoras que conseguem assim atacar tanto as células reprogramadas como as outras células cancerígenas. Finalmente, eu mostrei que ao injetar estas células reprogramadas em ratinhos com cancro da pele, elas podem incentivar o sistema imunitário a atacar o cancro. A combinação entre células reprogramadas com medicamentos usados atualmente em imunoterapia diminui significativamente o crescimento de tumores nos ratinhos e aumentou a sua sobrevivência. Os resultados que aqui apresentei abrem novas oportunidades para o desenvolvimento de novas imunoterapias baseadas em reprogramação celular.

### INTRODUCTION

Cancer is a complex, multi-factorial disease marked by a series of genetic and epigenetic alterations that affect oncogenic drivers and silence tumor suppressor genes, leading to unrestrained growth, resistance to apoptotic signals, and the creation of a supportive tumor microenvironment (TME) that invades and colonizes healthy tissue (1).

Despite the first discoveries interconnecting the immune system and cancer control being first published in the 19<sup>th</sup> century (2), it took over a century for the emergence of immuno-oncology as a field of research. Today, it is well established that the immune system plays a role in different stages of cancer development: from its inception to its evolution and now, potentiated by immunotherapies, to its demise.

In this section, I will explore the intricate relationship between cancer and the immune system, how immunotherapy revolutionized cancer treatments, and how it contributed to our understanding of cancer development. Moreover, I will explain the importance of antigen presentation and the crucial role of dendritic cells in cancer therapy as the foundation for immunotherapy success. I will then introduce the concept of cell fate reprogramming and how it can be utilized to generate novel approaches for immunotherapy.

#### THE RISE OF IMMUNO-ONCOLOGY

The immune system is equipped to deal with foreign agents and plays an important role in identifying and eradicating damaged cells to restore homeostasis. During carcinogenesis, somatic cells acquire mutations that endow them with improved fitness and survival, allowing them to grow unchecked. However, rampant growth is often accompanied by additional mutations and chromosomic instability. These alterations can lead to the accumulation of misfolded or aberrant proteins, which, in turn, can be easily identified by the immune system as foreign agents and swiftly eliminated.

The complex relationship between cancer and the immune system started in the 19<sup>th</sup> century, with Rudolph Virchow hypothesizing that tumors resulted from a "severe irritation" of the tissue in 1863 (2). It would take half a century until researchers started postulating that the human body had mechanisms to keep tumor

growth in check, thus given birth to the concept of "immune surveillance" (3, 4). Indeed, it is current knowledge that the lack of a functional adaptive immune system predisposes mammalian hosts to a higher probability of developing cancer (5, 6). However, it was also clear that those mechanisms could fail and lead to cancer development.

As the immune surveillance hypothesis was being developed, the sole proof of immune cells' ability to detect and remove tumor-associated antigens (TAAs) was from the groundbreaking studies of Gross in 1943, Foley in 1953, and Klein in 1960. The first two studies reported that the inoculation of primary methylcholanthrene-induced sarcomas resulted in the rejection of tumors in different mice if the lesions were small enough, suggesting an inherent capacity to induce an immune response against cancer (7, 8). At the same time, Klein and colleagues were on the verge of reporting that mice, after exposure to a primary tumor, generated lymph node cells against cancer that could reject and confer resistance to a second establishment of the same tumor type (9). Paradoxically, these immune cells were incompetent at controlling or eliminating the original tumor, as it developed in the first place.

Later, research surrounding the discovery of the first TAA in melanoma patients, MAGE-1, cemented the evidence that the human body could identify cancer cells as foreign and generate tumor-specific CD8+ T cells (10). However, Bruggen's studies, together with Klein's, also exposed the glaring inability of the immune system to avoid and eliminate tumors, suggesting that the tumors promoted an immune-privileged microenvironment that secluded antitumor-specific T cells from acting.

#### Targeting the immune system against cancer.

Simultaneously with Virchow's hypothesis formulation, William Bradley Coley, and other researchers before him observed tumor regression in patients affected by a concurrent streptococcal skin infection, which seemed to stimulate the immune system to eliminate both diseases in the host. These observations allowed Coley to develop Coley's toxins and deliberately treat over 1000 sarcoma patients with bacterial vaccines during his career (2, 11), in one of the first recorded attempts at harnessing the immune system against cancer. However, by Coley's observations, this treatment was only effective in a small fraction of patients suffering from sarcomas (11). The development of chemotherapy and radiotherapy and the discovery of hormone therapy for hormone-sensitive cancer dictated that Coley's approach would be replaced by more reliable techniques (2). Despite this setback, a remnant of the bacterial era of immunotherapy is still practiced today. The tuberculosis vaccine has been used to treat early-stage bladder cancer since 1976 with promising results, with its mechanisms of action well cataloged (2). From Coley's early steps in immunotherapy, the field of immuno-oncology has since matured, supported by the first seminal works on T cell biology (2).

#### A T cell centric view of immunotherapy.

#### Adoptive T Cell Therapies

T cells have always been at the center stage of cancer immunotherapy, with some relevant exceptions occurring in the past decade. First discovered in the 1960s, T cells are an important cellular component of the immune system. T lymphocytes can be distinguished from other blood cells by the expression of the T cell receptor (TCR), whose role is to recognize pathogenic antigens – small peptides that are processed intracellularly - bound to the major histocompatibility complex (MHC) molecules at the surface of a cell (12). The T cell population can be divided into two well-defined lineages characterized by the expression of CD4 or CD8. CD4+ T cells recognize antigens bound to MHC class II (MHC-II). They manipulate immune responses by producing cytokines and chemokines that activate or inhibit other immune effector cells. On the other hand, T cells expressing the CD8 co-receptor detect antigens presented in the MHC-I context and directly attack infected or damaged cells. Their cytotoxic activity is crucial to detect and eliminate cancer cells.

The infiltration of CD8+ T cells in tumors has been known for almost half a century and has helped predict cancer outcomes; the higher the lymphocytic infiltration, the better the prognosis (13-15). Complementally, Rosenberg *et al.* utilized *ex vivo* expanded tumor-infiltrating lymphocytes (TILs) to cure tumor-bearing mice. This approach would be later applied in melanoma metastatic patients (16-19) (**Figure 1**), with 20% of patients showing durable responses and 95% of them reporting ongoing responses past the 3-year mark (19). The discovery and development of *ex vivo* TILs would pave the way for adoptive T cell-based therapies (ACT). Currently, there are clinical trials to test the efficacy in several tumor types – head and neck, cervical, ovarian, and lung cancer.

Another prominent example of ACT is the development of chimeric antigen receptor (CAR)-T cells (Figure 1). Autologous T cells collected from patients are engineered to express modified (chimeric) TCRs that bind to specific antigens expressed by cancer cells (20). Several clinical trials attested their safety and efficacy in treating lymphoma, acute lymphocytic leukemia, and, recently, multiple myeloma (20-22). CAR-T cell therapies had their breakthrough in 2017 after approval by the Food and Drug Administration (FDA), and until 2023, 6 different treatments have been authorized to be used in the clinic. Moreover, there have been efforts to turn this therapeutic modality beyond blood cancers (21). CAR-T cell therapies are currently being adapted to several types of solid cancer, including ovarian and renal cancer, glioma, and hepatoma (23). However, solid tumors impose important barriers interfering with CAR-T cell efficacy, including tumor antigen heterogeneity in quality and quantity, tumor infiltration, and an immunosuppressive environment (23). Engineering CAR-T to target better solid cancers and overcome the challenges imposed by these will be a decisive direction for the future of CAR-T in immunotherapy (23-26).

#### Immune checkpoint inhibitors

The molecular studies surrounding T cell biology and the TCR signaling pathway elucidated key regulatory mechanisms crucial for competent T cell function. Notably, researchers found that correct T cell activation required a second signal, termed co-stimulation, through activation of CD28, a T cell receptor belonging to the immunoglobulin superfamily – a group of evolutionarily related proteins that share similarities with antibodies (12, 27, 28).

Conversely, T cells also possess receptors that negatively affect their function. A series of studies from the 1980s to the early 2000s revealed the existence of two members of the immunoglobulin superfamily – CTLA-4 and PD-1 (29-32). Contrary to the steady-state expression of CD28, T cells express a low basal level of CTLA-4, and stronger expression levels are induced after T cells have been activated (12). Due to their similarity, CD28 and CTLA-4 share the same ligands of the B7 family, CD80 and CD86 (33, 34), expressed by antigen-presenting cells (APCs). CTLA-4 has an opposite function to CD28, whereas the first actively inhibits T cell activation and proliferation by stopping CD28 from binding to its ligands (33, 35-37). CTLA-4 expression in T cells, especially in regulatory T cells (Tregs), is critical in the induction of immunological tolerance. Indeed, CTLA-4 insufficiency in both humans and rodents causes severe generalized multi-organ lymphocytic infiltration and autoimmunity due to a lack of CD28 control (38-41).

Like CTLA-4, PD-1 is highly expressed in T cells upon TCR activation. This checkpoint inhibitor binds to its ligands, also from the B7 gene family, PD-L1 and PD-L2, present in APCs (31) and cancer cells (42-44). The PD-1 axis controls T cells by inducing T cell exhaustion, a dysfunctional state where T cells stop proliferating and performing their effector functions (45-47). However, unlike CTLA-4, disturbing the PD-1 axis leads to the late development of a heterogeneous group of autoimmune-related diseases affecting peripherical tissues (48-51).

The first report that blocking CTLA-4 with antibodies reverted its negative effect in T cells immediately followed by James P. Allison's discovery that infusion of anti-CTLA antibodies in live mice mediated tumor rejection (52, 53) fundamentally changed the course of immuno-oncology (**Figure 1**). Generalized recognition of harnessing the immune system against cancer resulted in the nomination of cancer immunotherapy for "Breakthrough of the Year" (54) by Science in 2013 and the 2018 Nobel Prize in Physiology or Medicine for James P. Allison and Tasuko Honjo.



**Figure 1** | **Current strategies for cancer immunotherapy.** Schematic representation of current immunotherapies being developed or in clinical practice. Checkpoint inhibitors (top left) are based on antibodies targeting negative regulators of T cell activation. These encompass receptors of the immunoglobulin superfamily CTLA-4 and PD-1 expressed by T cells. Adoptive T cell therapies (ACT) (top right) include engineered autologous T cells to express chimeric antigen receptor (CAR), mostly against hematological malignancies, as illustrated by the anti-CD19 CAR-T cells. *Ex vivo* expanded tumor-infiltrating lymphocytes (TILs) are currently in clinical trials for head and neck cancer, cervical carcinoma, ovarian carcinoma, and non-small cell lung carcinoma. Oncolytic viruses (bottom left) exploit cancer cells' vulnerability to viral infections. This immunotherapy is often accompanied by the introduction of immunodulatory molecules such as GM-CSF to increase therapeutic potential. Finally, cancer vaccines (bottom right) take advantage of dendritic cells' (DC) capacity for antigen presentation. Cancer vaccines can be administrated as mRNA-encoding tumor-associated antigens (TAAs), irradiated tumor cells, or cell fusion products between tumor cells and APCs. Adapted from Zimmermannova, Caiado (55).

The successful preclinical studies demonstrating tumor regression and prolonged immunity in various cancers after immune checkpoint blockade rapidly led to clinical trials proving their efficacy in human patients (2, 12, 55). Ipilimumab, an antibody targeting CTLA-4, was the first immune checkpoint blockade therapy approved by the FDA in 2011 to treat unresectable, high-grade melanoma (56). Anti-CTLA-4 treatment in melanoma patients has increased short and long-term survival, with 22% of patients reporting more than three years survival rate (57, 58).

Anti-PD-1 antibodies, nivolumab, and pembrolizumab were first approved for non-small cell lung carcinoma (NSCLC), metastatic melanoma, and bladder cancer (12, 59, 60). Since then, antibodies targeting CTLA-4 and the PD-1 axis have been implemented in the clinic alone or in combination to treat various cancers with varied degrees of success (12, 55, 61). PD-1 blockade has seen greater success in
carcinogenic-derived cancers such as melanoma (57, 59, 61, 62), lung (59, 63-65), head and neck (66, 67), urothelial (68-71), gastric (72) and liver carcinomas (73). Coincidentally, these tumors have also been shown to have higher mutational burdens. In the past 5 years, anti-PD-1 has also been used to treat Hodgkin's lymphoma and triple-negative breast cancer with improved survival in PD-L1-positive patients (74-77).

The impressive accomplishment of immune checkpoint inhibitors (ICI) relies on their mechanism of action. By blockading T cell negative regulators, anti-CTLA-4 and anti-PD-1 effectively reactivate the immune system against cancer cells. Preclinical studies and post-clinical trial analysis have provided evidence that antitumor immunity confers long-lasting immunological memory benefits, which can potentially protect the host against relapse (53, 58, 61, 62, 78-80).

#### Exploiting alternative immunotherapies against cancer.

#### Oncolytic viruses

Oncolytic viruses (**Figure 1**) are a promising therapeutic approach that uses native or modified viruses that replicate selectively in cancer cells. The ability of viruses to infect and kill cancer cells has been known for almost a century. The pursuit of oncolytic viruses as immunotherapy only gained significant interest in the last 20 years (81). This was made possible by various studies that revealed the ability of viruses like Influenza and Herpes Simplex type I (HSV-1) to reduce tumor growth (82, 83). A clinical trial performed on melanoma patients also demonstrated good clinical outcomes after using an oncolytic virus encoding GM-CSF, despite the gap in knowledge regarding oncolytic viruses' mechanisms of action (84).

Oncolytic viruses selectively infect, replicate, and lead the tumor cells to immunogenic cell death. This process is thought to trigger the release of type I interferon (IFN), danger-associated molecular patterns (DAMPs), pattern-associated molecular patterns (PAMPs), and TAAs, including neoantigens which can be recognized by several effector immune cells from the innate and adaptive immune system (81).

Several contenders for oncolytic therapy are based on viral backbones such as HSV-1 (81). Genetic modifications can help reduce pathogenicity and enhance tropism selectivity for cancer cells. Additionally, oncolytic viruses can be manipulated to include transgenes to boost immune responses, such as TAAs, co-stimulatory molecules, and cytokines like granulocyte-macrophage colony-stimulating factor (GM-CSF), interleukin (IL) -2, IL-12, or tumor necrosis factor (TNF)- $\alpha$ , which can be incorporated into their genome.

Currently, four oncolytic viruses are approved for cancer treatment (85). Talimogene laherparepvec (T-VEC) is used to treat unresectable, recurrent melanoma. T-VEC uses a weakened HSV-1 backbone to infect cancer cells and encodes GM-CSF, which is necessary for the recruitment and maturation of APCs.

Multiple clinical trials have used T-VEC as a monotherapy or combined with other therapies, confirming safety and efficacy (85). The reported overall response rate percentages are between 20% and 50% across the different clinical trials, showing that T-VEC benefits patients with early metastatic disease (85). Finally, other cancer indications currently in focus for oncolytic virus therapy include head and neck squamous carcinoma, pancreatic cancer, glioma, NSCLC, and bladder carcinoma (86-92).

#### Cancer Vaccines

Vaccination against cancer has been studied for several decades with mixed results. Cancer vaccines are designed to stimulate the immune system by unleashing the antigen-presenting capacity of professional APCs, such as dendritic cells, leading to polyclonal T cell-specific responses (**Figure 1**). Traditionally, cancer vaccines were based on administering antigen-encoding vectors directly into the body or utilizing cell-based vaccines. In the latter approach, APCs are first loaded with the patient's tumor-specific antigens by various methods.

For the longest time, cancer vaccination strategies have exploited professional APCs as vehicles for TAAs delivery and trigger antitumor immunity. Spiluleucel-T is the only cancer vaccine in this category approved by the FDA to treat prostate cancer patients. In this therapy, autologous peripheral blood mononuclear cells (PBMCs), which include APCs, are activated with prostatic acid phosphatase fused with GM-CSF (93). In a study from 2014, Spiluleucel-T increased activated T cell infiltration with TME in treated patients (94). Another method of combining various cancer antigens with professional antigen presentation is fusing cancer and dendritic cells. This approach generated antigen-specific T cells against acute myeloid leukemia (AML) in patients, extending remission for 71% of patients enrolled in the trial (95).

Pulsing autologous dendritic cells or monocyte-derived dendritic cells (moDCs) with TAAs has also been extensively studied (96). The most used approach involves the use of moDCs. Despite requiring extensive in vitro manipulation, moDCs manufacture and properties have been, by far, the most well characterized. To obtain moDCs, monocytes are isolated from PBMCs, which are then matured and activated outside the body before being infused into patients. Both autologous and allogeneic approaches are possible in this context, with results showing safety and immunogenicity (97, 98). The mechanisms of action of moDCs seemingly favor the induction of CD8+ memory T cells and have lower antigen presentation capacity, which might contribute to underwhelming clinical outcomes, with only 5% to 15% of patients responding positively (99, 100). Interesting alternatives to moDCs rely on purified subsets of dendritic cells such as plasmacytoid dendritic cells (pDCs) or conventional type 2 dendritic cells (cDC2). A phase I clinical trial met feasibility, tolerance, and safety objectives imposed on assessing allogeneic pDCs vaccination in metastatic melanoma patients (101). In one patient, anti-melanocytes specific T cells were found in resected metastasis and circulating in the blood after the

vaccination protocol. Importantly, the patients did not generate anti-allogenic responses, increasing the probability of these cells being used in the future as "off-the-shelf" vaccines (101). Another small study where patients were vaccinated with *ex vivo* stimulated cDC2 demonstrated that vaccination with dendritic cells is well tolerated and promoted progression-free survival in some patients (102).

Other cellular-based strategies include lethally irradiated cancer cells to drive immunity. GVAX, for example, couples engineered cancer cells targeting pancreatic ductal adenocarcinoma (PDAC) to express GM-CSF (103-106) (**Figure 1**). Although GVAX therapy, either alone or in combination with other approaches, was initially considered safe, it was later found to be less effective than chemotherapy (107). Additionally, the properties of GM-CSF have been reported to be both pro-tumorigenic and antitumorigenic, hindering its broad adoption in the clinic (108).

The most recent efforts in the cancer vaccination field have especially focused on developing RNA-based vaccines encoding neoantigens or TAAs (109). Most cancer vaccines target shared tumor antigens – antigens commonly found in different patients. These include "self" antigens that are present in normal tissues but are dysregulated and overexpressed in certain cancers, such as melanomaassociated antigens, or "non-self" antigens, including viral E6 and E7 proteins of high-risk human papillomavirus linked to the etiology of cervical and head and neck cancers (110, 111). In patients with unresectable melanoma, administering an RNA vaccine against four TAAs mostly expressed in melanoma triggered an immune response in more than 75% of the patients who participated in the study (112). Moreover, patients mounted effective polyclonal CD4+ and CD8+ T cells against at least one of the antigens present in the vaccine, and the T cell pool was maintained for more than a year.

On the other hand, personalized cancer vaccines based on patients' neoantigens have reemerged in the spotlight with two independent works. At the end of 2022, Moderna and Merck announced the results of a phase IIb trial that assessed the efficacy of their RNA-based vaccine coding 34 melanoma neoantigens based on the patients' mutational signature combined with anti-PD1 (113, 114). The report stated a reduction of recurrence risk or death by 44% compared with ICI alone, which granted the approach the designation of breakthrough therapy by the FDA at the beginning of 2023. In May of the same year, Rojas et al. described the results of a phase I trial evaluating a neoantigen vaccine developed using resected PDAC tumors (115). The researchers observed that half of the patients receiving the RNA vaccine elicited substantial de novo antigen-specific T cell responses targeting more than one antigen encoded by the vaccine (115). In glioblastoma patients, another phase I/Ib trial showed that neoantigen vaccination promoted antigen-specific T cell infiltration within the TME (116). It is worth noting that only a small percentage of the antigens used in these approaches are immunogenic, and it is common for patients to report immune responses against one or two antigens among the more than 20 peptides used in tandem in these vaccines.

Cancer vaccines based on the direct delivery of TAAs have been proven safe and efficient in promoting antitumor immunity, especially when combined with ICI (109). Recent technologies like whole-exome sequencing, mass spectrometry-based immunopeptidomics, single-cell RNA sequencing, and antigen prediction algorithms have advanced the development of personalized cancer vaccines by providing more precise methods for identifying neoantigens.

# CURRENT CHALLENGES AND LIMITATIONS OF CANCER IMMUNOTHERAPY

The implementation of immunotherapy had a slow start initially, but over the past decade, it has become a fundamental pillar for the treatment of advanced malignancies, besides conventional therapies (117). Clinical trials evaluating various immunotherapy strategies have consistently reported that patients who respond to immunotherapy strategies have a longer overall survival rate and a lower chance of tumor recurrence. This is attributed to the creation of immunotherapy modalities face their challenges and limitations.

For example, T cell-based therapies must overcome manufacturing limitations before being universally and consistently employed. TIL isolation requires highly infiltrated tumors and large resected samples, limiting this treatment to only a fraction of patients (118). Although employing "off-the-shelf" allogeneic CAR-T cells, if successful, in the future may partially offset the high cost associated with this strategy, other issues regarding toxicity are difficult to predict. CAR-T-based therapies require extremely specific cancer antigens with low expression in normal tissues, lest they provoke irrevocable damage to the host's body (119). CAR-T cell toxicity can range from cross-reaction with other proteins not expressed in tumor cells, allergy-like symptoms, neurological toxicity, and cytokine release syndrome, which leads to multi-organ failure and death (118, 119).

ICI's promise of unprecedented survival rates in previously untreatable patients revitalized the hope for universal cancer treatments. However, anti-CTLA-4 and anti-PD1 have been shown to cause unexpected side effects targeting all organs (120). As observed in the previously described knockout mice (39, 40, 50), blockade of CTLA-4 and PD-1/PD-L1 axis can lead to autoimmune-related consequences affecting the gastrointestinal tract, skin, joints, pancreas, lungs, heart, and brain, among others (120).

Aside from immune-related adverse side effects, all immunotherapy strategies described until now have also been confronted with 60% to 80% of patients who do not benefit from the treatment (19, 58, 118). Only a small percentage of eligible patients benefit from immunotherapy, and responses can vary greatly. Notably, the probability of experiencing a relapse is never zero, indicating that patients can

acquire resistance to immunotherapy (117). Moreover, patients with common cancers such as breast, prostate, pancreas, and colon cancers are more prone to resist immunotherapy than for other malignancies (118, 121-123). Therefore, resistance to immunotherapy is not uncommon and imposes a daunting challenge to be surpassed.

Common mechanisms for immunotherapy resistance can result from the intrinsic properties of tumor cells and extrinsic mechanisms (118). In the following chapter, I will explore some common mechanisms that lead to immunotherapy failure.

#### Hot and Cold Tumors: Defining Immunotherapy Response

The observations that lymphocytic infiltration correlated with better prognosis in cancer patients are still prevalent today (2, 13, 15, 124). A recent review by Jérôme Galon, the pioneering immunologist behind the Immunoscore – a tool that implements T cell infiltration when grading tumor severity –, has collected data from nearly 300 studies involving approximately 70000 patients diagnosed with various common cancers (124). Their systematic approach demonstrated that the immune compartment within the TME has higher predictive value across the tumors studied over other tumor characteristics such as mutational burden, microsatellite instability, and carcinogen origin (124). His work summarizes years of evidence that the presence of immune effectors such as CD8+ T cells, CD4+ T helper cells type 1 (Th1), B cells, NK cells, macrophages type 1 (M1), and dendritic cells within the TME correlated with better prognostic outcomes compared to known immunosuppressive populations like macrophages type 2 (M2), Treg and CD4+ T cell helper type 2 (Th2).

The lack of CD8+ T cell infiltration within the TME is generally associated with poor responses to ICI and other immunotherapies. Tumors that have low infiltration are commonly referred to as "cold tumors" by the Immunoscore. Various factors underlying the generation of immune deserts within the TME manifest differently among cancers and patients with the same cancer type. The immunosuppressive environment promoted by tumor-associated macrophages (TAMs), usually polarized toward pro-tumorigenic M2, cancer-associated fibroblasts (CAFs), Tregs, as well as dysregulation of the cytokines and chemokines network within the TME are well-described factors underlying antitumor immune effectors exclusion, exhaustion, or malfunction (125). However, this thesis will focus on mechanisms revolving around antigen presentation, which is critical for immunotherapy success.

#### Antigen presentation: the cornerstone of the cancer immunity cycle.

The cancer immunity cycle (**Figure 2**), first described by Daniel Chen and Ira Mellman a decade ago, divides the antitumor immune response into cyclic steps that can self-propagate and, in theory, amplify T cell responses (126). Cellular instability

in cancer cells leads to the production of TAAs and abnormal proteins that can be released into the TME, which professional APCs can take. Professional APCs upholster the newly processed antigens on their surface, complexed with MHC-I and MHC-II molecules. After migrating to the nearby lymph nodes, APCs prime and activate T cells into cytotoxic T lymphocytes (CTLs) and, through chemokine and cytokine secretion, promote T cell trafficking into the TME. Upon infiltration, CTLs recognize the antigens presented by tumor cells on their surface and effectively kill the target tumor cells. The antitumor immune response is a complex process that can fail at multiple points. In cancer patients, the chain of events required for effective antitumor immune responses is often disrupted, including the first steps involving antigen presentation.

## Kickstarting immunity – the role of professional antigen-presenting cells.

Professional APCs are immune sentinels that scavenge the host's body for threats to homeostasis. These cells stand at the border between innate and adaptive immune systems, for they are one of the first barriers against microbial infections and can orchestrate complex immune responses involving T and B lymphocytes. While B cells can perform antigen presentation by receptor-mediated endocytosis, macrophages and dendritic cells scavenge their surroundings to phagocyte possible antigens.

Macrophages are a heterogeneous population of phagocytic cells originating from the maturation of circulating monocytes. Importantly, tissue-resident macrophages assume different names according to their respective location, but all share a common progenitor and function (Figure 3). Macrophages are important in tissue surveillance, infection, wound healing, and muscle repair (127). Under specific conditions, macrophages can actively contribute to neurodegeneration and atherosclerosis. Due to their high cellular plasticity and environmental adaptability, their ambiguous role in immunity extends to macrophages' dual role in cancer immunity. In cancer, pro-inflammatory polarization of macrophages towards the M1 phenotype contributes to tumor clearance by cytokine production, generation of reactive oxygen species, and antigen presentation from engulfed dead cells. Contrastingly, the TME can force macrophage polarization towards an antiinflammatory program M2, which strongly correlates with poor prognosis in cancer patients (128). TAMs promote tumor proliferation, metastasis, angiogenesis, and immunosuppression but can be manipulated to repolarize into M1 macrophages (129, 130).



**Figure 2** | **The cancer-immunity cycle.** Visual representation of the cancer-immunity cycle as described by Chen *et al.* (2013). The cyclic nature of antitumor immune responses starts with antigen release by cancer cells (step 1), followed by uptake and processing by professional APCs (step 2). APCs migrate to peripheric lymph nodes, prime T cells (step 3), and exert chemoattractant functions to promote immune effector migration towards the tumor (step 4). Finally, T cells infiltrate the tumors (step 5), where they can recognize cells expressing the cognate antigens (step 6) and unleash their cytotoxic activity on tumor cells (step 7). The cycle self-propagates with more antigens being released and captured by other APCs. Adapted from Chen and Mellman (126).

#### Dendritic cells as professional APCs - ontogeny, diversity, and function

Dendritic cells are professional APC that play a key role in immune responses. In the past, macrophages and dendritic cells were confused as part of the same population of cells necessary for priming T cells *in vitro* (131). However, Steinman and Cohn were the first to identify a distinct stellate cell with protrusions resembling dendrites (from the Greek origin "dendron," meaning "tree") that contained fewer lysosomes than macrophages (132). With advancements in molecular biology, transcriptomic analysis, and lineage tracing, we now know that dendritic cells represent an independent cell lineage separate from macrophages despite sharing phagocytic activity and phenotypic markers (133).

Myeloid-derived dendritic cells are designated conventional dendritic cells and can be divided into cDC1 and cDC2 (133). Like all leucocytes, dendritic cells are the product of a multistep process that continuously generates dendritic cell precursors from hematopoietic cells (HSCs) in the bone marrow (BM) (Figure 3). HSCs, through multiple division and differentiation processes, lead to lymphoidmyeloid-primed progenitors, which in turn branch into common lymphoid progenitors (CLPs) (134), common myeloid progenitors (CMPs) (135) and megakaryocytes-erythroid progenitors (MEPs) (136). These precursors are set apart by differential expression of specific transcription factors determining their lineage potential. For example, GATA1 expression in MEPs is crucial for the normal development of megakaryocytes and erythrocytes (137). On the other hand, GATA3, TCF7 (also known as TCF1), and BCL11B, in combination with Notch ligands, lock CLP fate towards T cell generation in the thymus (138). Despite the role of PU.1 (encoded by the gene Spi1) in CLP lineage commitment (139), PU.1 is a master regulator of almost all myeloid genes necessary for the generation of monocytes, macrophages, and dendritic cell progenitors (140-145). Moreover, the abrogation of PU.1 in adult HSCs results in a drastic reduction of the cDC compartment (146).

CMPs undergo further differentiation steps to generate granulocyte progenitors (basophils, eosinophils, neutrophils, and mast cells), monocyte progenitors (Langerhans cells, macrophages, and moDCs), and lastly, common, or conventional dendritic cell precursors (CDP) (**Figure 3**) (147-149). Surprisingly, the path through which cDC subsets emerge from CDPs has been only elucidated in the past decade. This was only possible by generating genetic models that uncovered the expression of C-type lectin receptor (CLR) CLEC9A (also known as DNGR1) and ZBTB46 in cDC1 precursors (150-152). While still in the BM, CDPs differentiate in uncommitted pre-DCs, pre-cDC1, and pre-cDC2, which migrate to lymphoid and nonlymphoid tissues where they receive external cues and fulfill their terminal differentiation potential into cDC1 and cDC2 (153, 154).

The distinction between cDC1 and cDC2 depends on the transcription factors required for their specification, their molecular expression patterns, and some of their functional properties (**Figure 3**). First, pre-cDC1 commitment is established in the CDP pool by IRF8, BATF3, ID2, and NFIL3 expression (149, 154). Early in cDC1 commitment, CDP bias towards the first subset requires high expression levels of IRF8 (155). This is controlled by the activity of the +41-kb enhancer portion at the *Irf8* gene locus (156, 157). During the CDP transition to pre-cDC1, NFIL3 induces high levels of ID2, leading to ZEB2 downregulation, a repressor of cDC1 development. Later in cDC1 specification, expression of IRF8 becomes dependent on BATF3 (154, 157, 158). Knockout models for *Nfil3, Id2, Batf3,* and *Irf8* show different levels of cDC1 impairment. Loss of ID2 and NFIL3 results in cDC1 deficiency (159, 160). Conditional deletion of *Irf8* before the pre-DC stage leads to reduced cDC1 cell numbers, skewing CDP differentiation into cDC2 (161). *Batf3* knockout does not impair the emergence of pre-cDC1 cells but induces

selective loss and dysfunction of the mature cDC1 compartment (154, 158). This, together with IRF8's dependence on BATF3 at later stages of differentiation, suggests that the interplay between IRF8 and BATF3 is key for full cDC1 specification and maintenance.

Phenotypically, cDC1 and cDC2 cells express the pan-hematopoietic marker CD45, CD135, CD11c, and MHC-I and MHC-II while lacking markers for T, B, NK, and erythrocyte lineage markers (133). Migrating cDCs express co-stimulatory molecules CD80, CD86, and chemokine receptor CCR7 (162). Contrastingly to cDC2, which is known to express CD4, splenic cDC1 cells are identified by the expression of CD8 $\alpha$ , with an exception for circulating cDC1, which expresses E-cadherin-binding integrin  $\alpha$ E (CD103) or CD24 instead. More importantly, all cDC1 express XCR1, a chemokine receptor, and CLRs CD205, and CD207, in addition to the already mentioned CLEC9A (133). cDC1 cells also express higher amounts of FLT3, which binds to FLT3L, the responsible factor for generating all cDC subsets (163, 164). Interestingly, generating bone marrow-derived dendritic cells (BM-DCs) using FLT3L to complement GM-CSF cultures produces a higher proportion of functional cDC1 (165).

Although cDC2 cells are more prevalent among conventional dendritic cells, we have limited knowledge about their biology. The population of cDC2 is considerably more diverse, and their heterogeneity starts during their differentiation. IRF8 homologs, including IRF4 and IRF2, together with TRAF6, regulate cDC2 development (133). Although the loss of IRF4 affects cDC2 function, it is not strictly required for cDC2 specification (166, 167). Over the years, different subgroups of cDC2 have been segregated through different dependence on the Notch signaling pathway or different requirements for KLF4 expression (166-168). Expression of T-bet and ROR $\gamma$ t also identified two subgroups of cDC2 in the spleen (169). Recently, a cDC2-committed progenitor has been identified that expresses higher levels of cDC2-associated genes at the CDP level (170) (**Figure 3**). However, there is still a need for a deeper understanding of the molecular mechanisms driving cDC2-specification.

Mirroring the hazy cDC2 development, there is little uniformity in their phenotypical markers. Parallel to CD8 expression in cDC1, only a fraction of cDC2 express CD4, but most express high levels of SIRP $\alpha$  and CD11b (133, 171). Interestingly, cDC2 are known for lacking cDC1, including CD8 and XCR1 or CLEC9A receptors, but different subgroups within the cDC2 population express different markers (133, 150, 162, 169).



**Figure 3** | **Development of myeloid dendritic cells.** Hematopoiesis gives rise to all circulating and tissue-resident blood cells, including dendritic cells. Hematopoietic stem and progenitor cells (HSPC) divide and originate multipotent progenitors (MPPs) that can generate the different progenitors that will differentiate into the megakaryocyte-erythroid lineage (MEP), common lymphoid lineage (CLP) and common myeloid lineage progenitors (CMP) depending on the environmental cues and transcription factors expressed at specific stages of development. MEPs will differentiate in mature megakaryocytes and erythrocytes, while CLP gives rise to all T, B, and NK cell lymphoid lineages. CMP will branch into common dendritic cell progenitors (CDP) and granulocyte-macrophage progenitors (GMP). Conventional dendritic cells type 1 and 2 (cDC1 and cDC2) arise from CDP committed to either lineage. The cDC1 subset is characterized by lineage-defining transcription factors BATF3 and IRF8, while NFIL3 and ID2 repress ZEB2 and block CDP maturation into plasmacytoid dendritic cells (pDC). Conversely, cDC2 is the most heterogenous population, with some researchers proposing a division within this subset. Nonetheless, cDC2 cells also arise from pre-committed CDP and express high levels of IRF4. The origin of pDCs has yet to be completely deciphered, as there is also evidence that some CLPs can generate pDC. ALP – all-lymphoid progenitors; GP – granulocyte progenitors; MoP – monocyte progenitors; Mo – monocyte, monocyte-derived dendritic cells. Adapted from Anderson, Dutertre (172).

cDC populations are highly specialized APCs capable of migrating to peripheric lymph nodes and prime *de novo* adaptive immune responses (133). Dendritic cells possess a vast arsenal of molecules fine-tuned for antigen sensing and capture and migration to peripheric lymphoid tissues where they can interact with T, B, and innate immune effectors such as NK cells. First, dendritic cells express diverse pattern recognition receptors (PRRs) that recognize PAMPs. Toll-like receptors (TLRs) and CLRs sense extracellular or internalized microbial antigens. PRRs also include cytosolic DNA sensors, which recognize cytoplasmic infection by viruses and certain bacteria. Self-antigens exposed by damaged cells, or DAMPs can be recognized by PRRs and initiate dendritic cell activation programs (133). Expression of PRRs varies across the different dendritic cell subsets. For example, human and mouse cDC1 express higher levels of TLR3 responsible for detecting double-stranded RNA and facilitating CD8+ T cell priming (173). CLEC9A binds

to filamentous actin, which is only exposed in damaged cells (151, 174). Signaling through CLEC9A allows cDC1 to sense cell debris and stimulate CTL responses (175).

Upon PRR stimulation and inflammatory stimuli, dendritic cells express more MHC molecules necessary for antigen presentation along with co-stimulatory molecules and chemokine receptors (133). The latter is critical for cDC to follow chemokine gradients, driving them from the periphery to draining lymph nodes, where they will interact with other immune cells (133). Lymph-node resident dendritic cells can also sense and capture free antigens traveling through the lymphatic system (176, 177). After migration to lymph nodes, dendritic cells prepare to transmit the antigenic information to other immune cells, including other dendritic cells (133). To stimulate CD4 and CD8 T cells, dendritic cells express the antigen-presenting molecules and co-stimulatory machinery along with IL-12 (178, 179). Functional specialization of dendritic cells is simultaneously dependent on their specific transcriptional program. Despite dendritic cells' inherent capacity to compensate each other in case of failure of one subset (133), cDC1 are undoubtedly excellent antigen presenters. cDC1 are endowed with machinery that allows them to present antigens through MHC-I, a cross-presentation process, to stimulate CD8+ T cells (133, 180, 181). Murine and human cDC1 produce vast amounts of IL-12 resulting from high levels of IRF8 in this subset (179, 182, 183). Moreover, cDC1 can also prime CD4+ T cells (179, 181, 184, 185).

Human dendritic cells have been found to follow similar ontogeny processes and express the same phenotypical identifiers as their murine counterparts (133, 186). Research on the heterogeneity of human dendritic cells has been largely driven by single-cell gene expression analysis. Despite species-specific characteristics, XCR1 and CLEC9A remain canonical markers of human cDC1 in addition to CD141 (133). Moreover, human cDC1 differentiation also depends on BATF3 and IRF8 (187, 188). On the other hand, human cDC2 cells are more heterogeneous and lack a uniform classification. Efforts to classify human DCs are still ongoing, with more relevant examples set by Nir Hacohen and Alexander Rudensky's respective groups. Villani et al. (2017) distinguished six subsets among human dendritic cells using single-cell RNA sequencing. By their classification, DC1 corresponds to cDC1, cDC2 is divided into DC2 and DC3 populations, and DC6 refers to pDC (189). Furthermore, Brown *et al.* discovered two subsets of cDC2, designated by cDC2A and cDC2B, separated by expression of T-bet and RORγt and CLEC10A in mice and humans (169).

There is another specific dendritic cell population known as pDCs (**Figure 3**), characterized by their plasma-like shape and ability to produce high amounts of type I IFN in response to viruses (147, 190). Early research suggested that pDCs descended from CDP (147, 191, 192), but some studies argued that pDC ontogeny was more closely related to lymphopoiesis (147, 169, 189, 193-195). On the other hand, it has also been discovered that pDCs share their origin with cDC1 through a common CX3CR1+ progenitor (196). This new understanding of pDC ontogeny

aligns with previous research demonstrating the interplay between ID2 and ZEB2 in cDC1 and pDC development (157, 197). Much like their origin, pDCs inherent antigen presentation is under debate. The first studies reporting pDCs' ability to prime T cells might have suffered from contaminants from other cDC (193-195), which reflects the artificial culture conditions hindering a thorough understanding of their function. More recently, there are some studies addressing whether pDCs can function as professional APCs (198).

Through their outstanding antigen sensing and presentation capacity, dendritic cells are fundamental pillars in fighting against pathogenic threats and maintaining homeostasis. Moreover, dendritic cell function extends further than T cell stimulation. Dendritic cells also interact with B cells and are powerful orchestrators of the innate immune system (133). For these reasons, it is unsurprising that dendritic cells play an important role in the cancer immunity cycle.

#### The Role of cDC1 in Cancer

It is important to recognize that moDCs, cDC2, and pDCs also play a role in antitumor immunity, especially due to their biological abundance, relatively easy manipulation, and use in cancer vaccine approaches (55, 133, 180, 199-201). However, this section will summarize the literature surrounding cDC1 antitumor immunity. The cDC1 subset has been implicated in antitumor immunity for over a decade, especially due to its flagship cross-presentation ability (202). In recent years, other facets of cDC1 biology have emerged, positioning this population of professional APCs as a central player in antitumor responses.

Mouse models lacking BATF3-dependent cDC1 fail to reject highly immunogenic fibrosarcomas (158). Proteomic and transcriptional analysis revealed the unique myeloid landscape in the TME (203). cDC1 was one of the myeloid populations found within the TME along with TAMs M1 and M2, albeit at lower proportions than the latter. Interestingly, regressing tumors had a more substantive presence of cDC1 within their TME, and tumoral cDC1 was apt at cross-presenting antigens to infiltrating CTLs (203). More recently, the application of imaging-based deep learning to identify the spatial organization of cDC1 interaction with CD8+ T cells within the TME revealed that cDC1-CD8+ T cells clusters appear at higher frequencies in highly immunogenic tumors in niches that promote CD8+ T cell activation (204). Furthermore, therapeutic vaccination with splenic cDC1 loaded with TAAs was sufficient to elicit tumor-specific CD8+ and CD4+ responses *in vivo* (205).

Various independent lines of research in mouse and humans have demonstrated that cDC1 presence within the tumor is required for successful immunotherapy (202, 206-209). Administration, expansion, and activation of cDC1 at the tumor site synergize with ICI and improve immunotherapy response in several models (206, 210-213). In turn, ICI can promote the accumulation of cDC1 in the TME and enhance dendritic cell function (214-216). Checkpoint blockade can promote T cell release of IFN- $\gamma$ . Intratumoral dendritic cells respond to IFN- $\gamma$  by producing IL-12,

which supports CTL function (215). In alignment with these findings, detecting dendritic cell gene signatures within the TME and higher ratios of intratumoral cDC1 compared to other myeloid subsets is correlated with better prognosis and response to ICI (203, 209, 217).

In cancer, cDC1 cells' antitumor activities combine the cross-presentation of TAAs inside the TME and tumor-draining lymph nodes (tdLN) with the recruitment of other immune effectors and CTL activity support (202). Cross-presentation of TAAs depends on the correct function of vesicular trafficking of antigens. Loss of WDFY4, a regulator of intracellular vesicular trafficking, or overexpression of YTHDF1, a post-transcriptional RNA modifier implicated in cancer progression, abolishes presentation of tumor antigens by cDC1 to CD8+ T cells and allows tumor progression (218, 219). Recognition of intracellular DNA originating from necrotic cancer cells by stimulator of interferon genes (STING) is also necessary for optimal T cell activation by cDC1 (220). CCR7-dependent migration of cDC1 to tdLN is crucial for antitumor immunity as it promotes direct antigen presentation in a highly stimulatory environment (221). Importantly, intratumoral cDC1s secrete CXCL9 and CXCL10, which promotes T cell infiltration within the TME and supports the reactivation of CTLs (202, 207, 208, 215, 222, 223). Tumor rejection mediated by cDC1 is mediated by type I IFN signaling (224, 225). Finally, cDC1 establishes a bidirectional relationship with innate immune effectors such as NK cells to promote antitumor immunity. NK cells secrete CCL5 and XCL1, which attract cDC1 to the tumor milieu (226, 227). In turn, cDC1 produces a pro-inflammatory cytokine cocktail and chemokines that recruit, promote, and maintain NK-mediated anticancer cytotoxicity in the TME (228). Altogether, these data reveal that cDC1 plays a crucial role in antitumor immunity by influencing the TME with soluble factors and attracting and enabling effective adaptive and innate immune responses.

#### cDC1 dysfunction in tumors

Despite cDC1's important role in cancer immunity, the TME imposes severe obstructions to their normal function (**Figure 4**). Recruitment of cDC1 is impaired in melanomas with active  $\beta$ -catenin as they reduce CCL4 expression (208). The viability of NK cells is also affected in the TME, which, in turn, reduces cDC1 infiltration and viability (226). IL-6, produced by cancer and immune cells, undermines cDCs and moDCs differentiation (180). Vascular endothelial growth factor (VEGF) was found to repress FLT3L activity *in vivo*, blocking cDC1 differentiation (229). VEGF is also produced in large amounts by tumor cells, thus constituting yet another mechanism through which TME might be hostile to cDC1 presence (229). The TME also inhibits cDC1 activation and reduces antigen presentation. The expression of TIM3 by cancer cells can hinder intracellular DNA recognition by PRRs (230). Activation of TLR2 by tumor-derived proteoglycans induces chronic expression of IL-6 and anti-inflammatory cytokine IL-10 and upregulation of their receptors, contributing to direct immunosuppression of cDC1 within the TME (231). TAMs are another source for IL-10 and stop IL-12

production by cDC1 (232). Tumor-infiltrating cDC1s are also prone to endoplasmic reticulum stress due to the harsh conditions within the TME. This, in turn, results in less antigen presentation capacity and reduced T cell activation (180, 233). Oxidized lipid metabolites derived from the TME accumulate in cDC1 by binding to components of MHC-I translocation to the cell surface, thus preventing effective antigen presentation (234). Recently, it has also been shown that cDC1 circulating in pancreatic mouse models and patients decreases during carcinogenesis, promoted by increased apoptosis and maturation impairments (235). Collectively, these data prove that, even though cDC1s have the potential to orchestrate an efficient antitumor immune response, the harsh conditions inside the TME undermine optimal function.

#### Tumor immunogenicity and antigen presentation by cancer cells.

Complementing professional APCs' role in tumor immunity, tumor cells are active participants in tumor recognition, or lack thereof, by the immune system. Tumor mutational burden (TMB), expression of neo-antigens and TAAs, and antigen presentation machinery contribute to tumors' intrinsic ability to stimulate or avoid immune responses, also known as tumor immunogenicity (236, 237).

Chromosomic instability leads to the accumulation of genetic defects by cancer cells. Consequently, high mutational rates can generate aberrant proteins that can be degraded in small peptides and presented on cancer cells' surface in MHC-I molecules. Additionally, unique peptides originating from dysregulated RNA splicing, post-translational modifications, and viral proteins constitute new sources of "non-self-antigens" in cancer cells that can trigger immune responses. In immuno-oncology, these peptides are called neo-antigens (125). Neoantigens can originate from single-nucleotide variants, insertion and deletion mutations, gene fusions, non-coding regions, alternative RNA splicing, and protein variants (238). In recent years, there has been growing evidence that higher mutational burdens correlate with better immunotherapy response.

Exome sequencing of NSCLC biopsies from patients treated with anti-PD1 showed that a high frequency of mutations strongly correlated with clinical response to ICI (239). Prior to this study, whole-exome sequencing of 64 melanoma patients uncovered a specific neoantigen landscape that, when present, was associated with stronger responses to CTLA-4 inhibition (240). In alignment with these findings, pan-cancer stratification studies based on TMB and ICI response generated predictive models to identify patients who benefit the most from ICI (239-241).



Figure 4 | Mechanisms of cDC1 dysregulation in tumors. The tumor microenvironment (TME) suppresses cDC1 function by targeting fundamental features of their biology. Tumor cells release metabolites that directly and indirectly exclude cDC1 from the TME, induce metabolic stress, and impair tumor-associated antigens (TAAs) processing. Tumor cells and other components of the TME, like macrophages, can directly inactivate cDC1 function and compromise cDC1 viability. Adapted from Wculek, Cueto (180).

Systematic reviews on the predictive value of TMB for carcinogen-driven carcinomas such as NSCLC and melanomas have concluded that patients with higher TMB respond more effectively to ICI (242, 243). Notably, cancer cells can also share "self-antigens" with healthy tissue by overexpressing too much of certain proteins, lineage-specific differentiation markers, or cancer germline antigens (238). However, these non-mutated tumor antigens might be presented during T lymphocyte development to induce "self-tolerance". The naturally occurring TCRs for these antigens might have low affinity for them, meaning that reactive T cells will be less effective (244).

T cells targeting neoantigens can be found circulating in the peripheral blood of patients and expand upon anti-PD1 treatment (245). Next-generation sequencing revealed several shared neoantigens among multiple myeloma patients and the presence of neoantigen-specific T cells that could be leveraged against cancer (246). Another study found shared neoantigens in colorectal, stomach, and endometrial adenocarcinomas with high chromosomic instability and corresponding neoantigen-specific CD8+ T cells in healthy donors and cancer patients (247). In a mouse model for squamous cell carcinoma (SCC), researchers identified polyclonal neoantigen-specific CD4+ T cells that promoted CD8+ T cell-mediated immune responses and

limited tumor growth (248). These suggest that neoantigens are prone to generate an immunogenic response and one of the reasons underlying the positive correlation between TMB and efficient ICI responses.

At the same time, immunologically visible tumors can also undergo immunoediting. This process puts selective pressure on cancer cells by eliminating those that express antigens on their surface and promoting the proliferation of cancer cells that acquire mechanisms to avoid the immune system (**Figure 5**). For example, a recent genetic screen using clustered regularly interspaced short palindromic repeats (CRISPR) to study mechanisms of immune evasion in murine syngeneic models for breast cancer unveiled the inactivation of certain tumor suppressor genes only in the presence of an adaptive immune system (249). Whereas *in vitro*, cancer cells that lose CUL3 stop proliferating, transplanted cancer cells lacking this protein into immunocompetent mice are positively selected and contribute to tumor growth. This can be explained by CUL3 forming complexes that promote PD-L1 degradation (250). Thus, loss of CUL3 helps cancer escape the immune system by stabilizing PD-L1 expression.

Another mechanism cancer cells evolve to avoid the immune system is the loss of antigen presentation machinery on their surface (**Figure 5**) (237). All somatic cells express MHC-I, which serves as a diagnostic tool for CD8+ T cells to assess cell health. On the other end of the spectrum, complete abrogation of MHC-I expression in cells triggers NK cells' cytotoxic activities (251).

During protein degradation, the resulting peptides can be loaded on MHC-I complexes and showcase their origin to CD8+ T cells. Aberrant proteins or viral products can be recognized as foreign, and the diseased cell is targeted for T cell-mediated cell death. In humans, MHC-I is encoded by human leucocyte antigen (HLA) class I. In melanoma and NSCLC patients, loss of heterozygosity for HLA-I genes and mutations on beta-2-microglobulin (B2M), a protein necessary for MHC-I expression on the cell surface, are related to acquired resistance to cancer immunotherapy, and constitute barriers to effective ICI (252, 253). In many of the most frequent human cancers, low expression, or complete loss of HLA molecules or B2M, have been reported with implications for ICI response (236, 237).



Figure 5 | Tumor landscape editing by the immune system. The adaptive immune system eliminates tumor cells that express neoantigens. Consequentially, tumor cells undergo selective pressure to exploit mechanisms that confer advantages over the immune system. Expression of PD-L1 to inhibit T cell function and loss of antigen presentation machinery are only two of the mechanisms depicted that cancer cells adopt to escape immune detection.

A recent study quantifying the loss of HLA-I molecules in 9000 tumors from the Cancer Genome Atlas (TCGA), in addition to two cohorts of pancreatic cancer and metastatic melanoma patients, identified the pervasiveness of its occurrence. All cancers from TCGA exhibited low levels of mRNA encoding for HLA-I molecules ranging from 6% to 86% (254). Loss of MHC-I molecules can occur through different pathways, resulting from genetic lesions or epigenetic deregulation. While the former is irreversible, epigenetic deregulation can be easily reverted. Somatic lesions, which involve the complete loss of all alleles encoding MHC-I or B2M, essentially abolish all MHC-I expression, lead to ICI resistance and can be found in up to 40% of patients, depending on the cancer (254, 255). On the other hand, one of the most common direct MHC-I alterations found in cancers is the partial loss of HLA alleles (254, 256, 257). This ensures that cancer cells can simultaneously escape CD8+ T cell recognition by low expression levels of MHC-I and avoid NK cell detection (251, 256, 257). Partial loss of HLA alleles substantially diminishes the neoantigen repertoire that can be presented and safeguards residual HLA presentation that can repress NK cells' main triggers (251, 256).

Furthermore, disturbances in genes involved upstream of the MHC-I pathway limit its expression on the cell surface, impacting tumor antigen presentation. For example, NLRC5, the master transcription factor regulating key proteins of the MHC-I pathway, including B2M, MHC-I, antigen processing proteins such as immunoproteasomes, and antigen transporters like TAP1, is often downregulated in cancers (258). Mutations and epigenetic modifications rendering NLRC5 ineffective have been described in cancer, resulting in MHC-I depletion (258-260). Loss of IRF1 and IRF2 results in downregulation of MHC-I and upregulation PD-L1 (261, 262). Proteasomes and immunoproteasomes degrade intracellular proteins into small peptides, which generate the antigens that will bind to MHC-I. Higher

expression of immunoproteasome subunits PSMB9, PSMB10, and PSMB8 was associated with better prognosis in NSCLC patients, whereas decreased levels of immunoproteasome expression accompanied epithelial to mesenchymal transition with worse outcomes (263). Defects in the expression of TAP1 and TAP2 have been known to exist in breast, cervical, colorectal, lung, and renal cell carcinomas (264-269). Therefore, all intervenient parts of the MHC-I pathway can be subjected to mutation or allelic loss, transcriptional dysregulation, epigenetic silencing, as well as post-transcriptional and translational modifications, which result in loss of MHC-I on cancer cells' surface with varying degrees of restoration potential (237, 270).

A study from 2019 attempted to calculate tumor immunogenicity score as a function of the TMB and antigen presentation machinery score. The latter is calculated from the total mRNA expression of antigen-presenting machinery genes present in tumor samples, which includes immunoproteasome subunits, TAP1, TAP2, B2M, and the three allelic forms of HLA-I among other genes belonging to the MHC-I pathway (236). According to this study, the status of antigen-presentation machinery expression heavily influences ICI response. For example, moderately mutated tumors with low antigen presentation machinery scores tend to have poor ICI responses. Such is the case for prostate and breast cancers, whereas tumors with higher expression levels of antigen-presentation machinery genes tend to respond much more effectively to ICI treatment. Moreover, this and other studies have noticed that tumor immunogenicity can be manipulated, antigen presentation in cancer cells can be restored, and antitumor immune responses reinstated if the defects in antigen-presentation pathways originate from reversible lesions (236, 237, 270).

Other mechanisms that affect tumor immunogenicity have been described. Increased tumor heterogeneity, for example, can also contribute to poor immunogenicity. The number of tumor clones affects immune infiltration. Surprisingly, the higher number of clones in melanoma mouse models and human samples is correlated with poorer survival. Independently of the TMB, a lower number of cancer clones means that most mutations occurred in very few initial clones; in contrast, a high level of diversity implies an even and diverse dispersion of neoantigen presence across all the different clones that might have occurred at different points of carcinogenesis. Therefore, the presence of neoantigens is diluted across several clones and, as such, increasing the difficulty for the immune system to eliminate all the tumorigenic clones (271).

Despite MHC-II expression being mostly restricted to professional APCs, tumor cells may also start expressing these molecules under certain circumstances, such as IFN- $\gamma$  stimulation. MHC-II restricted neoantigens have been identified in mouse models, and the role of CD4+ T cells in driving antitumor immunity has been highlighted in recent years (248, 272). The presence of MHC-II molecules in tumor cells has been correlated with improved survival, greater infiltration of lymphocytes, and enhanced tumor immunity (273). Interestingly, cancer evolution involves the generation of mutations that are less likely to be presented by MHC-II

molecules, resulting in lower tumor immunogenicity (274). This demonstrated the importance of MHC-I for effective anticancer immunity.

In summary, carcinogenesis offers many opportunities for cancer cells to be recognized by the immune system by generating neoantigens. However, in addition to other immunosuppressive mechanisms, tumorigenesis is often accompanied by perturbations on antigen presentation pathways, leading to poor tumor immunogenicity and hindering effective ICI response.

#### Strategies to enhance tumor immunogenicity.

Loss of tumor immunogenicity is a common evasion mechanism found across several types of cancers. For several years, this has raised the question of whether these mechanisms can be reversed, and tumor immunogenicity restored. Cancer vaccines can potentially increase the professional antigen presentation of tumorderived antigens. However, moDCs-based vaccination has encountered some limitations (55, 275). While pre-clinical studies have demonstrated that cDC1derived vaccination effectively halts tumor progression and synergizes with ICI (203), this approach is also faced with constraints. cDC1 is the rarest population of dendritic cells circulating in the blood and within TME (133, 202). Autologous cDC1 from cancer patients can be dysregulated, and the TME can still suppress their function (180, 233, 235). Whether their delivery is done by dendritic cell vaccines or through nucleic acid vehicles, neoantigen vaccines are also an attractive opportunity to improve tumor immunogenicity (238). However, identifying personalized neoantigen peptides can become costly and time-consuming, has limited accuracy, and is insufficient for tumors with low TMB (238). An "off-theshelf" approach exploiting commonly found neoantigens or TAAs can offset the research and validation costs involved in *de novo* identification of neoantigens. Still, it can also be met with acquired resistance mechanisms such as loss of neoantigen expression, induction of unwanted toxicity when antigens are shared with healthy tissue or poor antigenic immunogenicity (125, 238).

On the other hand, direct manipulation of tumor intrinsic immunogenicity has been explored in diverse settings. In cancer cells whose loss of MHC-I expression stems from allelic loss or inactivating mutations in genes involved in MHC-I expression, traffic, and processing, gene replacement therapy or gene editing would be required to substitute the lost genes. Recovering HLA-I and B2M expression by ectopic expression of these genes was demonstrated before the turn of the century (276). Garrido and colleagues have shown that delivery of B2M in an adenovirus package recovered HLA-I expression in HLA-I-negative cancer cells (276). Intratumoral injection of adenovirus encoding B2M sequence in human xenografts models also restored HLA-I expression and increased antigen-specific T cell recognition (276, 277). However, approaches like the one described here would require that almost all cancer cells, including metastasis, be efficiently transduced and repaired, lest MHC-I negative clones escape immune effectors again (270). It is also possible to convert cancer cells into surrogate APCs by delivery of MHC-IIinducing factors. High endogenous expression of MHC-II induced by ectopic expression of *Ciita*, the transcription factor regulating the expression of genes involved in the MHC-II pathway, drives tumor rejection in murine cancer models (278). Transfected cancer cells could process and present antigens into MHC-II molecules, triggering IFN- $\gamma$  producing CD4+ T cells (278).

For tumors where the MHC-I pathway is only restricted by downregulatory mechanisms, recovery of tumor immunogenicity is, in theory, easier to achieve. For example, treatment with type I and II IFN has been well-known to stimulate MHC-I and MHC-II expression (279-281). A small phase Ib/II clinical trial assessed the antitumor efficacy of the combination of anti-PD1 blockade and pegylated-IFN $\alpha$ 2b in stage IV melanoma patients. Results showed that combining the two treatments elicited one complete response and several partial responses with relative safety (282). However, IFN-based treatments for cancer have had limited success (283). Type I IFN have been shown to have a dual role in cancer. Whereas acute exposure to IFN has cytotoxic properties and can potentiate antitumor immunity, chronic exposure instigates pro-survival mechanisms and hinders cancer therapy (283). Furthermore, chronic antigen exposure without co-stimulatory molecules and inflammatory cytokines results in T cell anergy (284).

Although clinical trials have not always yielded favorable outcomes for IFN treatment, the molecular pathways affected by type I and II IFN play a critical role in the success of immunotherapy. Various CRISPR screenings have uncovered several genes necessary for intrinsic tumor immunogenicity (285-287). Consistent with reported deficiencies in antigen presentation machinery in cancer cells, lossof-function of genes encoding antigen presentation machinery and proteasomes induced the most resistance to CTL-mediated destruction in mutated cancer cells (285). Interestingly, despite not including a guide RNA for IFN-γ pathway genes, the authors discovered that APLNR, a G-protein-coupled receptor that is found mutated across several tumors, was among the genes responsible for effective antitumor responses by CD8+ T cells. APLNR directly interacts with JAK1 to potentiate IFN- $\gamma$  responses (285). Notably, other screens that aimed at finding targets that sensitize cancer cells to immunotherapy also identified IFN-related modulators. Loss of PTPN2 and SETDB1 leads to tumor rejection, increased antigen presentation to CD8+ T cells and subsequent activation, and increased sensitivity to ICI in mouse models (286, 287). While the first is a negative IFN- $\gamma$ regulator by dephosphorylation of JAK1 and STAT1, the second is a histone methyltransferase whose targets include a cluster of IFN genes. Likewise, STING agonists also induce potent antitumor immune responses through activation of the IFN pathway and increased MHC-I expression (288-290). These data strongly suggest that IFN signaling is a solid target for direct and indirect manipulation that can unlock tumor immunogenicity.

Epigenetic modulators targeting DNA methyltransferases and histone deacetylases have been shown to induce MHC-I expression in cancer cells (291,

292). Importantly, there are already several FDA-approved drugs for cancer treatment that target DNA methylation and histone deacetylation, even though the exact mechanism of action remains to be elucidated (270). For example, azacytidine, used for treating myelodysplastic syndromes and AML, induced PD-1 and IFN- $\gamma$  signaling in cancer cells. In a limited trial, combining azacytidine with anti-PD-1 improved overall survival in responders among AML patients (293). Despite being approved for blood cancers, these drugs have achieved poor results in solid tumors, especially when used as single agents (291). Combination with ICI has been effective in pre-clinical models and small clinical studies (292-296). However, cytotoxicity, broad targets, and unknown mechanisms of action limit the potential adoption of epigenetic modifiers in the clinic (270).

Although there are many different methods to target immunogenicity, there is still a need for a comprehensive therapy that combines epigenetic and transcriptional regulation of antigen presentation machinery. This therapy should trigger IFN signaling pathways and potentiate antitumor immunity. To bridge this gap, we must explore alternative methods for immunotherapy that go beyond the common toolbox currently used for the therapies described here.

### CELL FATE REPROGRAMMING

Conrad Waddington described cell fate as a ball rolling down a hill, a one-way irreversible path that embryonic stem cells (ESCs) take to ultimately differentiate into the diverse tissues of an adult organism (297). The pioneer work of John Gurdon started to challenge this concept after the somatic cell nuclear transfer of terminally differentiated cells into enucleated eggs (298, 299). These experiments revealed that the nucleus of a cell contained the important genetic information for the development of a full organism. Moreover, a pluripotent state could be achieved when the nucleus of a cell, independently of its status, was placed in the right cytoplasmic context. The cloning of Dolly, the sheep, in 1997 was the stepping stone cementing that somatic adult cells could be reversed to a pluripotent stem cell state (300). In the early 21<sup>st</sup> century, Shinya Yamanaka and colleagues identified the combination of transcription factors mediating somatic cell conversion to pluripotent stem cells (301-303). Today, the transcription factors are known as the OSKM factors, standing for OCT4, SOX2, KLF4, and MYC, and the process is called cellular reprogramming, where cell fate conversion is accompanied by transcriptional and epigenetic changes that allow an adult cell to become an induced pluripotent stem cell (iPSC) (304). These seminal works would grant Shinya Yamanaka and John Gurdon the 2012 Nobel Prize in Physiology or Medicine.

The ability to alter cell identity using just a few transcription factors has presented exciting prospects for exploring the basic principles of cell identity. It also offered a novel method for producing uncommon cellular subtypes for drug testing and disease modeling, creating new possibilities for regenerative medicine and cell replacement therapy (304). Since the discovery of the OSKM combination, iPSCs have been successfully generated from keratinocytes, melanocytes, neurons, hepatocytes, and peripheral blood cells besides fibroblasts (301-303, 305-310).

Like ESCs, iPSCs retain pluripotency, as they can generate all germ-layer cells when given the appropriate stimuli. The generation of donor-specific iPSCs surpasses ethical issues regarding the use and manipulation of ESCs while providing a valuable source of cells that can be differentiated into the desired cell for regenerative medicine. Moreover, iPSCs enable *in vitro* engineering for necessary genetic corrections or enhancements before their intended application (55, 311). iPSCs can also unveil cellular and molecular pathogenesis underlying human disease and provide a tool for high-throughput drug screening tests.

On the other hand, iPSCs lines can have diverse backgrounds, which impact their differentiation capacity, leading to heterogenous populations of desired differentiated cells and contaminating teratoma-inducing pluripotent progenitors (301, 312). For this reason, the clinical use of iPSC continues to face challenges. New protocols are currently in development to eliminate iPSC contaminants from ex vivo differentiation. Particularly, in a primate model for Parkinson's Disease, researchers isolated iPSCs-derived dopaminergic progenitors by the expression of CORIN (313). In contrast, antibodies targeting iPSCs' marker CD30, and

antimitotic agents eliminate pluripotent stem cells from iPSCs-derived cardiomyocytes, allowing safer clinical trials using iPSCs (314).

#### **Direct lineage reprogramming**

Identifying the transcriptional network regulating pluripotency also allowed other researchers to ask whether different cell fates could be coded under such restrictive, minimal networks of transcription factors. Before the OSKM findings, various studies demonstrated that cell fate was plastic and that there were transcription factors capable of overwriting the original lineage commitment of differentiated cells. Such was the case for the overexpression of MyoD activating a muscle program in different cell lines and exogenous expression of GATA1 in myelomonocytic cells (315-317). The latter was also a prime example of GATA1 showcasing its role as a master regulator of hematopoietic differentiation. Overexpression of PAX6 and C/EBP $\alpha/\beta$  in glial and B cells, respectively, could override the original genetic program and induce neuronal and macrophage-like cell fates (318, 319).

The concept of direct reprogramming, or transdifferentiation, was thus born and reflected "the process of inducing a desired cell fate, by converting somatic cells from one lineage to another bypassing intermediate pluripotent or multipotent states" (304). Direct reprogramming strategies offer multiple advantages over iPSCs-derived products as they are faster to obtain, easier to manufacture, and more suited for clinical applications as they do not carry the same oncogenic risk promoted by pluripotent stem cells (55). Since those first studies reporting the lineage conversion of muscle-like cells and macrophages, many cell types have been now generated through direct reprogramming. While current technology allows cell lineage conversions mediated by many methodologies, such as small molecules, micro-RNAs, and epigenetic modifiers, understanding the transcriptional network behind cell identity is the foundation of direct reprogramming (304, 320).

#### Transcription factors as instructors of cell fate

A combinatorial approach of 14 transcription factors necessary for heart development identified GATA4, MEF2C and TBX5 induced cardiomyocyte-like fate in cardiac fibroblasts. *In vivo* transdifferentiation improved myocardial function after infarction (321, 322). Inducing neuronal phenotypes has also been extensively pursued by different groups. The combination of ASCL1, BRN2 and MYTL1 reprograms mouse embryonic fibroblasts (MEFs) and adult tail fibroblasts into functional, generic neuronal cells that can form functional synapses (323). Spinal motor neurons were obtained using the previous three transcription factor in addition to four more factors (324). Caiazzo and others have successfully identified the transcriptions factors to reprogram fibroblasts into dopaminergic neurons,

GABAergic neurons, and astrocytes (325-327). Dopaminergic neurons can be rapidly generated by overexpression of MASH1, NURR1, and LMX1A in mouse and human fibroblasts (325). Staggered FOXG1 and SOX2 expression, followed by ASCL1, DLX5, and LHX6 induced GABAergic neurons (326). In turn, NF1A, NFIB, and SOX9 gatekeep astrocytes' cellular identity (327). Fibroblasts can be converted into functional induced hepatocytes by overexpression of different combinations including FOXA3 and HNF1A (328, 329). OCT4, RUNX2, MYC and OSX could reprogram human fibroblasts into osteoblasts that promoted bone repair in vivo (330, 331). Besides cardiomyocytes, neurons and hepatocytes, the combinations of master transcription factors that impose the fates of Sertoli cells, adipocytes, chondrocytes, and insulin-producing β-cells were identified in the past two decades (332-335). Altogether, these studies are compounding evidence that, under careful overexpression of the right lineage-instructing transcription factors, cell commitment can be rewritten across cell types and germ-layers (304). Importantly, identifying lineage-specific factors opens new avenues for regenerative medicine and tissue repair with paramount implications in diseases affecting the myocardial muscle, neurodegenerative diseases, diabetes, and liver disease.

#### Reprogramming hematopoiesis and immune cell fates.

Both cell reprogramming and direct reprogramming strategies opened novel avenues to generate a wide range of blood cells (Figure 6). iPSCs can be differentiated into hematopoietic stem and progenitor cells (HSPCs) through a stepwise process requiring the formation of embryoid bodies and the development of the mesoderm layer. Most protocols also require specialized media to support HSPCs, cytokine cocktails that further support the desired cell type and, in some cases, specialized feeder-layers that can provide external signaling to promote cell growth and differentiation (55, 336). On the other hand, direct reprogramming approaches have elucidated the range of transcription factors necessary for converting somatic cells into HSPCs. Overexpression of GATA2, GF1B, FOS, and ETV6 induces a time-dependent, multistep process that leads to the generation of hemogenic endothelium that ultimately gives rise to HSPCs, resembling embryonic hematopoiesis (337-339). The combination of ERG, GATA2, LMO2, RUNX1c, and SCL generated hemogenic endothelium with the potential to differentiate into granulocytes, macrophages, erythrocytes, and megakaryocytes (340). These examples illustrate how cell reprogramming and direct lineage conversion can be used to simulate development and generate abundant sources for blood derivatives.



**Figure 6** | **Cell reprogramming of immune cell fates.** Overexpression of OCT4, SOX2, KLF4, and c-MYC generates induced pluripotent stem cells (iPSCs), which can be differentiated into hematopoietic stem and progenitor cells (HSPCs) by cytokine cocktails, including stem cell factor (SCF), vascular endothelial growth factor (VEGF), and bone morphogenetic protein 4 (BMP4). Differentiating HSPCs into different lineages involves complex protocols using cytokine combinations and feeder layers like MS-5, OP9-DL1, and artificial thymic organoids (ATO) to support lymphopoiesis. iPSCs constitute a source for large-scale production of immune cells that can be genetically engineered to express desired phenotypes, such as expression of CAR. Reprogramming rewrites the original epigenetic and transcriptional programs and removes aging footprints. However, obtaining immune cells from iPSCs is challenging (dashed lines) and generates heterogeneous populations. Direct reprogramming bypasses intermediate pluripotent cell states with reduced tumorigenic potential. It is also a faster, more efficient, and more faithful process that can be done *in vivo*. The direct reprogramming of fibroblasts to macrophages induces an exclusive macrophage (M $\phi$ ) phenotype. Transcription factors can also be used in forward reprogramming to accelerate iPSCs differentiation. cDC - conventional dendritic cells; pDCs – plasmacytoid dendritic cells; NK – natural killer; ILCs – innate lymphoid cells. Adapted from Zimmermannova, Caiado (55).

#### **Reprogramming immunity.**

All cell identities reflect complex transcriptional, epigenetic, and functional unique signatures. Advances in next-generation sequencing helped distinguish and better characterize immune cells, identify novel cell types, and uncover the gene networks instructing cell fate. While being extensively studied in regenerative medicine, cell reprogramming can be harnessed to manipulate anti-cancer immunity. In particular, iPSCs were used to produce cancer vaccines. More importantly, cell reprogramming offers an opportunity to generate rare immune cells, including T, NK, and dendritic cells at a clinically relevant scale.

#### Cancer vaccines using iPSCs.

Human embryonic stem cells and iPSCs share a potential oncogenic genetic program and can induce immune responses (341-344). Prophylactic immunization with an iPSC-vaccine recently conferred protection against multiple cancer types in different mouse strains (342). The authors demonstrated that iPSCs may share the expression of known and unknown TAAs since vaccinated mice could both reject breast cancer and limit the growth of teratomas. Furthermore, the antitumor effect was attributed to IFN- $\gamma$  producing T cells, and vaccination increased intratumoral infiltration of B and T cells at an early cancer stage. Altogether, iPSCs-derived vaccines can be an interesting, patient-specific approach to elicit responses against a large spectrum of tumor antigens. However, more studies need to be done to address whether patient-derived iPSCs can express tumor and patient-specific TAAs, or just the ones shared with teratomas.

#### Reprogramming into T and B lymphocytes.

Due to its high complexity, lymphopoiesis is tremendously difficult to recreate *ex vivo* as it spans multiple organs, environmental cues, and complex transcriptional and epigenetic regulation. In immunotherapy, particularly for ACT, having an unlimited supply of immune cells would solve the issues caused by the low availability of patients' T, NK, or dendritic cells. To date, there have been no successful attempts at direct reprogramming T or B lymphocytes from unrelated somatic cells.

On the other hand, the differentiation of T and B cells from iPSCs has benefited from extensive research and protocol optimization in the past decades (**Figure 6**). The natural CD8+ and CD4+ T cell development can be recapitulated through iPSCs differentiation in time-consuming conditions involving artificial thymic organoids (ATO), and complex cytokine cocktails (345, 346). T cells can also be used as a source for iPSCs, which also improves the outcome of re-differentiation. By using antigen-specific T cells to generate iPSCs, the parental TCR is locked in its original rearrangement even after redifferentiation to T cells again, which ensures the maintenance of antigen-specificity and overcomes a major limitation for *ex vivo* lymphopoiesis protocols (347, 348). The exhausted T cell pool found in cancer patients can then be rejuvenated from T cell-derived iPSCs that maintain their original TAA specificity (347, 349).

Although *in vitro* direct reprogramming has not yielded fruitful conversions to T cell fate, transient expression of HOXB5 in B cell progenitors at the pro-pre-B stage, followed by transplantation into mice, blocks B cell commitment and converts these cells into early T cell progenitors, which then mature to fully functional T lymphocytes (350). Furthermore, functional T cells can be generated *in vivo* via forward reprogramming, which utilizes transcription factors to facilitate the differentiation of iPSCs. Guo et al. overexpressed RUNX1 and HOXA9 during the early endothelial-to-hematopoietic differentiation process from iPSCs. The

resulting progenitors were then formatted to express thymus-homing molecules that would migrate to the thymus and fully mature in induced T cells with a varied TCR repertoire that populate the blood of immunodeficient mice (351). Importantly, genetic engineering of the original iPSCs to express tumor antigen-specific TCR or CAR can endow newly differentiated T cells with desired antitumor properties.

In striking contrast with T cells, B cell development does not need thymic stimulation. However, generating B cells from iPSCs is equally challenging and lengthy. iPSCs can differentiate in B cell precursors expressing CD45, CD19, and CD10. Although these precursors induced the first steps of B cell receptor (BCR) rearrangement, indicating the adoption of an early pre-B commitment, they failed to acquire a mature B cell phenotype (352). Later, Carpenter and colleagues reported a more successful endeavor by adapting culture conditions to use MS-5 as the supporting stroma (353). The arising B cells had fully rearranged BCR genes and expressed immunoglobulin M at the cell surface.

#### Reprogramming into NK cells.

In recent years, NK cells have received wide attention from the research community as a promising new immunotherapy for cancer (251). As mentioned before, NK cells' mechanism of action is to kill cells that do not express MHC-I on their surface, as these molecules repress NK stimulation and prevent inadequate activation against the "self". Although the conditions found in the TME do not support NK cell antitumor properties, ex vivo activation, expansion, and genetic modifications have been shown to contribute positively to tumor control. Several clinical trials are assessing the efficacy of NK cell-based therapies against AML, lymphoma, multiple myeloma, pancreatic cancer, and other solid tumors (251). However, NK cell-based immunotherapy faces many challenges, including high manufacturing costs, potent adverse immune reactions, and high variability in the efficacy of generating NK cells from different donors. Despite not being constricted to HLA haplotypes, allogeneic NK cells are obtained inefficiently from donor blood, yielding highly impure NK and monocyte mixtures (354). iPSCs can be leveraged to overcome most of the hurdles NK cell-based therapies face by providing an unlimited source for standardized, ready-to-use NK cells with known haplotypes.

Differentiation of NK cells from iPSCs requires a two-step protocol in which, first, hematopoietic progenitors are generated, followed by the addition of a cytokine cocktail supporting NK maturation (**Figure 6**) (355). Additionally, iPSCs-derived NK can also be engineered to express CAR, which confers NK cells with antigen specificity and avoids the PD1/PD-L1 suppressive axis CAR-Ts are subjected in solid tumors (251). Importantly, iPSC-derived NK cells with or without CAR engineered in their genome constitute the first immunotherapy resulting from a cell reprogramming product to reach clinical trials for blood malignancies and solid tumors (251). For example, preliminary results for a small clinical trial assessing an iPSC-derived NK cell immunotherapy were recently reported.

Combination of iPSC-NK cells with anti-CD20 enhanced lymphoma cell killing and showed complete responses in three patients (356).

Although NK cell development, phenotype, and transcriptional profile have been well documented (357), the minimal gene network regulating NK cell lineage identity is yet to be completely deciphered. Direct reprogramming protocols for generating induced NK cells have yet to be published. However, conditional deletion of BCL11B in thymocytes and mature T cells inhibited T cell development and lineage maintenance and promoted NK cell transdifferentiation instead (358).

#### Reprogramming into granulocytes.

Granulocytes exert an important role in innate immunity as the first line of defense against pathogens. Although they do not act directly against cancer cells, granulocytes could substantially help to recover immune competence in cancer patients undergoing chemotherapy or bone marrow transplantation who are highly susceptible to opportunistic bacterial and fungal infections. Like other differentiation processes from iPSCs, most protocols generating granulocytes involve the induction of hematopoietic progenitors, followed by terminal differentiation with cytokines (**Figure 6**). This combination generally yields eosinophil-rich populations. Upon co-culture with OP-DL1, neutrophils can also be differentiated from iPSCs (359-361). Like other immune cells, the lineage-specific transcription factors that can impose a granulocytic cell identity have not been identified. Therefore, a strategy for direct reprogramming into granulocytes does not exist yet, and a large-scale manufacturing could rely solely on iPSC differentiation.

#### Reprogramming into professional antigen-presenting cells.

The rapid generation of autologous and allogenic professional APCs could propel further advancement of current cancer vaccination approaches. Several protocols for differentiating iPSCs into macrophages and conventional dendritic cells (**Figure 6**). Macrophages can be obtained from iPSCs by introducing IL-3 and M-CSF in the culture conditions (359, 362). However, iPSCs-derived macrophages also show low-polarization profiles, expressing a mixed phenotype between M1 and M2 programs and simultaneously secreting pro- and anti-inflammatory cytokines (363). Nonetheless, macrophage differentiation can be utilized for immunotherapy. For example, in a study by Senju *et al.*, genetic modification of iPSC to express a membrane-bound form of a single chain antibody targeting CD20 allowed the generation of macrophages that specifically engulfed malignant cells in a mouse model for B cell acute lymphoblastic leukemia (B-ALL) (364). Others have studied the introduction of CAR to drive antitumor immunity based on antigen-specific phagocytosis (365, 366).

Interestingly, macrophages were the first immune cells for which the lineage instructing transcription factors were revealed by successfully converting B cells (319). The combined expression of C/EBP $\alpha$ , C/EBP $\beta$ , and PU.1 suppressed the B cell lineage commitment transcription factor PAX5, downregulated CD19 expression, and triggered a myeloid program, leading to MAC-1 expression among other markers. Four years after the first publication, Thomas Graf and colleagues published the direct reprogramming of fibroblastic cells using C/EBP $\alpha$  and PU.1 to instruct myeloid lineage, upregulate hematopoietic and macrophage-specific genes, and endow unrelated cells with phagocytic capacity in less than 8 days of culture (367). Recently, the same transcription factors were employed in the forward reprogramming approach. Overexpression of PU.1 and C/EBP $\alpha$  in iPSCs to generate macrophages that exhibit microglia characteristics when co-cultured with induced neurons (368).

Due to their importance in antitumor immunity and their rarity in peripheral blood, dendritic cells are an excellent target population for large-scale production by reprogramming approaches. However, protocols differentiating dendritic cells from iPSCs have produced heterogeneous populations with immature phenotypes, tolerogenic properties, and poor antigen presentation. iPSCs-derived dendritic cells result from multistep processes involving different cytokine cocktails that can favor one subset over the others. For example, the co-culture of iPSCs-derived CD43+ progenitors in OP9 feeder layers in the presence of FLT3L, SCF, and GM-CSF potentiates the generation of pDCs. At the same time, adding IL-4 to the cytokine cocktail enriches cDC populations, which can respond to inflammatory stimuli (369). Choi et al. reported a system to generate hematopoietic progenitors with an elevated myeloid potential to differentiate into neutrophils, eosinophils, macrophages, and dendritic cells (370). Sachamitr et al. approach utilized different adherence surfaces, growth factors, and cytokines supplements, ultimately resulting in CD141+ dendritic cells resembling circulating cDC1 populations (371). These iPSCs-derived CD141+ cDC1 were endowed with co-stimulatory phenotype upon TLR activation, antigen presentation capacity, and priming of naïve T cells. On the other hand, these cells could not secrete IL-12 in large amounts and displayed tolerogenic properties resembling tissue-resident dendritic cells. Furthermore, dendritic cells resulting from iPSCs differentiation protocols showcase arrested development in a fetal-like phenotype, with many characteristic markers of adult dendritic cells being expressed at low levels and stunted antigen presentation capacity (364, 371). To circumvent these drawbacks, iPSCs can be obtained from cell reprogramming of peripheral cDC1 and differentiated back to a cDC1 phenotype, improving the rejuvenated dendritic cells' properties (372).

Furthermore, the original iPSCs can be modified to express TAAs such as carcinoembryonic antigen (CEA), thus conferring any differentiated dendritic cell capable of expressing and presenting these antigens. Indeed, this was tested in a subcutaneous mouse model for colon cancer expressing CEA. Immunization of mice with iPSCs-CEA-derived dendritic cells resulted in activation of CEA-specific CD8+ T cells, which exerted cytotoxic activity against MC38 colorectal carcinoma cells expressing CEA. Additionally, immunized mice demonstrated a higher

capacity to control tumor growth, and tumor tissues had significant infiltration of CD8+ T cells compared to non-vaccinated mice and other controls while not suffering from adverse events caused by the vaccination (373).

The generation of dendritic cells through direct reprogramming would elucidate the lineage instructing transcription factors to impose a dendritic cell phenotype and pave the way for developing the next generation of dendritic cell-based vaccines. Furthermore, identifying the gene networks regulating other immune cell identities will provide an invaluable source for rare populations crucial for cancer immunotherapy.

#### Reprogramming cancer cells into pluripotency.

In the context of cancer treatment, cell reprogramming strategies might not be limited to the generation of immune cells to advance cancer immunotherapy. Inducing pluripotency and transdifferentiation protocols can also be leveraged to revert the oncogenic fate and restart benign programs in cancer cells. Carcinogenesis involves transcriptional and epigenetic changes that share roots with the necessary steps required for reprogramming (374). Chromatin remodeling, histone modification, DNA methylation, and overexpression and repression of distinct transcription factors are mirrored in malignant transformation and cellular reprogramming. The parallels between both processes highlight the potential for cancer cells to share the same cellular plasticity that somatic cells enjoy and be amenable to reprogramming (55). Fusion between fibroblasts and mouse cancer cells attenuated malignancy as hybrids failed to induce tumors in mice 91% of the time (375). The nuclear transfer of melanoma cancer cells into oocytes generated embryonic stem cells capable of generating teratomas. Moreover, these embryonic stem cells could generate chimeric mice, albeit with a higher predisposition for cancer (376). These experiments suggested that nuclei of cancer cells can be reprogrammed to pluripotency and differentiate in multiple benign states depending on their cellular context. Therefore, transcription factor-based lineage conversion can provide opportunities to reverse tumorigenic potential after terminal differentiation (377) and, on a basic research level, contribute to our knowledge of cancer heterogeneity, cancer stem cells, and oncogenic drivers underlying different malignancies as cancer-derived iPSCs clones retain their mutational signature (378).

In the last fifteen years, several groups reported the cell reprogramming of various cancers to pluripotency (**Figure 7**). Overexpression of the complete OSKM combination or smaller sets induced pluripotency in melanoma (379, 380), blood-related malignancies (378, 381-383), gastrointestinal cancer cells (384), pancreatic cancers (385), sarcomas (377), bladder and breast carcinomas (386, 387) and glioblastomas (388, 389). Despite the general low efficiency observed across studies (390), differentiation of cancer-derived iPSCs into benign phenotypes was possible even in the presence of constitutive oncogenic drivers. For example, iPSCs originating from BRAF-mutated melanomas could be differentiated in fibroblastic

and neuronal cells, whereas myeloblast-derived iPSCs harboring BCR-ABL fusion protein could give rise to engraftable hematopoietic cells (379, 382). These studies and the strong epigenetic nature of cancer have highlighted how the tumorigenic program can be rewritten into pluripotency and further shaped into multiple unrelated terminally differentiated phenotypes. However, in certain cases, differentiation towards the original identity can reinstate the original tumorigenic potential. Teratoma differentiation of pancreatic cancer-derived iPSCs resembled the development of pancreatic intraepithelial neoplasia and progressed toward invasive human pancreatic cancer (385). Hematopoietic progenitors from AMLiPSCs demonstrated enhanced proliferative potential and specialization bias towards myeloid lineage followed by reactivation of the aberrant transcriptional and epigenetic AML-specific signatures (383).

Despite the common observation that reprogramming cancer cells towards pluripotency attenuates tumorigenicity upon redifferentiation, the gene network and subsequent transcriptional and metabolic changes triggered by iPSCs reprogramming have been implicated in carcinogenesis. Moreover, incomplete reprogramming and pluripotent cells contamination hinders the full adoption of the method without unequivocal dissipation of safety, specificity, and efficiency concerns (390-392). In contrast, direct reprogramming strategies may overcome cell reprogramming main limitations while modifying somatic cell identities and disrupting oncogenic drive (55).



**Figure 7** | **Cancer cell reprogramming strategies.** Several cancer cells from melanoma, glioblastoma, sarcoma, liver, gastrointestinal, breast, and bladder cancer, as well as blood malignancies, have been successfully reprogrammed towards induced pluripotent stem cells (iPSCs) by overexpression of OCT4, SOX2, KLF4, and c-MYC. Differentiation of cancer-derived iPSCs to their original programs or different cell fates generally leads to loss of tumorigenicity in the final cell identity. Direct reprogramming of cancer cells is also possible by overexpressing lineage-defining factor that can epigenetically and transcriptionally rewrite the oncogenic program and reinstate the original benign function of the cell that initiated the cancer (glioma to neuron, hepatocellular carcinoma (HCC) to hepatocyte or squamous cell carcinoma (SCC) to melanocyte). Moreover, lineage-specific factors can also alter cell fate in cancer cells, endowing them with a benign identity that can also have functional properties for immunotherapy (reprogramming towards macrophage). B-ALL – B cell acute lymphocytic leukemia; BL – B cell lymphoma; GI – gastrointestinal. Adapted from Zimmermannova, Caiado (55).

### Instructing benignity in cancer cells through direct cell reprogramming.

Direct reprogramming through lineage-instructive transcription factors was also shown to impose a terminal cell identity in cancer cells while installing a benign cell program (Figure 7). Human glioma cells can be forced to undergo differentiation to neuron-like cells and enter post-mitotic arrest by overexpression of NGN2 and SOX11. Importantly, transplantation of reprogrammed cancer cells into the striatum of immunodeficient mice failed to generate tumors, suggesting loss of tumorigenic potential. Intratumoral delivery of lentiviral particles encoding NGN2/SOX11 reduced tumor burden and extended survival of treated mice (393). A SCC cell line was successfully transdifferentiated into melanocytes through ectopic expression of MITF, PAX3, SOX2, and SOX9. This process also resulted in loss of tumorigenic drive in the original cancer cells, with mitotic arrest, and failure to produce viable tumors in mice (394). HNF1A, HNF4A, and FOXA3 imposed the unique hepatocyte phenotype in liver cancer cell lines, endowing reprogrammed cancer cells with hepatocyte-like morphology and function. Cancer-derived hepatocytes acquired typical features of mature hepatocytes and metabolized drugs. Cell- and patient-derived xenografts of liver cancer could be reprogrammed towards functional hepatocytes in vivo while transplanted cancer-derived hepatocytes engrafted diseased livers without signs of tumorigenesis (395).

While these studies have shown successful transitions towards benignity exploiting direct cell reprogramming strategies, it is also important to note that not all cell identity conversions will result in loss of tumorigenic potential. This has been observed during the transdifferentiation of pro-B leukemic cells towards T cell lineage. The resulting cells resembled early T precursors, although their real identity could not be assigned to any naturally occurring developmental stage. Importantly, these T-like cells retained the original malignant phenotype and progressed as T lineage leukemia (396).

#### Inducing immune cells.

Inducing certain cell types, like neurons from glioblastomas, would require that all tumor cells convert to the wanted cell fate, integrate into the damaged tissue, survive, and acquire long-term functionality. These requirements set an unattainable standard for cancer cell reprogramming. In the case of immune cell identities, longterm engraftment and function might not be limiting factors. For example, professional APCs must only live long enough to present the newly acquired antigens or transfer them to other APCs to mount a robust immune response that can be maintained in memory T and B cells and plasma cells (133). Moreover, the loss of antigen presentation machinery is one of the mechanisms underlying immune evasion, as stressed throughout the first part of this introduction. Thus, restoration of antigen presentation and, in turn, reinstalment of tumor immunogenicity holds immense potential to rebuild antitumor immune responses.

Until now, the macrophage was the only immune cell with lineage-instructing factors deciphered and shown to impose a defined cell identity in unrelated somatic direct reprogramming. The combination cells through of PU.1 and C/EBPa transdifferentiated a wide range of B cell lymphoma (BL) and leukemia cells into macrophage-like cells (Figure 7). The results showed downregulation of CD19 and increased MAC-1 expression mirroring transcriptomic changes that led to the acquisition of a phagocytic phenotype and loss of tumorigenicity (397). In the same vein, McClellan et al. successfully reported the direct reprogramming of primary human B-ALL cells into macrophage cells using the same combination of transcription factors, which reduced their leukemogenicity (398). Once the macrophage identity was established after 7 days of reprogramming, reprogrammed cancer cells no longer depended on exogenous factors as they had already activated the essential macrophage regulatory network to preserve cell identity (397).

However, all these studies' main objective was to instruct benignity independently of the target cell fate. Additionally, macrophages have a dual role in cancer, and the stability of tumor-derived macrophages can become compromised within the TME. As such, there is still a gap in the cell reprogramming field to bridge the induction of benignity and functional reprogramming in cancer cells. The identification of other professional APCs lineage-restrictive networks that can induce antigen presentation, potentiate IFN signaling pathways, and boost antitumor responses remains unexplored. To this end, cDC1 harbors the ideal phenotype for professional APCs, combining antigen presentation and cross-presentation capacity and cytokine secretion that make them excellent for T cell activation. In addition, the well-characterized phenotype of dendritic cells like cDC1 can be leveraged to profile reprogrammed cells upon identifying the gene network regulating their lineage identity. As such, I hypothesize that identifying the lineage instructing factors for cDC1 identity will pave the way for novel immunotherapies based on direct reprogramming strategies.

### AIMS

- 1. Identify the minimal transcription factor combination able to enforce a cDC1-like identity in somatic cells (Study I).
- 2. Employ single-cell transcriptomic analysis to understand the dendritic cell reprogramming process and improve reprogramming efficiency (Study II).
- 3. Explore dendritic cell reprogramming factors to induce antigen presentation in mouse and human cancer cells (Studies III and IV).
- 4. Restore antitumor immunity with cDC1 reprogramming strategies (Studies III and IV).
### SUMMARY OF RESULTS

Antigen presentation is a keystone mechanism in the cancer immunity cycle, as failure to recognize cancer antigens can result in uncontrolled tumor growth. Tumors with low expression of antigen presentation molecules correlate with inadequate immune infiltration and unfavorable immunotherapy outcomes.

In the past decade, researchers have shown that somatic cells can be reprogrammed to other cell identities by overexpressing lineage-restricted transcription factors. While direct reprogramming strategies have been employed in cell therapy and regenerative medicine, I envision its application to manipulate immune responses, especially against cancer.

In the first two studies (**Study I and II**), I participated in the identification and characterization of the minimal combination of transcription factors that converts a somatic cell into an induced dendritic cell (iDC). We have shown that this process is conserved between mouse and human fibroblasts and uncovered the crucial role of PU.1 while establishing a cDC1 program in unrelated cell types.

In **Studies III and IV**, I hypothesized that cDC1-reprogramming could be used to manipulate the immune system in the context of cancer. I showed in-depth characterization of PIB-reprogrammed murine and human cancer cells, which I called tumor-APCs. I have also demonstrated that dendritic cell-reprogramming factors overwrite the original tumorigenic transcriptional profile in favor of a gene signature commonly shared between cDC1, iDC, and tumor-APC.

Finally, I demonstrated that reprogrammed cancer cells can elicit anti-tumor immunity *in vivo*, potentially delaying tumor growth. This chapter summarizes and highlights the key findings from each study, laying the groundwork for this dissertation.

### DIRECT REPROGRAMMING OF SOMATIC CELLS TO INDUCED DENDRITIC CELLS (STUDY I AND II)

#### Identification of PU.1, IRF8, and BATF3 as cDC1-lineage instructors.

Engineering different cell fates in somatic cells requires strong transcription factor candidates for the desired cell lineage. Transcription factors highly expressed in the desired cell fate and loss, or gain-of-function studies provide insights into the importance of each transcription factor during cell specification and development, offering invaluable information regarding lineage-instructing factors.

To identify such candidates for cDC1 lineage, we employed two different strategies. First, gene expression profiles of dendritic cell populations in humans and mice were compared to a broad range of other cell types and tissues, generating an unbiased list of the most enriched transcription factors restricted to dendritic cell-fate. After obtaining a list of potential reprogramming factors, we verified their expression within the dendritic cell compartment compared to other hematopoietic cells for reference. To complement this information, literature mining was used to determine the role of potential candidates in dendritic cell specification and development by looking at loss-of-function studies in mouse models. These two strategies allowed the identification of eighteen potential transcription factors that could comprise the minimal gene network necessary to instruct cDC1-lineage.

To assess whether these candidates could assert a cDC1-fate in unrelated cell types, a mouse reporter model that informs the appearance of dendritic cell-related cells was required. CLEC9A is a necrosis-sensing receptor whose expression demarks commitment towards the dendritic cell lineage (150, 151). In this model, the CLEC9A drives the expression of tdTomato through a Cre-based system, permanently labelling cells where CLEC9A has been activated (Figure 8A). MEFs from this mouse model were transduced with lentiviral particles encoding the eighteen transcription factors that were identified before, alone or in combinations (Figure 8A). Minus one experiments narrowed down the combination of transcription factors to induce a dendritic cell-fate in unrelated somatic cells to be PU.1 together with IRF8, and BATF3 (Figure 8B). The ectopic expression of the three-factor cocktail triggered CLEC9A expression (Figure 8B), and removing any transcription factor from this pool abolished tdTomato (Figure 8C). Thus, PU.1, IRF8, and BATF3 emerged as the minimal necessary and sufficient transcription factor network to instruct dendritic cell-lineage. Moreover, reporter activation is sustained until 15 days of reprogramming (Figure 8D).



Figure 8 | Identification of PU.1, IRF8, and BATF3 (PIB) as instructors of cDC1 phenotype in mouse fibroblasts. (A) Schematic representation of the strategy employed to screen for cDC1-inducing factors. Clec9atdTomato mouse embryonic fibroblasts (MEFs) collected at embryonic day 13.5 were transduced with lentiviral particles encoding for transcription factors (TF) under a tetracycline-inducible system (TetO). Transduced MEFs were cultured in the presence of doxycycline (Dox) and screened for tdTomato expression based on Clec9a activation. (B) MEFs transduced with reverse tetracycline transactivator (M2rtTA), macrophage-inducing factors PU.1 and CEBPa or PIB were analyzed by fluorescence microscopy and flow cytometry for tdTomato detection 5 days post-Dox induction. Scale bar: 200 µm. (C) Quantification of the percentage of tdTomato+ cells 5 days post-Dox induction by flow cytometry. MEFs were transduced with a three-factor pool (PIB), a two-factor pool after each factor was removed from the original (PIB - 1TF), or individual factors (1 TF). (n=3) (D) Flow cytometric analysis of tdTomato expression kinetics over 15 days of continuous Dox supplementation. (E) Co-expression of tdTomato and MHC-II was assessed through flow cytometry at day 5. Co-expression of co-stimulatory molecules CD80 and CD86 were also evaluated within MHC-II+ and MHC-II- populations. (F) Co-expression of CD40 and MHC-II in tdTomato- (tdT-) or tdTomato+ (tdT+) in PIB-transduced MEFs at day 7 post-Dox supplementation. (G) PIB-transduced MEFs were stimulated with lipopolysaccharide (LPS) overnight before flow cytometry acquisition to assess the co-expression of MHC-II, CD40, and CD86. Mean±SD is represented. p-value: \*\*\*\*p<0.0001.

# Inducing an APC immunophenotype through ectopic expression of PIB.

Professional APCs engage T cells through peptides complexed with MHC molecules that bind to specific TCR that recognizes the peptide, constituting the first signal for naïve T cell activation (28). However, co-stimulatory molecules are necessary to make sure the T cell is appropriately engaged in antigen recognition. Lack of this secondary signal can result in anergic T cells (27). The presence of CD80 and CD86 ensure a quick T cell activation but also provide a safety net for response inhibition, as both ligands bind CTLA-4, necessary for T cell downregulation. Moreover, CD40 is another essential co-stimulatory molecule that modulates T-cell priming and differentiation (28).

Approximately half of the tdTomato+ population express MHC-II, within which three-quarters express CD80, CD86, or both (**Figure 8E**). We also observed that reprogrammed MEFs upregulated CD40 (**Figure 8F**) and further increased its expression in response to stimulation with lipopolysaccharide (LPS) from bacterial origin (**Figure 8G**). Overexpression of PU.1, IRF8, and BATF3 in an unrelated cell type, such as MEFs, activates the dendritic cell-lineage restricted marker, CLEC9A, and triggers the expression of essential molecules for antigen presentation, such as MHC-II and co-stimulatory molecules.

#### Overexpression of PIB endows somatic cells with dendritic cellabilities.

Professional APCs scavenge the host's organism for pathogens and foreign antigens to present them to T cells (133, 175). cDC1 are especially apt at screening the environment for free-roaming proteins and necrotic bodies (150, 151, 175). tdTomato+ cells acquire competency at sensing and uptaking death cells and ovalbumin (OVA) (**Figure 9A, B**).

I have discussed the importance of proper antigen presentation through MHC-TCR engagement and co-stimulatory signaling to ensure T cell priming and differentiation (28). Importantly, cytokine secretion by APCs is the third pillar of T cell conditioning, which directs differentiation toward the appropriate immune response depending on the type of pathogen. As mentioned before, cDC1 are excellent antigen cross-presenters, and the cytokines produced after antigen encounters provide optimal CD8+ T cell cytotoxic responses and direct CD4+ T cells towards a Th1 phenotype via both type 1 IFN and IL-12 secretion (179, 188). We detected pro-inflammatory cytokines in supernatants collected from cultured tdTomato+ cells, including the intracellular presence of IL12p40 after TLR stimulation (**Figure 9C, D**).

After confirming antigen uptake and cytokine production, we assessed whether tdTomato+ cells could prime and sustain naïve T cell activation. Standard assays for antigen presentation take advantage of mice whose populations of T cells express

only one TCR. This TCR is specifically targeted to an antigen, and T cells can only be primed after APCs exhibit this antigen in the correct MHC molecule. OT-I and OT-II strains have CD8+ and CD4+ T cells that only recognize OVA 257-264 (SIINFEKL) or OVA 323-339, respectively. After feeding tdTomato+ cells with processed peptides from OVA 323-339 or total protein, we observed CD4+ T cell activation and expansion by the presence of CD44 and carboxyfluorescein succinimidyl ester (CFSE) dilution (**Figure 9E, F**). These data indicate that reprogrammed cells can uptake exogenous proteins, process and load peptides into MHC-II, exhibit them at the cell surface, and prime naïve CD4+ T cells.

Another feature that is fundamental to characterize cDC1 is antigen crosspresentation (158). We evaluated antigen cross-presentation by pulsing reprogrammed tdTomato+ cells with OVA before co-culturing these cells with OT-I CD8+ T cells. After 3 days of co-culture, we could observe CD8+ T expansion, as indicated by CellTrace Violet (CTV) dilution and CD44+ expression, indicating that tdTomato+ cells could prime naïve T cells through cross-presentation (**Figure 9G**, **H**).



**Figure 9** | **Functional reprogramming of MEFs to APC. (A)** tdTomato negative (tdT-) and positive (tdT+) cells were pulsed with dead cells labeled with CellVue-Far red. Uptake was detected by the presence of CellVue within the tdTomato- and tdTomato+ population by flow cytometry. (**B**) tdTomato+ cells were cultured in the presence of ovalbumin-AlexaFluor 648 (OVA-Alexa647), and uptake was measured by flow cytometry. (**C**) Cytokine secretion of IL-6, TNF $\alpha$ , and IL-10 by MEFs and tdTomato+ cells with and without LPS and polyinosinic:polycytidylic acid (Poly(I:C); PIC) stimulation. (**D**) Expression of IL12p40 was measured by flow cytometry in MEFs and tdTomato+ cell before and after stimulation with LPS/profilin/CD40L. (**E**) CD4+ T cells from OT-II Rag2-KO mice were labeled with CFSE and co-cultured in the presence of tdTomato+ or splenic dendritic cells (sDC). After 7 days of co-culture in the presence of ovalbumin (OVA) or processed peptide and LPS, CFSE dilution and CD44 expression were measured as a synonym of T cell expansion and activation. (**F**) Quantification of CFSE<sup>low</sup> population within OT-II CD4+ T cells for co-culture with tdTomato-, tdTomato+, or sDC with or without LPS stimulation, the order of adapted with CellTrace Violet (CTV) and co-cultured with MEFs, tdTomato+, tdTomato-, splenic conventional dendritic cell type 1 (cDC1) or CD103+ bone-marrow-derived dendritic cells (BM-DC) for 3 days after the short pulse with ovalbumin (OVA). T cell activation was measured by flow cytometry and quantified as CTV dilution and CD44 expression. Mean±SD is represented.

## Polycistronic vectors increase reprogramming efficiency and generate cDC1-like cells with high fidelity.

Reprogramming somatic cells towards iPSC was first reported to have low efficiencies (301, 302). Poor recovery yield could be attributed to the necessity of transducing somatic cells with multiple viral transcripts (399). Given the potential use of iPSCs in regenerative medicine, this strategy quickly raised concerns regarding the high risk of insertional mutagenesis, the potential to activate protooncogenes in progeny cells, and the reactivation of silent viral transcripts (399, 400). Therefore, there was an effort to develop better tools to deliver transcription factors more efficiently and safely (303, 309, 399-401). Polycistronic cassettes ensure that transduced cells get the complete combination of transcription factors in one plasmid resulting in higher reprogramming efficiencies (309, 400).

I hypothesized that the same strategy could be applied to cDC1 reprogramming. I generated the polycistronic cassette containing PU.1, IRF8, and BATF3 separated by self-cleaving 2A peptides (Figure 10A). Previously, it was reported that the order in which sequences were introduced and the order and type of 2A sequences used impacted expression levels and, subsequentially, reprogramming efficiencies (401, 402). I took advantage of the systematic comparison from Liu et al. (2017) to decide the final sequences to use in our constructs and the desired placement to introduce them. I finally developed two cassettes differing only by PU.1 and IRF8 position. Both cassettes have P2A and T2A sequences between factors, expressing BATF3 in the third position. When comparing the reprogramming efficiency, polycistronic vectors induced more cells expressing Clec9a-tdTomato than pooled individual factors (Figure 10B). The tricistronic cassette for PU.1, IRF8, and BATF3 had a higher yield in both tdTomato+ and MHC-II expression than the second construct or the individual factors (Figure 10C). We then confirmed that the position in the vector influenced protein expression levels for PU.1 and IRF8, with the first position in the vector correlating with higher expression levels (Figure 10D). These data indicated that high levels of PU.1 are crucial for successful cDC1 reprogramming and that polycistronic vectors ensure an efficient way of generating iDC.



#### Figure 10 | Imposing a cDC1 fate through polycistronic

vectors. (A) Sequences for Spil, Irf8, and Batf3 were inserted sequentially interspaced with 2A self-cleaving peptides in two different placement orders. PIBpoly and IPBpoly. (B) Comparison of reprogramming efficiency given by % of tdTomato+ (tdT+) cells after overexpression of individual factors or polycistronic vectors. (C) MHC-II expression in tdTomato- (tdT-) and tdTomato+ cells after reprogramming with individual factors.

PIBpoly, or IPBpoly. (**D**) Protein expression for PU.1, IRF8, and calnexin (CANX) at day 5 after MEFs were transduced with M2rtTA (M2) or polycistronic vectors, PIBpoly and IPBpoly. (**E**) Heatmap for differentially expressed genes between splenic cDC1, cDC2, and pDC. (**F**) MEFs transduced with PIBpoly were purified by FACS for tdTomato+ MHC-II+ CD45+ and subjected to population mRNA-sequencing (mRNA-seq) at days 5, 7, 8, and 9 of the reprogramming process along with MEFs, splenic cDC1, cDC2, and pDC. Venn diagrams show the intersection between upregulated genes in induced dendritic cell (iDC), cDC1, cDC2, and pDC. (**G**) Gene expression for *Xcr1*, *Cd4*, and *Siglech* as examples for genes specific for cDC1, cDC2, and pDC, respectively. Mean $\pm$ SD is represented. p-value: \*\*\*\*p<0.0001.

Finally, I compared the gene signatures from splenic cDC1, cDC2, and pDC with iDC to evaluate whether direct reprogramming could impose a faithful cDC1 identity in MEFs. Indeed, iDC shares a higher percentage of identity with cDC1 than with cDC2 and pDC (**Figure 10E, F**). This was also confirmed by RNA expression for genes that define cDC1, cDC2, and pDC populations, such as *XCR1*, *CD4*, and *Siglech* (**Figure 10G**).

In summary, for **Study I**, I have helped establishing the minimal transcription factor network that converts cell fate towards a cDC1-lineage, endowing unrelated cells with APC machinery and functional properties (403).

### Constitutive promoters potentiate dendritic cell reprogramming with higher lineage fidelity.

As mentioned earlier, it has been shown that polycistronic cassettes overcome reprogramming obstacles and increase reprogramming efficiency. However, we also observed incomplete reprogrammed cells whose gene signature is closer to the original cell state (404). These findings are consistent with previous studies stating

that, during successful reprogramming, cells respond by downregulating the original program. Still, unsuccessful reprogramming generally results from regression toward their original state (405-407). Therefore, it was hypothesized that more robust expression levels of reprogramming factors could lead to higher efficiency and irreversible rewriting of cellular identity. To evaluate this hypothesis, the PU.1, IRF8 and BATF3 cassette was introduced into various lentiviral vectors with different constitutive promoters followed by assessment of their reprogramming efficiency of Clec9a-tdTomato MEFs and human embryonic fibroblasts (HEFs) (Figure 11A-D). Overexpression of PU.1, IRF8, and BATF3 under spleen focusforming virus (SFFV) showed remarkable efficiency in reprogramming MEFs towards a cDC1 cell fate when compared to other constitutive promoters and the original dox-inducible vector (Figure 11A, B). This result agrees with prior studies where overexpression of the OSKM factors under the SFFV promoter increased iPSC reprogramming (408). In HEFs, we observed a strikingly higher percentage of a CD45+HLA-DR+ population in SFFV-PIB reprogrammed cells, approximately 21%, compared to the nearly null population acquired with tetO-PIB (Figure 11C). Pro-inflammatory cytokines further enhanced the maturation of reprogrammed HEFs (Figure 11D).

To dissect the extent of the reprogramming process between the different strategies, we used a predictive algorithm (scPred) to affiliate the gene signatures of the reprogrammed HEFs with the corresponding dendritic cell type (**Figure 11E**). ScPred can identify weighted gene signatures after being trained on a single-cell RNA-sequencing (RNA-seq) dataset where the identity of the cells is known. The query samples are then evaluated against the training dataset and affiliated to a determined population if the gene signatures match. Considering this, we used the dataset Villani *et al.* (2017) generated, where they identified new dendritic cell gene signatures and progenitors (189), to train the algorithm and compare it to HEFs-derived iDC.



Figure 11 | Constitutive expression of PU.1, IRF8, and BATF3 (PIB) improves reprogramming fidelity towards cDC1-lineage. (A) Clec9a-tdTomato MEFs were transduced with polycistronic vectors coding for eGFP or PIB-eGFP and characterized by the expression of tdTomato and MHC-II by flow cytometry at day 9 of reprogramming. (B) Quantification of reprogrammed tdTomato+ MHC-II+ cells after Clec9a-tdTomato MEFs were transduced with PIB-eGFP under dox-inducible (TetO) or constitutive promoters (UbC, SFFV, PGK, EF1S, EF1, and EF1i). (C) HEFs were transduced with PIB under TetO and SFFV promoters in the presence or absence of proinflammatory cytokines, IFN- $\gamma$ , IFN- $\beta$ , and TNF- $\alpha$ . Reprogramming efficiency was measured at day 9 by expression of a hematopoietic marker, CD45, and professional APC marker, HLA-DR, by flow cytometry. (D) Quantification of CD45+ HLA-DR+ population in HEFs-derived hiDC after overexpression of PIB as mentioned in C. (E) HEFs-derived hiDC were sorted and profiled by single-cell RNA-Seq. Heatmap shows affiliation probability of hiDCs, generated under different conditions, towards different human dendritic cell subsets. (F) Heatmap shows the expression of commonly upregulated genes between hiDCs generated under different conditions and cDC1 gene signature. (G) Gene Set Enrichment Analysis (GSEA) was performed for genes implicated in successful cDC1 reprogramming. Normalized enrichment score (NES) and false discovery rate (FDR) are shown. Mean±SD is represented. p-value: \*p<0.1, \*\*\*\*p<0.0001.

HEFs-derived hiDC from overexpression of PU.1, IRF8, and BATF3 under TetO and SFFV promoters in the presence or absence of pro-inflammatory cytokines, were sorted based on the expression of CD45+HLA-DR+ to be profiled by singlecell RNA-seq. SFFV-derived iDC affiliated with cDC1 gene signature with higher fidelity. This further validated that PU.1, IRF8, and BATF3 drive identity reconfiguration towards the cDC1 lineage in unrelated somatic cells. Cytokine signaling synergized with enforced expression of PU.1, IRF8, and BATF3 to increase overall reprogramming efficiency and frequency of the double positive population for CD45 and HLA-DR (Figure 11D, E). This was also evident by the presence of genes participating in IFN signaling and antigen presentation pathways, such as HLA-A, HLA-DRA, CD74, and B2M in hiDCs originated from the constitutive expression of PU.1, IRF8, and BATF3 with cytokines compared to hiDCs derived from inducible vectors (Figure 11F). Finally, we identified a set of genes characteristic of successful reprogramming (404). hiDCs originating from SFFV-driven expression of PU.1, IRF8, and BATF3 express more genes belonging to IFN, oncostatin M, IL-6, and TNF- $\alpha$  signaling pathways while lacking expression of cell cycle genes (Figure 11G).

These results showed that constitutive overexpression of cDC1-lineage specific factors, PU.1, IRF8, and BATF3, impacts reprogramming efficiency and yields better iDC due to higher commitment towards the cDC1 identity.

#### PIB-driven lineage conversion is independent of the original cell state.

One of the main advantages of direct reprogramming is the possibility of bypassing the pluripotent stem cell state. In practice, it is difficult to eliminate residual and partially reprogrammed pluripotent stem cells after directed differentiation of iPSCs. On the other hand, direct reprogramming protocols have higher efficiency than iPSCs protocols in general, with source material and specificity of the defined factors imposing small limitations. Good cell sources for direct reprogramming are readily available in the human body and require minimally invasive collection methods and handling. Thus, human dermal fibroblasts (HDFs) and mesenchymal stromal cells (MSC) emerge as potential candidates for generating high numbers of cDC1.

To support applicability, we reprogrammed primary HDFs and MSC from three healthy donors for each cell origin using the constitutive promoter that supported high-fidelity iDCs—reprogramming HDFs generated around 20-30% of CD45+ HLA-DR+ cells without cytokines (**Figure 12A**). The pro-inflammatory cytokine cocktail has enhanced reprogramming efficiency in synergetic cooperation with PU.1, IRF8, and BATF3 (**Figure 12B**). Additionally, hiDCs originated from HDFs express co-stimulatory molecules CD40 and CD80, mimicking the reprogramming trajectory studied in MEFs (**Figure 12 C**) (403).



**Figure 12** | **Reprogramming towards cDC1 lineage is independent of original cell identity.** (A) Human dermal fibroblasts (HDFs) were transduced with a constitutive vector encoding the PU.1, IRF8, and BATF3 (PIB) polycistronic cassette. Reprogramming efficiency was measured by the presence of CD45+ and HLA-DR+ populations after 9 days of reprogramming in the presence or absence of the pro-inflammatory cytokines IFN- $\gamma$ , IFN- $\beta$  and TNF- $\alpha$  (SFFV-PIB + cyt). (B) Quantification of CD45+ HLA-DR+ in hiDCs derived from HDFs from 3 different donors, A, B, and C, before and after reprogramming in the presence or absence of cytokines. (C) Expression of co-stimulatory molecules, CD40 and CD80, in reprogramming efficiency of hiDCs derived from human mesenchymal stromal (MSC) cells was assessed by flow cytometry through the expression of CD45+ HLA-DR+ after 9 days of constitutive expression of PIB in the presence or absence of cytokines. (E) Quantification of CD45+ HLA-DR+ in hiDCs originated from MSC from 3 different donors, A, B, and C, before and after reprogramming afficiency of hiDCs derived from human mesenchymal stromal (MSC) cells was assessed by flow cytometry through the expression of CD45+ HLA-DR+ after 9 days of constitutive expression of PIB in the presence or absence of cytokines. (E) Quantification of CD45+ HLA-DR+ in hiDCs originated from MSC from 3 different donors, A, B, and C, before and after reprogramming in the presence or absence of cytokines. (F) Expression of co-stimulatory molecules, CD40 and CD80, in reprogrammed MSC in the same conditions as stated in E. Mean±SD is represented. p-value: \*\*\*\*p<0.0001, ns – not significant.

Furthermore, enforced expression of PU.1, IRF8, and BATF3 was sufficient to efficiently generate CD45+ HLA-DR+ populations in MSC-derived hiDCs. The use of cytokines did not impact the generation of CD45+ HLA-DR+ cells (**Figure 12D**, **E**), but we observed a stronger median fluorescent intensity (MFI) for co-stimulatory molecules CD40 and CD80 was observed (**Figure 12F**). This suggests that pro-inflammatory cytokines during reprogramming impact the maturation state of hiDCs originating from MSC. However, it also becomes clear that the impact of cytokine signaling in cDC1-lineage conversion can depend on the original cell type and that only some somatic cell states will benefit from it.

In the end, the constitutive expression of PU.1, IRF8, and BATF3 proved its ability to instate a highly committed cDC1 program in different cells, independently

of their species, or original cell state, highlighting the conserved network of factors and downstream elements constituting a cDC1 identity.

# Interactions between PU.1, IRF8, and BATF3 in open chromatin determine cDC1 identity.

Reprogramming directly results from successful chromatin changes surpassing epigenetic barriers imposed during cell differentiation. The minimal transcriptional network of PU.1, IRF8, and BATF3 constitutes the backbone of cDC1 identity. Understanding how they cooperate to establish a new cell state will also deepen our knowledge regarding cDC1 development during hematopoiesis. As such, chromatin immunoprecipitation sequencing (ChIP-seq) was performed 2 days after forced expression of PU.1, IRF8, and BATF3 individually, or together (**Figure 13A**).

Individually, PU.1 was the factor that showed the most affinity to bind chromatin, followed by IRF8 and BATF3 (**Figure 13B**). When all three factors were expressed together, the chromatin sites where these factors bind increased more than 2-fold for PU.1, nearly 70-fold for IRF8, and 35-fold for BATF3. This suggests that PU.1 has an independent capacity to bind genomic DNA and facilitates cooperative binding of IRF8 and BATF3 between the three factors. We also saw an overlap of over five thousand peaks bound by all factors (**Figure 13C**) with special relevance in regions of the genome with PU.1-IRF and IKZF motifs (**Figure 13D**, **E**).

Integration of single-cell RNA-seq data with ChIP-seq data revealed how chromatin modulation can affect transcriptional rewiring of the original cell state in the early stages of reprogramming. It was observed that, together or individually, PU.1, IRF8, and BATF3 can target fibroblast-specific genes to repress them and activate cDC1-specific genes (**Figure 13F**).

Additionally, all transcription factors, individually or in cooperation, seem to have a higher affinity to open chromatin sites like promoters and enhancers (**Figure 13G**). Interestingly, PU.1 alone shows binding capacity to poised transcription start sites in heterochromatin regions, although it heavily favors open chromatin sites. These findings agree with previous studies showing PU.1 ability to redistribute partner transcription factors in lymphoid and myeloid cells depending on prior chromatin status (145).

Together, our results indicate that PU.1 interacts with chromatin first at euchromatin regions, especially in active transcription start sites, and cooperates with IRF8 and BATF3 to repress fibroblast genes and kickstart the cDC1-lineage signature (**Figure 13H**).



**Figure 13** | **cDC1 identity requires the interaction between PU.1 and open chromatin. (A)** Schematic strategy for profiling chromatin binding sites of PU.1, IRF8, and BATF3 (PIB) in the early stages of reprogramming. Human dermal fibroblasts (HDFs) were transduced with full polycistronic cassette PIB or individual factors. (B) Heatmaps show the distribution of PU.1, IRF8, and BATF3 placement across the genome when expressed together (left) or individually (right). The mean peak signal intensity is shown at the bottom. (C) Venn diagram for overlapping peaks between PU.1, IRF8, and BATF3. (D). *De novo* prediction analysis of motifs occupied by all PIB factors in cooperation. (E) Motif comparison between enriched PU.1-IRF interactions and BATF motif. **F.** Heatmap shows differentially expressed genes between HDFs and human induced dendritic cells (hiDCs) at day nine and chromatin binding by individual transcription factors alone or in cooperation at day two of reprogramming. (G) Heatmap shows the percentage of occupancy of total PU.1, IRF8 and BATF3 together or individually in different chromatin regions. (H) Schematic model for the initiation of cDC1 reprogramming. TSS, transcription start site.

### RESTORING ANTITUMOR IMMUNITY WITH DENDRITIC CELL REPROGRAMMING (STUDY III AND IV)

# Mouse and human cancer cells can be reprogrammed to cDC1-like cells.

The results of the first two studies in this dissertation established the minimum network necessary to instruct a cDC1 fate in somatic cells, resulting in functional APCs. Loss of antigen presentation machinery is one of the mechanisms underlying immune surveillance failure and one of the most common cancer evasion mechanisms. In **Study III**, I hypothesized that antigen presentation could be imposed in cancer cells by direct reprogramming with PU.1, IRF8, and BATF3, which, in turn, could restore the cancer immunity cycle *in vivo* (**Figure 14A**).

First, I tested our hypothesis in poorly immunogenic mouse cell lines representing lung carcinoma (LLC) and melanoma (B16), which respond poorly to immunotherapy (286, 409, 410). The ectopic expression of PU.1, IRF8, and BATF3 resulted in the emergence of the CD45+ MHC-II+ population in transduced cancer cells (Figure 14B-D), which we have used as an indicator of successful reprogramming efficiency based on Study I. These markers also represent the acquisition of hematopoietic and professional antigen presentation signatures. Then, I evaluated CLEC9A expression within the CD45+MHC-II+ population of transduced cells. Reprogrammed LLC and B16 express CLEC9A (Figure 14E), indicating reprogrammed cancer cells acquire a cDC1-like immunophenotype. Moreover, we could reprogram a broad panel of solid and blood malignancies from human origin (Figure 14F, G) (411) with varying degrees of efficiency. The percentage for CD45+ HLA-DR+ cells ranged from 0.2±0.1 to 94.5±7.6%. The observed disparity of reprogramming efficiency across different cell lines coincided with previously reported difficulties in inducing pluripotency and neural cell fate in endodermal-derived cells (305, 411, 412). Human glioblastoma-derived tumor-APCs also expressed cDC1 markers such as CLEC9A, CD226, and CD11c and adopted cDC1-like morphological features such as a stellate shape and formation of dendrites (Figure 14H, I).



**Figure 14** | **PU.1, IRF8, and BATF3 (PIB) reprogramming imposes a cDC1 phenotype in cancer cells. (A)** Schematic description of the direct cell reprogramming process to induce cDC1-like cells in cancer cells. Cancer cells of mouse and human origin were subjected to the polycistronic vector encoding for the three transcription factors, PIB. Reprogrammed tumor-antigen presenting cells (tumor-APCs) were evaluated *in vitro* and *in vivo*. (**B**) Flow cytometric analysis of murine lung carcinoma cell line (LLC) before (eGFP transduced) and after reprogramming (PIB transduced). Reprogrammed cells acquire CD45 and MHC-II on the cell surface. (**C**) Micrographs showing MHC-II expression in reprogrammed mouse melanoma cells (B16). Scale bars: 20 μm. (**D**) Reprogramming efficiency quantified by the percentage of the emerging double positive population for CD45+MHC-II+ in mouse cancer cells. (**E**) Quantification of CLEC9A+ cells gated in reprogrammed mouse cancer cells. (**F**) Reprogramming efficiency of human glioblastoma (T98G) and melanoma (HMVII) cell lines. (**G**) Quantification of reprogramming of glioblastoma cell line. (**H**) Expression and quantification of cDC1 specific markers before and after reprogramming of glioblastoma cell line. Fluorescence minus one (FMO) is shown. **I.** Scanning electron microscopy of T98G before and after reprogramming depicting the acquisition of a dendritic cell-like shape. Scale bars: 20 μm. Mean±SD is represented.

To understand the extent of cancer reprogramming to tumor-APCs, I profiled completely (CD45+MHC-II+) and partially (CD45+MHC-II- or CD45-MHC-II+) reprogrammed cancer cells (**Figure 15A**) (411) by population RNA-seq. I compared these populations with mock transduced cancer cells (d0), the previously reported iDC population, and naturally occurring cDC1.

The gene signature of reprogrammed cancer cells clustered closer to natural cDC1 (**Figure 15B**). Importantly, we found gene transcripts for cDC1-specific markers, such as *Clec9a* and *Xcr1*, in mouse and human cancer cell reprogramming systems (**Figure 15C**) (411). I found that overexpression of ectopic PU.1, IRF8, and BATF3 factors increased overall mRNA expression of these factors but also resulted in upregulation of endogenous *Irf8* and *Batf3* (**Figure 15D**, **E**), which indicates that PU.1, IRF8, and BATF3 impose a stable transcriptomic change in tumor-APCS and the maintenance of acquired cDC1 identity is not dependent on continuous expression of exogenous transcription factors.

The emergence of partially reprogrammed cancer cells, as indicated by the expression of only one of the reprogramming markers, was consistent with previously reported reprogramming processes (367, 392, 403, 404). While this generally means partial retention of the original program, partially reprogrammed cancer cells still show signs of transcriptome overhaul to express a tumor-APC gene signature, which was generated based on cDC1 genes commonly upregulated during reprogramming (**Figure 15F**). Importantly, this gene signature contains genes associated with antigen processing, presentation, and T cell priming, suggesting that tumor-APCs acquire competence to trigger immune responses and still showcase tumor antigens (**Figure 15G**).

Epigenetically, tumor-APCs have undergone modifications to open chromatin as early as day 3, corresponding to the emergence of complete and partially reprogrammed cells this early in the reprogramming process (411). PU.1 and IRF8 interactions at the chromatin level led to the initiation of cDC1 reprogramming from day 0 to day 3, as observed in **Study II** (404). Thus, the reprogramming process occurs in a stepwise manner, where the first upregulated genes are related to cDC1 lineage establishment (*ZNF366*). Interestingly, the endogenous expression of *IRF8* and *BATF3* is already established at day 5 of reprogramming. At the same time, genes related to cDC1 function (*CLEC9A*, *XCR1*) are recruited later, suggesting the acquisition of a mature tumor-APC program (411).



**Figure 15** | **PU.1, IRF8, and BATF3 (PIB) impose a cDC1-like gene signature in mouse and human cancer cells. (A)** Cancer cells were reprogrammed with PIB for 9 days. Mouse tumor-APCs were sorted by fluorescence-activated cell sorting (FACS) at day 9 (d9) based on the triple expression of eGFP+CD45+MHC-II+ and assessed by RNA-sequencing (RNA-seq). Cancer cells transduced with eGFP-only coding vector were included as day 0 (d0) controls. Human tumor-APCs were purified based on their ability to generate complete reprogrammed tumor-APCs (eGFP+CD45+HLA-DR+, d9++) or partially reprogrammed (cD1) of tumor-APCs and control cancer cells. Data was integrated with previous RNA-seq datasets for mouse embryonic fibroblast (MEFs), induced dendritic cells (iDC), and splenic cDC1 (GSE103618). The arrow represents a reprogramming path. (C) mRNA expression levels of genes related to cDC1 signature, *Clec9a, Cd24a, Xcr1*, and *Itgax* (CD11c). (D) Total mRNA expression and (E) endogenous expression of *Irf8* and *Batf3*. Mininum, maximum, and mean are shown in the boxplots. (F) Percentage of reprogrammed (red) and partially reprogrammed (blue) human cancer cells t

Altogether, these data demonstrate that PIB-induced reprogramming is a universally conserved process that induces profound alterations in the epigenome and transcriptome of cancer cells, overwriting the original cancerous program with a cDC1-like signature. The nature of the changes implemented in tumor-APCs suggests a mature and functional cDC1-like phenotype, thus opening opportunities to assess whether these alterations are reflected in enhanced tumor immunogenicity.

# Tumor-APCs are more immunogenic and present tumor-associated antigens.

RNA-seq data uncovered a stepwise activation of antigen presentation machinery in mouse and human-derived tumor-APCs (411). Additionally, we found the upregulation of transcripts of MHC-I and MHC-II master regulators, *Nlrc5* and *Ciita*, respectively. These are crucial for maintaining MHC-I and MHC-II downstream genes active (237, 278, 410). On the other hand, we detected the upregulation of IFN- $\gamma$ , STING, and TLR-induced maturation pathways in tumor-APCs, which have been correlated with increased antitumor immunity and CTL sensitivity (220, 285-287, 289, 411).

A combination of flow cytometric and fluorescence microscopy analyses detected increased expression of MHC-I and B2M at the cell surface in murine tumor-APCs (**Figure 16A-D**). To evaluate whether tumor-APCs could present TAAs, we employed mass-spectrometry (MS)-based immunopeptidomics on reprogrammed mouse melanoma cells, revealing that tumor-APCs could present a higher number of peptides predicted to bind to MHC-I compared to control or IFN- $\gamma$  treated cancer cells (411). Moreover, melanoma-associated antigens such as TYR, TYRP1, TYRP2, and p30gag were all found among the list of peptides predicted to be shown by tumor-APCs even at higher levels than IFN- $\gamma$  stimulated melanoma (**Figure 16E**), validating the hypothesis that tumor-APCs can efficiently present endogenous tumor antigens.

IFN- $\gamma$  has been shown to increase MHC-I expression in cancer cells, and recent CRISPR-based screenings identified upstream regulators of the IFN pathway that affect tumor immunogenicity (285-287). Still, TCR engagement without costimulatory molecules ends in T cell anergy (284). Therefore, we assessed if tumor-APCs expressed costimulatory molecules CD40, CD80, and CD86 necessary for TCR engagement. Reprogramming by PU.1, IRF8, and BATF3 drove tumor-APCs to express costimulatory molecules in contrast with IFN- $\gamma$  stimulation of control cancer cells (**Figure 16F, G**), indicating that tumor-APCs express all the antigen presentation machinery necessary to activate T cells.

Next, we addressed tumor-APCs' ability to present endogenous antigens. We reprogrammed OVA-expressing cell lines (B16-OVA and LLC-OVA) and cocultured the tumor-APCs with OVA-specific OT-I CD8+ T cells as described previously. OVA-expressing tumor-APCs, but not control cells, acquired the ability to prime naïve T cells and trigger T cell activation and expansion (CD44+CTV<sup>low</sup>) (**Figure 16H**).



Figure 16 | Tumor-APCs become immunogenic. (A) Flow cytometric analysis of MHC-I expression at the cell surface of cancer cells (black) and tumor-APCs (red) derived from mouse lung carcinoma (LLC) and melanoma (B16). Fluorescence minus one (FMO) was included as control staining. (B) Quantification of the percentage of MHC-I+ cells gated in reprogrammed cancer cells at day 9 or eGFP-transduced cancer cells in the presence or absence of IFN-y. (C) Micrographs depict beta-2-microglobulin (B2M) upregulation in mouse melanoma after reprogramming. (D) Representative flow cytometry plot and quantification of the percentage of B2M+ gated in reprogrammed cancer cells. (E) Ranking by the normalized intensity of predicted peptides that bind MHC-I obtained by immunopeptidomics analysis from IFN-y treated mouse melanoma and tumor-APCs. Canonical melanoma tumor-associated antigens are highlighted. (F) Expression of CD40, CD80, and CD86 co-stimulatory molecules in eGFP-transduced, IFN-y treated and reprogrammed B16 and (G) T98G-derived tumor-APCs. (H) B16-OVA derived tumor-APCs at day 3 of reprogramming were co-cultured with OT-I naïve CD8+ T cells. The plot represents the quantification of CD8+T cell proliferation assessed by CTV dilution and expression of CD44 (CD44+CTV<sup>low</sup>). (I) Representative flow cytometry plot for T cell-mediated killing of B16-OVA target cells (mOrange+) reprogrammed or stimulated with IFN- $\gamma$  measured 3 days (72h) after co-culture establishment. The percentage of target dead cells (mOrange+ DAPI+) is highlighted in red (PIB) and grey (IFN-7). (J) Quantification of cell killing for target and non-target B16-OVA cells after co-culture with increasing ratios of OT-I T cells after 72h. p-value: \*\*\*p<0.001, \*\*\*\*p<0.0001, ns - not significant.

Importantly, PU.1, IRF8, and BATF3 endowed tumor-APCs with endogenous antigen presentation skills independently of TLR stimulation with Poly(I:C).

Then, I developed a flow cytometric assay to evaluate tumor-APCs susceptibility to CTL-mediated killing based on a non-radioactive assay to measure CTL activity in vitro (413). First, I genetically modified B16-OVA to express mOrange before PU.1, IRF8, and BATF3 reprogramming or IFN-γ stimulation (target, mOrange+) and mixed with unmodified B16-OVA (non-target, mOrange-). I co-cultured this cell mix for 3 days with increasing ratios of activated OT-I CD8+ T cells (Figure **16I**, **J**). I observed increasing percentages of dead target cells (DAPI+mOrange+) compared to non-target cells along culture time and higher starting T cell numbers. Consistent with poor endogenous antigen presentation capacity (411), IFN-y stimulated cells also demonstrated low susceptibility to CTL-mediated cytotoxicity. only achieving the same dead cell ratio with higher T cell starting numbers when compared to 1:1 T cell to target ratio needed for tumor-APC successful killing. Moreover, tumor-APCs needed less time to be targeted by CTLs, showing more cell death at early time points than control cells. Additionally, tumor-APCs seemed to promote a bystander effect on non-target cells at later time points and at a higher scale than IFN- $\gamma$  stimulated cancer cells (414). We also validated these results against naturally occurring TAAs by co-culturing B16-derived tumor-APCs with T cells targeting gp100/pmel, demonstrating that tumor-APCs are more easily targeted for CTL-mediated killing than cancer cells. These data indicate that tumor-APCs show superior tumor antigen presentation, resulting in improved immune recognition and elimination by activated T cells.

#### Tumor-APCs are endowed with cDC1-like functional properties.

The TME disrupts cDC1's capacity for scavenging, phagocytosis, cytokine secretion to attract other immune players, and T cell activation with exogenous antigens (133). I have described how reprogramming cancer cells to tumor-APCs can enhance the intrinsic immunogenicity of cancer cells and promote T cell responses. However, conferring cDC1 functional properties to tumor-APCs would directly impact the TME and help restore the cancer immunity cycle. To this end, we conducted experiments that would allow us to evaluate cytokine secretion, phagocytosis, antigen processing, and, lastly, naïve T cell priming by tumor-APCs (**Figure 17A**). I first detected the necessary transcripts for cDC1 cytokines and chemokines, such as *lfnb* and *Cxcl10* (207), in tumor-APCs samples, which indicates a primed, mature state (**Figure 17B**). Upon TLR stimulation, we confirmed that mouse and human tumor-APCs released pro-inflammatory cytokines IL12p70, IL-1 $\beta$ , IL-6, and chemoattractants like CXCL10, among others (411), which are required for T cell recruitment and activation within the TME (202, 207, 223) (**Figure 17C**).

Additionally, the expression of PU.1, IRF8, and BATF3 endowed reprogrammed cancer cells with phagocytic capacity as demonstrated by the engulfment of fluorescently-labeled OVA (**Figure 17D, E**). Furthermore, I assessed tumor-APCs'

ability to process engulfed antigens by detecting DQ-OVA cleavage through fluorescent emission. Reprogrammed cancer cells, but not control cells, could effectively cleave DQ-OVA (**Figure 17F**), a process that could be abolished in the presence of proteasome inhibitors. This is consistent with increased immunoproteasome transcripts and intracellular protein found in tumor-APCs compared to control cancer cells (411).

To confirm that tumor-APCs can prime CD8+ T cells, I pulsed B16 and LLCderived tumor-APCs with OVA peptides and whole protein and co-cultured them with naïve T cells (**Figure 17G, H**). Murine tumor-APCs promoted CD8+ T cell activation at similar levels achieved by BM-DCs. T cell priming was established in reprogrammed cancer cells as early as day 3, in agreement with early activation of antigen presentation signature in tumor-APCs. Moreover, human tumor-APCs could also engulf cytomegalovirus (CMV) peptides and efficiently activate CMV+CD8+T cells (**Figure 17I**). Although reprogrammed cells were competent to exert cDC1 functions already at basal conditions, TLR activation with poly(I:C) or LPS further potentiated cytokine secretion and cross-presentation ability by tumor-APCs.

Moreover, partially reprogrammed cancer cells have the same machinery to acquire professional cDC1 function and can perform dead cell phagocytosis (411).

To bridge the initial findings with clinical applicability, I sought to reprogram human primary cancer cells and CAFs. Ectopic expression of PU.1, IRF8, and BATF3 reprogrammed over 35 primary tumor samples to cDC1-like cells. More importantly, tumor-APCs obtained from primary melanoma cells were capable of T cell priming and being recognized by TILs, confirming our prior results in murine cancer cell lines (411).



Figure 17 | PU.1, IRF8, and BATF3 (PIB) reprogramming confers cDC1 function to tumor-APCs. (A) Tumor-APCs were evaluated for their capacity to secrete cytokines, phagocytosis, antigen processing, and naïve T cell priming. (B) Mouse cancer cell lines (LLC and B16) were transduced with PIB and purified based on the expression of eGFP+CD45+MHC-II+ (d9). Cancer cells transduced with eGFP (d0). MEFs, iDC, and splenic cDC1 were used as reference controls. Box plots represent mRNA expression levels for cytokines related to cDC1 function, Ifnb, and Cxcl10. (C) Ouantification of IL12p70. IL-1B, CXCL10, and IL-6 in supernatants collected from eGFP- (black) and purified PIB- (red) transduced mouse cancer cells with or without poly(I:C) (P(I:C)) stimulation. Bone-marrowderived dendritic cells (BM-DCs) were used for controls (green). (D) Micrographs representing phagocytosis of fluorescently-labeled ovalbumin (OVA) (OVA-AlexaFluor647, OVA-AF647, red) by LLC. Scale bars: 25 µm. (E) Flow cytometric analysis of OVA-AF647 uptake by reprogrammed LLC and B16 in the presence or absence of IFN-γ. Incubation was done at 37° and 4°C for reference. (F) Fluorescent microscopy analysis for DO-OVA processing (left) and flow cytometric quantification of the percentage of DO-OVA+ cells at 37° and 4° C by tumor-APCs and eGFP-transduced cancer cells (right). (G) Quantification of proliferative OT-I CD8+ T cells (CD44+CTV<sup>low</sup>) percentage after co-culture with tumor-APCs pulsed with OVA. (H) Tumor-APCs purified at days 3 and 5 of reprogramming were pulsed with exogenous antigen and co-cultured with OT-I CD8+ T cells before flow cytometry to measure CD8+ proliferation. (I) T98G-derived tumor-APCs were pulsed with cytomegalovirus (CMV) peptide and co-cultured with CMV-specific T cells. The plot represents the quantification of IFN- $\gamma$  in supernatants collected after co-culture of reprogrammed T98G (red) with CMV-specific CD8+ T cells. T98G cells transduced with eGFP were used as controls (black). Mean±SD is represented. p-value: \*p<0.1, \*\*p<0.01, \*\*\*p<0.001, \*\*\*\*p<0.0001.

# Tumor-APCs have low tumorigenic potential and induce antitumor immunity *in vivo*.

Reprogramming cancer cells to pluripotency and direct reprogramming towards benignity have been demonstrated to decrease tumorigenicity of the resulting cell fate (55). Likewise, RNA-seq analysis showed gradual silencing of cell cycle genes along the cDC1 reprogramming process, suggesting mitotic arrest, while tumor suppressor genes *TP53*, *RB1*, and *CDKN1A* were activated. Additional assays demonstrated that complete and partially reprogrammed tumor-APCs lose proliferation capacity and tumorigenic potential *in vitro*. This suggests that the cDC1 program drives cancer cells to a stable, benign state independently of cell origin (411).

More importantly, these findings were validated *in vivo* by injecting tumor-APCs subcutaneously in NXG mice (**Figure 18A**). While mice injected with control transduced cancer cells slowly grew tumors and had to be sacrificed within 5 months, animals implanted with tumor-APCs survived tumor-free for the duration of the experiment (**Figure 18B**).

Finally, I addressed tumor-APCs' capacity to induce antitumor immune responses *in vivo*. As such, we established subcutaneous B16-OVA tumors in C57b/6 mice and reprogrammed B16 tumor-APCs before stimulating them with poly(I:C) followed by OVA protein pulse. Pulsed tumor-APCs were injected intratumorally at days 7, 10, and 13 (**Figure 18C**). Mice treated with tumor-APCs showed increased survival and delayed tumor growth delay compared to mice treated with PBS or transduced cancer cells with an empty vector (**Figure 18D**).

Moreover, I found a higher proportion of OVA and murine leukemia virus (MuLV) reactive T cells circulating in the peripheral blood of mice treated with tumor-APCs (**Figure 18E**). At the same time, there was an increase of pmel-specific T cells in tumor-draining lymph nodes (411). These results suggest that tumor-APCs elicited antigen-specific T cell-mediated responses, delaying tumor growth. Importantly, tumor-APCs treatment led to the infiltration of CD8+, CD4+ T cells, and NK cells within the TME (**Figure 18F**). TILs also presented a more activated immunophenotype by displaying CD44+PD-1+ and CD44PD-1- (**Figure 18G**), which indicates that administration of tumor-APCs alters the TME by attracting robust immune effectors and eliciting antitumor responses.

To exclude the contribution of naturally occurring cDC1 to the immune response mounted against cancer in wildtype mice, I validated the experiments in BATF3 knockout mice that lack the endogenous the cDC1 compartment. Tumor burden and decreased and overall survival greatly increased in mice treated with tumor-APCs in comparison with control mice (411).



Figure 18 | Tumor-APCs lose tumorigenicity and promote antitumor immunity in vivo. (A) Tumor-APCs derived from glioblastoma and bladder carcinoma (U3P2E2) were purified by FACS on reprogramming day 9 and injected in NXG mice to evaluate tumorigenicity in vivo. (B) Survival curves of NXG mice transplanted with reprogrammed cancer cells (red) and eGFP-transduced cells (black). (C) Schematic overview of the experimental procedure to evaluate antitumor properties of tumor-APCs. B16-OVA tumors were injected intratumorally at day 7, 10, and 13 post-tumor establishment with B16-derived tumor-APCs pulsed with OVA protein and stimulated with poly(I:C). (D) Survival curve for mice injected with tumor-APCs (PIB, red). Phosphate buffered saline (PBS) solution (grev) and empty-vector-transduced B16 cells (black) were used as references. (E) Peripheral blood from injected mice was collected and assessed by flow cytometry. Plots represent the quantification of the percentage of Ova-specific (top) or MuLV-specific T cells within the CD45+CD8+ population circulating in the blood of treated mice at day 14 post-tumor establishment. (F) Quantification of tumor-infiltrating lymphocytes (TILs) and (G) Characterization of CD4+ and CD8+ TILs by the expression of CD44 and PD-1. (H) Mice with established tumors were treated with checkpoint inhibitors (ICI, anti-PD-1, anti-CTLA4) in combination with tumor-APCs. Plots represent tumor growth and (I) survival curves for mice treated with ICI alone or combined with tumor-APCs. Isotype controls (IgG2a and IgG2b) were used as ICI references. PBS and transduced cancer cells were used as controls. J. Photograph of a cured mouse with combination therapy depicts depigmentation (white arrow) on tumor regression site. Mean±SD is represented. Mean±SD is represented. p-value: \*p<0.1, \*\*p<0.01, \*\*\*p<0.001.

Additionally, tumor-APCs also confer a greater advantage compared to fibroblast-derived iDC. The first express endogenous TAAs while iDC need to incorporate exogenous antigens and process them before being able to present them. This phenomenon might contribute to tumor-APCs being responsible for mounting a more robust immune response against cancer than iDC (411).

Most immunotherapy regimens combine various approaches (12, 61), so I sought to understand whether tumor-APCs could improve ICI treatment in resistant melanoma like B16. Combining ICI with tumor-APCs treatment resulted in a more prominent extension of survival, a robust effect on tumor growth delay, and even complete regression in some mice (**Figure 18H-J**). These data show that tumor-APCs can synergize with ICI to revert cancer *in vivo*.

This study supports the hypothesis that tumor-APCs generated *in vitro* present endogenous antigens and acquire cDC1-like functions, potentiating antitumor immunity responses.

#### Tumor-APCs present antigens in the MHC-II context.

In **Study IV**, I further characterized tumor-APCs regarding their immunophenothypical markers. cDC1 and other APCs can express immune checkpoint molecules such as PD-1 and VISTA. The presence of these molecules ensures that the immune responses orchestrated by dendritic cells do not generate overreactions. Indeed, murine-derived tumor-APCs can start expressing some of these markers, PD-1, ICOS and TIM-3 as a result of the reprogramming process. However, these markers can also be found in naturally occurring cDC1 from both species (**Figure 19A**).

I also described the magnetically activated cell sorting (MACS)-based method we developed to purify tumor-APCs faster and more efficiently. MACS allows 4 to 6 times faster purifications than traditional, fluorescent-activated cell sorting (FACS), producing more viable cells after the process (415, 416). Whereas FACS requires flow cytometric cell sorters, MACS requires fewer instruments and is scalable without adding processing time. To enrich tumor-APCs, we use CD45+ and MHC-II+ markers as targets for magnetic labeling (Figure 19B). Flow cytometric analysis is used to assess the quality of the enrichment by comparing samples before sorting (pre-MACS) with positive (post-MACS(+)) and negative (post-MACS(-)) fractions regarding transduction (eGFP+) and either CD45, MHC-II, or both markers (Figure 19C, D). We could recover most transduced cells (post-MACS(+)) with MACS, while we could only detect around 33% of transduced cells in the negative fraction (Figure 19E). We consistently registered only around 6% of partially and completely reprogrammed cells in the negative fraction. In contrast, we recovered almost 73% of tumor-APCs in the positive fraction, a 10-fold increase compared to the unsorted culture (Figure 19F). Additional quality control of tumor-APCs can be done by evaluating MHC-I expression (Figure 19G, H).



Figure 19 | Enriched tumor-APCs can present antigens in the MHC-II context. (A) Tumor-APCs derived from murine melanoma cells were assessed by flow cytometric analysis for the expression of PD-L1, ICOSL and TIM-3. Expression was compared to eGFP-transduced cells and splenic cDC1. (B) Illustration depicting a MACS-based protocol to enrich mouse melanoma-derived tumor-APCs based on the expression of CD45 and MHC-II. Tumor-APCs are labelled with magnetic beads before being recovered through a strong magnetic field. The post-MACSpositive fraction (+) contains purified tumor-APCs collected after removing the column from the magnetic field. Quality control is assessed by flow cytometric analysis. Gating strategy is shown. (C) Flow cytometric analysis for eGFP expression and (D) representative plots depicting a successful MACS procedure. Enrichment efficiency is compared to pre-MACS and post-MACS negative fractions. (E) Quantification of eGFP+ cells represents the total percentage of transduced cells at different protocol steps. (F) Quantification of the percentage of partially and completely reprogrammed tumor-APCs pre- and post-MACS purification. eGFP-transduced cancer cells were measured as a reference control. (G) Flow cytometric analysis of MHC-I expression in pre- and post-MACS fractions. (H) Median fluorescent intensity (MFI) for MHC-I expressed by cancer cells and tumor-APCs after purification. (I) MACS-purified tumor-APCs are pulsed with OVA (323-339) peptides before co-culture with naïve OT-II CD4+ T cells. (J) T cell proliferation is measured by flow cytometric analysis of CD44 expression (CD44+) and CellTrace Violet (CTV) dilution (CTV<sup>low</sup>). Mean±SD is shown. p-value: \*p<0.1\*\*\* p-value < 0.001; \*\*\*\* pvalue < 0.0001.

More importantly, this purification method yields approximately  $2x10^6$  total cells per  $1x10^6$  cells seeded before PIB-driven reprogramming, ensuring a pure population that can be used for *in vitro* and *in vivo* studies.

Finally, I showed that tumor-APCs could present exogenous antigens in the MHC-II context. We pulsed reprogrammed cancer cells with OVA peptides (323-339), presented in MHC-II complexes to CD4+ T cells, before co-culturing them with naïve OT-II CD4+ T cells. Similarly to CD8+ T cell priming, mouse melanoma-derived tumor-APCs trigger CD4+ T cell expansion and activation as demonstrated by CTV dilution and CD44+ expression within CD4+TCR+ T cells (**Figure 19I, J**).

### GENERAL DISCUSSION AND FUTURE PERSPECTIVES

In the past decades, three fields developed parallelly and constitute the pillars of the work I presented during this dissertation. Firstly, immunotherapy revolutionized cancer treatment with incredible success in treating highly metastatic, progressive cancer diseases previously considered untreatable. Secondly, the discovery of dendritic cells and their role in orchestrating innate and adaptive immune responses incited various studies characterizing the different dendritic cell subsets and their implication in cancer. The third pillar of this thesis, cellular reprogramming, has opened a multifaceted toolbox that spans tissue replacement and repair in regenerative medicine to potential cancer treatment by promoting benign cell identities and halting tumorigenic drive. My thesis work focused on exploring the applicability of direct cellular reprogramming for cancer immunotherapy.

Despite the many immunotherapy successes, the spectrum of malignancies treatable with immunotherapy is limited, mainly due to intrinsic cancer heterogeneity, immunosuppressive milieu, lack of suitable tumor antigens, or even lower TMB. Furthermore, low tumor immunogenicity and lack of functional cDC1 were identified as the barriers behind the pitfalls of immunotherapy. More importantly, they prove that antigen presentation is key to efficient antitumor immune responses. Cancer cells evolve through genetic mutations and immune selection to avoid the immune system by downregulating important genes of antigen presentation pathway. While there have been efforts to manipulate tumor immunogenicity, systemic toxicity and off-target side effects have, for now, hindered the broad application of drugs that have been shown to increase antigen presentation in cancer cells. Conversely, cDC1 has also stood as a key player in antitumor immunity. Their presence in the TME facilitates ICI success, and cancer vaccines based on this subset have met favorable preclinical outcomes. Moreover, the discovery of cDC1 role in cancer has cemented that antigen presentation is fundamental for the cancer immunity cycle and that the loss of antigen presentation machinery, either by suppression of the cDC1 compartment or by downregulation of these proteins by cancer cells, results in poor immune responses against cancer. Dendritic cell-based vaccines have also faced manufacturing challenges and variable clinical outcomes, which have hindered a wider adoption for cancer treatment.

This dissertation aimed at intertwining cellular reprogramming with cDC1 biology to overcome common immunotherapy pitfalls and introduce a novel strategy for developing anti-cancer therapies. To this end, I first participated in the identification of the minimal combination of transcription factors that could impose a cDC1-like cell fate in somatic cells. Studies I and II employed single-cell RNA sequencing data to unravel the mechanisms behind cDC1 reprogramming. ChIP-seq data helped dissect the interactions between PU.1, IRF8, and BATF3 in the early settlement of a cDC1 identity. Additionally, the development of polycistronic vectors encoding PU.1, IRF8, and BATF3 was crucial to first establish PU.1 as the necessary transcription factor to kickstart the reprogramming process by binding open chromatin regions and recruiting the other two factors to repress fibroblastic identity and enforce a cDC1 program. More importantly, combining the polycistronic vectors with constitutive promoters increased the frequency of completely reprogrammed cDC1-like cells. Aside from implementing a cDC1-like program, reprogrammed somatic cells with PU.1, IRF8, and BATF3 express cDC1specific markers and are endowed with functional antigen presentation machinery. These findings lead me to hypothesize whether the cDC1 reprogramming strategy could be exploited to induce antigen presentation in cancer cells and restore tumor immunogenicity. In Studies III and IV, I have demonstrated that forced expression of cDC1 lineage-specific factors indeed forces transcriptional and epigenetic changes in cancer cells originating from the human and the mouse species (Figure 20). Reprogrammed cancer cells expressed cDC1-specific markers and acquired antigen presentation machinery, enhancing endogenous antigen presentation. Furthermore, tumor-APCs could present exogenous antigens and priming naïve CD4+ and CD8+ T cells. Finally, we demonstrated that tumor-APC vaccination increases T and NK infiltration in the TME and increases the circulation of tumor antigen-specific T cells, leading to a delay in tumor growth. More importantly, tumor-APCs synergize with ICI to improve mice survival (Figure 20).

The cellular identity of cDC1 is imposed in cancerous and non-cancerous cells by the combined expression of PU.1, IRF8, and BATF3. PU.1 is implicated in all myeloid lineages (140-146). Adult HSCs require PU.1 to differentiate into cDC and pDC compartments, and, importantly, PU.1 regulates FLT3 expression, which is necessary during cDC1 development (146). Abrogation of IRF8 in different stages of cDC1 development has demonstrated that this transcription factor drives cDC1 lineage commitment and maintenance (161). BATF3, in turn, was discovered to be a key factor in cDC1 maturation and function (158). The connection between the three factors during cDC1 development has been well documented. PU.1 reshapes chromatin around the IRF8 gene locus and kickstarts expression of the latter in dendritic cell progenitors (417), while BATF3 promotes self-sustaining activation of IRF8 at later stages of cDC1 cell lineage specification (154). These results align with the observations published in **Studies I** and **II**.



**Figure 20** | **Restoring antitumor immunity through cDC1 reprogramming strategies.** Mouse and human cancer cells were reprogrammed into tumor-APCs through overexpression of PU.1, IRF8, and BATF3. The reprogramming process is fast, with rapid chromatin remodeling around day 3, followed by a stepwise adoption of a conventional dendritic cell type I (cDC1) transcriptome until day 9. Tumor-APCs lose tumorigenicity and upregulate antigen presentation machinery that enhances intrinsic tumor immunogenicity. Additionally, tumor-APCs acquire cDC1 functional features as PU.1, IRF8, and BATF3 endow them with exogenous antigen engulfment and presentation to CD4+ and CD8+ T cells. Finally, intratumoral injection of tumor-APCs delays tumor growth, promotes T and NK cell infiltration in the tumor microenvironment (TME), and synergizes with immune checkpoint inhibitors (ICI) to prolong survival. Ag – antigen.

The three transcription factors cooperate to impose a cDC1 identity in somatic cells, and missing one or two factors from this combination abrogates the establishment of a successful reprogramming path. Furthermore, the increased reprogramming efficiency observed with polycistronic vectors demonstrated that cDC1 lineage commitment results from regulated stoichiometry between the three factors, in accordance with previous studies.

Single-cell RNA-seq analysis of iDC outlined the trajectory of somatic cells undergoing cDC1 lineage conversion. While the reprogramming process is asynchronous, successful reprogramming was correlated with the activation of endogenous Spil, Irf8, and Batf3. Moreover, cDC1 reprogramming triggers an inflammatory signaling pathway associated with a more faithful lineage conversion. Pro-inflammatory pathways have been shown to prime somatic cells for efficient reprogramming processes. The TLR3 agonist, Poly(I:C), enhances chromatin plasticity by regulating epigenetic modifiers that aid the reprogramming factors to trigger pluripotency in somatic cells (418). During direct cell reprogramming towards cardiomyocytes, loss of innate immunity genes, including TLR3, impacts reprogramming efficiency by altering DNA methylation status (407). This aligns with my results, showing that the addition of pro-inflammatory cytokines, IFNs, and TNF- $\alpha$  synergized with PU.1. IRF8, and BATF3 increasing reprogramming efficiency (Study II). On the other hand, MSCs were the exception to the effect of cytokines in cDC1 reprogramming. This suggests that MSCs' inherent plasticity confers them an advantage for optimal reprogramming towards the cDC1 fate or that MSCs are less responsive to inflammatory stimuli.

In stark contrast with the gene signatures associated with successful reprogramming processes, failure to downregulate the original cell program led to reprogramming resistance and even cell fate reversal (405-408). While cDC1 reprogramming does not transit through intermediate or progenitor states to achieve a mature phenotype, reprogramming efficiency can potentially limit their application. In Studies I and II, delivery optimization with polycistronic constructions and constitutive promoters increased the yield of iDCs. These results align with previously published data showing that high expression levels of ASCL1 are necessary for neuronal reprogramming and MEF2C, GATA4, and TBX5 for cardiomyocyte generation (405, 419). Moreover, iPSC reprogramming also benefits from the constitutive expression of the OSKM factors driven by the SFFV promoter, indicating that overcoming a certain expression threshold might be a requirement for efficient cell conversion processes (408). Interestingly, I observed that cDC1 reprogramming is a stepwise process through which cells transit through partially reprogrammed populations before reaching complete cDC1-like features. This was not unexpected due to previous reports on partially reprogrammed cells arising from different reprogramming processes. Further optimizations to my strategy will make it possible to improve reprogramming efficiency. The data generated for Studies I and **II** could be explored further to assess what genes and epigenetic modifiers contribute to successful reprogramming. This could also improve other reprogramming systems by boosting reprogramming efficiency and facilitating clinical translation of reprogramming-based approaches.

Study II uncovered the early events underlying cDC1 reprogramming through ChIP-seq analysis. PU.1, IRF8, and BATF3 interact with each other to induce cDC1 identity in human fibroblasts. Chromatin remodeling is a necessary step for efficient lineage conversions, and it is often the result of the engagement of lineagerestrictive factors to activate and repress certain genes. Whether lineage-instructive factors can bind closed chromatin and act as pioneer factors or cooperate to repress the original program and induce the final cell fate genes has been the research subject for the past decade (420, 421). Recently, PU.1 was described as a nonclassical pioneer transcription factor whose capacity to bind and remodel chromatin depends on the cell state (145). Despite being unable to bind closed chromatin, forced expression of PU.1 in cells that naturally lack PU.1 expression leads to extensive chromatin remodeling and kickstarts the expression of myeloid genes by interacting and distributing other transcription factors (145). Accordingly, during dendritic cell reprogramming, PU.1 preferentially occupies promoter and enhancer sites in open chromatin. IRF8 binding sites in cDC1-specific genes are enriched with motifs targeted by transcription factors belonging to ETS and AP-1 families, whose members include PU.1 and BATF3, respectively (422). Moreover, our data revealed that BATF3 binds chromatin effectively only in the presence of PU.1 and IRF8. This contrasts with the pioneer function of BATF in CD4+ T cells, where BATF alone binds closed chromatin, recruits CTCF, and cooperates with ETS1 to initiate transcription (423). Together with my observations, these data suggest that

PU.1 recruits IRF8 and BATF3 to repress fibroblastic genes and activate a cDC1 program. In the future, it would be interesting to study whether cooperation between the three cDC1-lineage instructors binds to regulatory regions within the *Irf8* during a reprogramming time-course, including *loci* that have been shown to demark cDC1 commitment and lineage maintenance (154-157).

We demonstrated that overexpression of PU.1, IRF8, and BATF3 endows murine and hiDC with functional features of natural cDC1, including responsiveness to TLR stimuli and secretion of the pro-inflammatory cytokine IL-12. Secretion of IL-12 by dendritic cells enhances antitumor immunity by promoting CTL activity, including NK, and inducing Th1 polarization (215, 424). Furthermore, reprogrammed dendritic cells actively engulf exogenous antigens and activate antigen-specific cytotoxic CD8+ T cells. Combined with the induction of antigen presentation machinery in iDCs, these data allowed me to hypothesize that dendritic cell reprogramming strategies could be employed to induce professional antigen presentation in cancer cells to counteract common immune evasion mechanisms.

In **Studies III** and **IV**, I demonstrated that cDC1 reprogramming is a conserved process across mouse and human cancer cell lines, independently of their germ layer of origin. Importantly, patient-derived cancer cells and CAFs were successfully reprogrammed into tumor-APCs, suggesting that cDC1-reprogramming can be employed in various cancer cell types and primary samples. Like somatic cells undergoing cDC1 reprogramming, cancer cells follow a stepwise reprogramming process that relies on fast chromatin remodeling that initiates the expression of cDC1 lineage genes already at day 3. Subsequently, the activation of endogenous expression of PU.1, IRF8, and BATF3 could help maintain cDC1-like identity in tumor-APCs.

Unlike most reprogramming strategies manipulating tumors, cDC1 converts cancer cells into immunologically enhanced cells that can secrete cytokines, process antigens, and trigger antigen-specific immune responses (55). Previously, leukemic cells were reprogrammed into macrophage-like cells with benign phenotype (397, 398). Only recently, this strategy was used to generate a cancer vaccination approach, leveraging cancer-derived macrophages as a vehicle for tumor antigens (425). Similarly to the reprogramming process I described here, murine syngeneic leukemic and solid cancers were amenable to reprogramming toward macrophagelike cells after inducible expression of PU.1 and CEBP/ $\alpha$  for 7 days (425). Reprogrammed cancer cells in vivo could activate antigen-specific CD4+ and CD8+ T cells to elicit durable antitumor immunity (425). Together with my recent publications, this study further suggests that reprogramming cancer cells towards antigen presentation represent a new modality for antitumor immunity. Nonetheless, interactions between macrophages and tumor cells have been shown to promote metastatic behavior, and their presence within the TME is largely pro-tumorigenic (130). On the other hand, cDC1 are prime examples of professional APCs that excel in CD8+ T cell stimulation and orchestrating antitumor immune responses (210). In **Study III**, I showed that tumor-APCs engage naïve CD8+ T cells by presenting endogenous antigens and cross-presenting exogenous antigens triggering T-cell stimulation. Moreover, this enhanced antigen presentation capacity enables T cell recognition *in vitro* and elicits antitumor immunity *in vivo*. Functional cDC1 cells are crucial for antitumor response, and their absence within the TME correlates with resistance to immunotherapy (215). Moreover, the cDC1 compartment is often functionally impaired in cancer patients compared to healthy counterparts (235). Although cDC1-based vaccines had promising preclinical studies, current methods fail to generate them at a relevant scale for clinical use (109). Therefore, cDC1 reprogramming provides a new tool to increase and enhance this compartment by promoting the presentation of TAAs.

Indeed, I showed that PU.1, IRF8, and BATF3 increase tumor immunogenicity by eliciting antigen presentation pathways (MHC-I, MHC-II, co-stimulatory molecules, and immunoproteasome) and activating the IFN signaling pathway. In general, successful immune surveillance of tumors and good response to immunotherapy largely rely on the sufficient immune recognition of tumor cells. Notably, cancers that retain antigen presentation signatures are associated with better patient prognosis and response to ICI (237). Previous studies demonstrated that tumor immunogenicity can be enhanced by activating the IFN pathway and induction of co-stimulatory molecules or enforced cytokine expression (105, 426). Direct and indirect modulation of IFN signaling through gene knockout or STING activation have shown their importance during tumor cell recognition and CTLmediated cancer cell killing (285-287, 290). Increasing MHC-I molecules in melanoma cells lacking IFN overrode intrinsic resistance to ICI and ACT (410). Oncolytic viruses that couple immunogenic cell death with GM-CSF can stimulate immune responses in situ (105). However, the clinical application of these strategies faced major limitations spanning from systemic toxicity to eliciting protumorigenic effects and the inability to counteract common resistance mechanisms (118, 270). Reprogramming cancer cells to tumor-APCs activated IFN pathways, STING, and enabled functional antigen presentation. Importantly, immunopeptidomics analysis revealed that tumor-APCs have increased presence of endogenous TAAs at their surface compared to non-reprogrammed or IFN-y treated cancer cells. The improved immunogenicity of tumor-APCs is translated to T cell priming and recognition in vitro and in vivo. Besides T cell priming, tumor-APCs modulate anti-cancer immunity at multiple levels. Tumor-APCs secrete pro-inflammatory cytokines, including IL12, chemokine receptors like XCR1, and secrete chemokines, such as CXCL10, which is an important element for the recruitment of TILs (202, 207). Consequently, intratumoral injection of tumor-APCs recruited T and NK cells to the TME, synergizing with ICI to delay tumor growth and increase survival in treated mice. These data suggest that tumor-APCs can exert cDC1-like function within the TME and restore antitumor immunity. In the future, it will be interesting to dissect further the mechanisms underlying antitumor immunity mediated by tumor-APCs and whether lacking IFN pathways or chemokine receptors will impact their function.

While aiming to eradicate tumorigenicity through direct reprogramming strategies might face potential hurdles due to partial retention of parental identity and low transduction efficacy (55, 320), cDC1 reprogramming offers a strategy to rewrite cell identity that is sufficient to elicit antitumor immunity and halt tumorigenicity for most cancer cells. Partially reprogrammed cancer cells can operate like cDC1 as they are endowed with antigen engulfment and processing capabilities. More importantly, partially reprogrammed tumor-APCs, like completely reprogrammed cancer cells, have arrested cell cycle and maintain the expression of tumor antigens necessary to elicit immune responses. This suggests that incomplete reprogramming could still support clonal expansion of tumor antigen-specific T cells while not contributing to tumor burden. It has been recently reported that it is possible to reverse aging landmarks and restore the original function of neurons without losing cell identity or generating pluripotent stem cells through partial cell reprogramming (427). This data, combined with the loss of mitotic capacity, shows data cDC1 reprogramming strategies can still be leveraged against the heterogeneity of cancer cells to induce tumor-specific responses despite variable reprogramming efficiency across different tumors. Nonetheless, refining the strategy to increase target lineage fidelity or ensuring the inactivation of residual tumor cells will be crucial for their clinical application.

In the future, I envision the use of cDC1 reprogramming as a strategy to restore antitumor immunogenicity in situ. As a result of years of developing safer gene delivery methods based on non-integrative viral vectors and non-viral delivery systems, in vivo reprogramming has become a reality (428-432). Moreover, reprogramming directly inside the target organism takes advantage of internal cell sources, limits possible immune rejection, and has lower risks for tumor formation and increased reprogramming efficiency and fidelity (433). In an in vivo setting, reprogramming cells can receive other environmental cues that are difficult to recapitulate in vitro. Cellular reprogramming with OSKM factors in vivo has been achieved before, with cells undergoing the reprogramming process demonstrating higher plasticity and capacity to generate embryo-like structures, including extraembryonic tissues, in contrast to their laboratory counterparts (434). This demonstrates that the microenvironment where reprogramming occurs has a profound effect on plasticity and can influence reprogramming outcomes. Notably, senescence significantly reduces reprogramming efficiency in vitro. However, reprogramming in vivo triggers senescence and pro-inflammatory signaling cues that promote higher cellular plasticity (435). While pluripotency factors can be used to revert aging hallmarks in vivo (436), the risk of oncogenic drive will hinder their potential application outside of ex vivo production of the desired target cells (434). As such, employing direct reprogramming strategies is more promising for therapeutic endeavors. Direct reprogramming of resident murine cardiac fibroblasts using GATA4, MEF2C, and TBX5 induced a myocardial program in these cells that integrated with the surrounding cardiomyocytes and attenuated infarct size (437). Delivery of SOX2 into an injured spinal cord, coupled with silencing of the p53
pathway, induced the reprogramming of glial cells into a diverse population of longlived neurons (438). Others have reprogrammed acinar pancreatic cells into insulinproducing β-cells and converted myofibroblasts into functional hepatocytes that could alleviate liver fibrosis (439, 440). More importantly, in vivo cancer reprogramming was already demonstrated by converting hepatocellular carcinoma cells into hepatocytes (395). Despite the many examples and potential applications in regenerative medicine, it was only recently that direct reprogramming was leveraged for immunotherapy (411, 425). Although I did not explore non-integrative viral vectors or other nonviral delivery mechanisms for reprogramming, employing these alternatives may turn the cDC1 reprogramming process into a safer and scalable strategy for immunotherapy. In the future, it will also be interesting to compare macrophage reprogramming with cDC1 reprogramming in vivo and their potential for harnessing enhanced presentation of tumor antigens to trigger antitumor immune responses. Independently of the target cell, both cDC1 and macrophage reprogramming have demonstrated that it is possible to reprogram cancer cells into tumor-APCs and overcome immune evasion mechanisms.

Through the course of 4 studies published during my Ph.D. studies, I demonstrated that PU.1, IRF8, and BATF3 impose a cDC1-lineage identity in unrelated cell types from human and mouse origin. More importantly, the same factor combination enhances tumor immunogenicity by activating IFN, STING, and antigen presentation pathways in cancer cell lines and primary cancer tissue and promotes *in vivo* antitumor responses driven by cDC1-like functions. Moreover, reprogramming cancer cells into tumor-APCs can be accomplished by a single gene therapy strategy targeting many cancer types and intrinsic cancer heterogeneity. Lastly, cDC1 reprogramming *in situ* will combine the benefits of oncolytic virus, dendritic cell-based vaccines, and loss of tumorigenicity wrapped in one package. Despite the possible need for matching vector serotypes towards specific cancer types, PU.1, IRF8, and BATF3 can be used universally to convert tumor cells into tumor-APCs.

These data provided a proof-of-principle for engineering functional immune cell fates and their future utilization for cancer immunotherapy. In the future, cDC1 reprogramming can be translated into an "off-the-shelf" therapy, enforcing the presentation of patient-specific cancer antigens, and reflecting intrinsic tumor heterogeneity. Finally, the data I generated supports the development of alternative methods for *in vitro* tumor antigen-specific TIL expansion and the creation of novel platforms for the identification of tumor neoantigens based on enhanced antigen presentation by tumor-APCs.

## MATERIALS AND METHODS

This section describes the main methods used in this dissertation. An expanded version of this section can be found in each published study's method section appended to this thesis.

#### Mice

Animal care and experimental procedures were performed in accordance with Swedish and Portuguese guidelines and regulations after approval from their respective local ethical committees. C57BL/6j females aged 6 to 10 weeks were acquired from Scanbur and Charles River. C57BL/6-Tg(TcraTcrb)1100Mjb/J (OT-I, The Jackson Laboratory) and B6.Cg-tg(TcraTcrb)425Cbn/J (OT-II, The Jackson Laboratory) mice were bred in-house. NOD-Prkdc<sup>scid</sup>-IL2rg<sup>Tm1</sup>/Rj (NXG) females aged 6 to 7 weeks were purchased from Janvier. Clec9a<sup>Cre/Cre</sup> (150) animals were crossed with Rosa26-stop<sup>flox-tdTomato</sup> reporter mice to generated double homozygous Clec9a<sup>Cre/Cre</sup> Rosa<sup>tdTomato/tdTomato</sup> (Clec9a-tdTomato). OTII-transgenic/Rag2 knockout (KO) (OT-II/Rag2KO) used in **Study I** were provided by L. Graça. All mice were kept under a fixed 12-hour light/dark cycle, under controlled temperature (23  $\pm$  2 °C), with free access to food and water.

#### **MEFs** isolation and culture

MEFs were isolated from embryos of Clec9a-tdTomato, or C57BL/6 mice were isolated as previously described (150, 339). A single-cell suspension was obtained and plated in 0.1% gelatin-coated 10-cm tissue culture dishes in growth media. Cells were grown for 2 to 3 days until full confluency, dissociated with TrypLE Express, and frozen in fetal bovine serum (FBS) and 10% dimethyl sulfoxide (Sigma). MEFs used for screening and in the following experiments were sorted for tdTomato- and CD45- with a purity of >99% and expanded up to four passages.

#### BM and spleen isolation.

Total BM cells were harvested from tibias and femurs by crushing with pestle and mortar. Freshly isolated spleens were homogenized using the frosted ends of two sterile slides or pushed against a nylon mesh. Cells were harvested in phosphatebuffered saline (PBS) supplemented with 2% FBS and filtered through a 70-µm cell strainer (BD Biosciences). Red blood cells were lysed with BD Pharm Lyse (BD Biosciences) for 8 min at room temperature, protected from lysis. Lysis was stopped by the addition of volumes of PBS with 2% FBS.

## Generation of BM-DCs.

Total BM cells were plated in petri dishes  $(5x10^6 \text{ cells per plate})$  in RPMI complete media supplemented with Flt3L (200 ng/mL), and GM-CSF (5 ng/mL) as previously described to generate cDC1-like CD103+ BM-DCs (165).

### Cell culture.

LLC-OVA cells were generated by stable expression of truncated cytoplasmic OVA with pHAGE-cOVA-IRES-Puro. B16-mOrange and B16-OVA-mOrange were generated by transduction with SFFV-mOrange, and mOrange+ cells were purified by FACS. Both cell lines were expanded from single cell-sorted clones and used in experiments from passage 3 to 10 after transduction. Human embryonic kidney (HEK) 293T cells, MEFs, HEFs (passages 3 to 8), HDFs (passages 3 to 8), mouse cancer cell lines and human cancer cell lines were maintained in growth medium [Dulbecco's modified Eagle's medium supplemented with 10% (v/v) FBS, 2 mM l- glutamine, and antibiotics (penicillin and streptomycin, 10 µg/mL)]. Alternatively, some cells were cultured using RPMI 1640, Ham's Nutrient F10 Mixture (F10), and Ham's NutrientF12 Mixture (F12) growth supplemented as indicated before. B16-OVA complete growth medium culture was supplemented with geneticin (0.4 mg mL-1), whereas LLC-OVA was supplemented with puromycin ( $1 \times 10^{-3}$  mg mL<sup>-1</sup>). Primary CD8+ OT-I T cells, CD4+ T cells, and CD103+ BM-DCs were cultured in RPMI 1640 supplemented with 10% FBS, 1% penicillin-streptomycin, 1% GlutaMAX, 1% sodium pyruvate, and 2mercaptoethanol (50 mmol dm<sup>-3</sup>). Cell dissociation from tissue culture plates as done with TrypLE Express for 5 to 8 min at 37°C. All cells were cultured in a humid environment at 37°C and 5% CO<sub>2</sub>. When mentioned, IFN- $\gamma$  (1×10<sup>-9</sup>mg mL<sup>-1</sup>) (PeproTech), Poly(I:C) (10×10<sup>-3</sup>mg mL-1) (InvivoGen), and LPS (1×10<sup>-4</sup>mg  $mL^{-1}$ ) (Enzo) were added 24 hours before analysis.

## Molecular cloning and lentiviral production.

Coding regions of each candidate transcription factor were individually cloned into the pFUW-TetO vector where expression is under the control of the tetracycline operator and a minimal CMV promoter (FUW-TetO-TF) (339, 441). For the polycistronic vectors, coding sequences for mouse and human genes encoding PU.1, IRF8 and BATF3 were cloned together in the pFUW-TetO plasmid interspaced with 2A self-cleaving peptides (402). The first two coding sequences lacked the stop codon. A lentiviral vector containing the reverse tetracycline transactivator M2rtTA under the control of a constitutively active human ubiquitin C promoter (FUW-

M2rtTA) was used for co-transductions with pFUW-TetO constructs (339, 442). For constitutive overexpression, the polycistronic cassette was subcloned into lentiviral vectors with constitutive promoters: pFUW-UbC, pRRL.PPT-SFFV, pRRL.PPT-PGK, pRRL.PPT-EF1S, pHAGE2-EF1, and pWPXL-EF1i (gift from D. Trono; Addgene, plasmid # 12257) (187, 417, 443). To induce reprogramming in cancer cells, we used the lentiviral vectorpRRL.PPT.sf.PIB.i2eGFP expressing human or mouse transcription factors in polycistronic constructions. Empty pRRL.PPT.sf.MCS.i2eGFP served as a mock control throughout reprogramming experiments. For defined experiments, lentiviral vectors lacking IRES2-eGFP were used. HEK 293T cells were transfected with a mixture of transfer plasmid and packaging constructs expressing the viral packaging functions and the envelope VSV-G protein. The day before transfection,  $7x10^6$  cells were seeded in a 15-cm dish to achieve approximately 80% confluence after 1 day. The next day, cells were transfected as follows: 10 µg of lentiviral vector, 7.5 µg of psPAX2.G lentiviral packaging vector, and 2.5ug of pMD2 envelope vector were combined with 60 ul of polyethylenimine (1 mg/mL) (PEI; linear 25 kDa, Polysciences) in 2 mL of OptiMEM (Thermo Fisher Scientific) and incubated for 15 min at room temperature. The PEI-OptiMEM mixture was added dropwise to HEK 293T cells and, 12 h later, replaced with fresh medium. Viral supernatants were collected 48, 60, and 72 h after transfection, filtered through a 0.45-µm cellulose acetate filter (low protein binding), concentrated with Amicon centrifugal filters (Millipore) or with the Lenti-X Concentrator (Takara) and stored at -80 °C. Lentiviral titers were estimated with a Lenti-X qRT-PCR titration kit.

## Viral transduction and reprogramming.

Clec9a-tdTomato or C57BL/6 MEFs, HEFs, and HDFs were seeded at a density of  $4x10^4$  cells per well whereas MSCs were seeded at a  $5x10^4$  cells per well on 0.1% gelatin-coated six-well plates. On the following day, cells were incubated overnight with a ratio of 1:1 FUW-TetO-TFs/FUW-M2rtTA, SFFV-eGFP or SFFV-PIBeGFP lentiviral particles in media supplemented with polybrene (8 µg/mL). When testing combinations of transcription factors, equal multiplicities of infection of each individual viral particle were applied. Cells were transduced twice in consecutive days in the presence of polybrene (8 µg/mL), and media replaced in between transductions. After the second transduction with inducible vectors, growth media were supplemented with Dox (1  $\mu$ g/mL), and this was considered day 0. Alternatively, cancer cells were seeded at  $10^6$  cells per 6-well plate and were transduced once 12 h after plating with constitutive vectors. Media were changed every 2 to 3 days for the duration of the cultures. For leukemic cell lines, polybrene was combined with spinfection (800g, 60 min, room temperature). When indicated, culture conditions included IFN- $\gamma$  (1x10<sup>-9</sup> mg/mL), Poly(I:C) (25 µg/mL), LPS (100 ng/mL; Sigma), 2-mercaptoethanol (1×10<sup>4</sup> µM), 1-glutamine (2 µmol/mL), GM-CSF (10 ng/mL), IL-4 (20 ng/mL), and Flt3L (100 ng/mL). Cytokines were added at day 2 of reprogramming and kept for the duration of the process until analysis. LLC-OVA and B16-OVA were kept in antibiotic selection throughout reprogramming. Reprogramming efficiency was defined as the percentage of CD45+MHC-II/HLA-DR+ cells gated on live, transduced eGFP+ cells.

## Flow cytometric analysis and FACS

For screening of candidate factors, transduced Clec9a-tdTomato MEFs were dissociated with TrypLE Express. For the analysis of surface marker expression, dissociated mouse and human cells were incubated with adequate antibodies diluted in PBS with 2% FBS at 4°C for 30 min in the presence of rat or mouse serum (1/100, GeneTex) to block unspecific binding. To exclude dead cells, 7-Aminoactinomycin D (7AAD, Thermo Fisher Scientific) or 4′,6-diamidino-2-phenylindole (DAPI) were added shortly before analysis or sorting. Alternatively, fixable viability dye eFluor520 or LIVE/DEAD Near IR Fixable Stain was used to determine live cells. Cells were washed and resuspended in PBS with 2% FBS and analyzed in Accuri C6, FACSAria III, LSR Fortessa or LSR Symphony A1 (BD Biosciences). Flow cytometry data were analyzed using FlowJo software. Unless stated otherwise, all flow cytometry analyses were performed in single live cell gates.

To purify C57BL/6 and Clec9a-tdTomato MEFs, cells were incubated cells at 4°C for 30 min with anti-CD45 antibody followed by sorting. For functional experiments, dendritic cells were first enriched using Pan-DC Enrichment beads (Miltenyi). For isolation of MEFs-derived reprogrammed dendritic cells, cells were dissociated using TrypLE Express and resuspended in PBS with 2% FBS, and tdTomato- or tdTomato+ cells were purified. When mentioned, cells were incubated with rat anti-mouse I-A/I-E (MHC-II) and CD45 antibodies in the presence of rat serum for 30 min at 4°C. Human dendritic cells were enriched from PBMCs by negative selection using magnetic-activated cell sorting (MACS) using the Pan-DC Enrichment Kit (Miltenyi Biotec) according to the manufacturer's protocol. HLA-DR+CD11C+CD141+ cDC1s, HLA-DR+CD11C+CD141-CD1C+ cDC2s, and HLA-DR+CD11C-CD123+ pDCs were sorted and used for single-cell RNA-seq profiling. To purify CD45+, CD45+HLA-DR-, CD45+HLA-DR+, and CD45+HLA- DR+CD226+hiDC1s, cells were dissociated using TrypLE Express; resuspended in PBS containing 2% FBS; incubated at 4°C for 30 min with anti-CD45, anti-HLA-DR, and anti-CD226 antibodies in the presence of mouse serum; and purified in FACSAria III. For isolation of human primary MSCs, lineagedepleted BM mononuclear cells were incubated in blocking buffer [PBS without Ca2/Mg2, human normal immuno-globulin (3.3 mg/mL) (Octapharma), and 1% FBS], followed by antibody staining. CD45-CD271+ MSCs were sorted and used for reprogramming experiments. All purifications using flow cytometry were performed in a FACSAriaIII machine (BD Biosciences).

## Magnetic-activated cell sorting (MACS)

Purification of reprogrammed cancer cells for functional assays was performed either at day 5 or day 9 post-transduction. Cells were dissociated and resuspended in staining FACS buffer supplemented with 2% penicillin-streptomycin. Briefly,  $10^7$ cells were incubated with 2 µL rat serum for 15 min, followed by 5 min incubation with 60 ng rat anti-mouse MHC-II and CD45 coupled with biotin. Cells were washed twice before incubation with anti-biotin magnetic beads (Miltenyi Biotec) for 15 min. All incubations were performed on ice. Labeled cells were purified in LS MACS columns (Miltenyi) according to manufacturer's recommendations. Purity of enriched populations was assessed by washing and consequently staining with fluorescent-conjugated antibodies for CD45, MHC-II and MHC-I.

#### Fluorescence microscopy and immunofluorescence

Clec9a-driven tdTomato in MEFs was visualized directly on six-well plates under an inverted microscope (Zeiss AxioVert 200 M), and images were processed with AxioVision and Adobe Photoshop software. DAPI (1 µg/mL; Sigma) and phalloidin–Alexa Fluor 488 (50 µg/mL; Sigma) were used to stain nuclei and Factin, respectively. Reprogrammed B16 cells were MACS-enriched and fixed with 4% paraformaldehyde for 20 min and permeabilized with 0.4% Triton X-100. Blocking for 30 min with 2.5% bovine serum albumin and 10% goat serum (Abcam), was followed by overnight incubation at 4 °C with anti-mouse MHC-II and anti-mouse B2M. Cells were then washed and incubated with secondary antibodies coupled with fluorochromes (Invitrogen) for 1 h 30 min. Cells were washed and imaged on CellDiscoverer 7 microscope (Zeiss), at 20x magnification. Data acquisition, image analysis and export were performed with the ZEN 2.5 blue software (Zeiss).

## Live Cell Imaging

 $5x10^3$  MACS-purified PIB-transduced LLC cells expressing either CD45 or MHC-II were seeded per well on a black 96-well  $\mu$ -Plate (Ibidi) and incubated in the presence of  $10x10^{-3}$  mg/mL AlexaFluor-647-labeled OVA (Thermo Fisher) or 0.1 mg/mL DQ-OVA (Thermo Fisher), followed by continuous recording for up to 4 hours. All live cell imaging was performed using the CellDiscoverer 7 microscope (Zeiss). Acquisition, image analysis and export were performed with ZEN 2.5 blue edition software (Zeiss).

## Scanning electron microscopy

T98G-derived tumor-APCs and control eGFP+ cells were FACS-purified 9 days after transduction with PU.1, IRF8, and BATF3 or eGFP vectors respectively, plated in 0.1% gelatin-coated coverslips, cultured overnight, and prepared as described previously (403). Analysis was performed with Jeol JSM-7800F FEG-SEM.

#### Antigen uptake and processing analysis

Reprogrammed cells were resuspended at  $1x10^6$  cells/mL (LLC, MACSpurified) or at  $0.5x10^6$  cells/mL (T98G) of growth medium, followed by addition of  $10x10^3$  mg/mL OVA-AF647 or 0.1 mg/mL of DQ-OVA and incubated at 37 °C for 30-60 min. Fluorescence microscopy required up to 2 h of incubation for imaging OVA uptake and up to 4 h of incubation for visualization of OVA processing. Alternatively, the experiment was conducted on ice to inhibit active antigen uptake and processing. Changes in fluorescence referring to the internalization of labeled ovalbumin were analyzed by flow cytometry.

## Dead cell phagocytosis

HEK 293T cells were exposed to ultraviolet irradiation (50 J/m2) to induce cell death and labeled with the CellVue Claret Far Red Fluorescent Cell Linker Kit (Sigma). Purified tdTomato+ and tdTomato- populations at day 10 and PIBpolytransduced HEFs at day 9 were incubated with far red-labeled dead cells overnight, washed with PBS with 2% FBS, and analyzed in FACSAria III. DAPI staining was used to exclude floating or membrane-adherent dead cells. Dead cell incorporation was quantified in live tdTomato- and tdTomato+ cells or HLA-DR+ and HLA-DRcells using far red staining. Alternatively, B16 or LLC cells were harvested, washed, and exposed to UV light (45 min/3x10 min with 24 h intervals. Dead cells were fluorescently labeled with CellVue Claret Far Red Fluorescent Cell Linker Kit Reprogrammed human eGFP+CD45+HLA-DR+ mouse (Sigma). or eGFP+CD45+MHC-II+ and control eGFP+ T98G/LLC cells were FACS-sorted on day 9 of reprogramming were incubated with dead cells for 4 to 8 h before dead cell phagocytosis was evaluated by flow cytometric analysis.

#### Cytokine expression and secretion analysis

Levels of IL-6, IL-10, and TNF- $\alpha$  were assessed in supernatants of purified tdTomato+ cells at day 9 or in control MEFs 10 days after doxycycline. Day 9 reprogrammed cells (T98G, FACS-purified 10 000/well eGFP+CD45+HLA-DR+ or eGFP+CD45-HLA-DR+ or bulk primary melanoma cells, 20 000/well) were seeded into flat bottom 96-well plates. When indicated, cells were stimulated overnight with LPS (100 mg/mL), Poly(I:C) (25 µg/mL), and R848 (5 µg/mL) (Invivogen). Subsequently, 50 µl of culture supernatants were harvested and processed with LEGENDplex Human Inflammation Panel 1 (Biolegend) according to manufacturer's instructions. eGFP transduced cells were used as controls. Human dendritic cells (separated by negative selection using pan-DC enrichment kit (Miltenyi Biotec) from healthy peripheral blood) and moDCs served as reference. Alternatively, mouse CD103+ BM-DCs, non-transduced, eGFP transduced, and reprogrammed CD45+MHC-II+ MACS-enriched B16 and LLC cells were seeded at a density of 6.5x10<sup>4</sup> cells/well in 96-well plates and incubated overnight in the presence or absence of Poly(I:C). Supernatants were collected 10 h post-seeding and

analyzed with LegendPlex Mouse Anti-Virus Response Panel (13-plex) or CBA Mouse Inflammation kit (BD Biosciences) according to manufacturer's protocol. Triplicates were performed per condition. Analysis was performed on Accuri C6, FACSCanto, or LSR Fortessa (BD Biosciences) and data were analyzed using FCAP (BD Biosciences) or LEGENDplex (Bio-Legend) softwares. For IL12p40, PIB-transduced Clec9a- tdTomato MEFs at day 9 were incubated overnight in the presence of LPS (100 ng/mL), profilin (100 ng/mL) (Sigma), and CD40L (1  $\mu$ g/mL; BioLegend). On the following day, Golgiplug (1  $\mu$ l/mL; BD Biosciences) was added and incubated at 37 °C for 4 hours. Cells were then harvested and stained intracellularly for IL-12p40 using Cytofix/Cytoperm (BD Biosciences).

#### Western Blot

C57BL/6 MEFs transduced with polycistronic vectors were harvested 48 hours after the addition of Dox. Cells were resuspended in radio-immunoprecipitation assay buffer (Thermo Scientific) for 20 min, and protein extracts were diluted 1:2 in Laemmli buffer (Bio-Rad) with 5% 2-ME (Sigma) and boiled at 98 °C for 8 min. Samples were run in NuPAGE 4 to 12% bis-tris (Invitrogen) SDS-PAGE gels using XCell Sure Lock (Invitrogen) and MOPS SDS running buffer (Invitrogen). Transfer was done using iBlot (Thermo Scientific) dry system for 7 min. Membranes were incubated overnight with unconjugated primary antibodies against PU.1, IRF8, or calnexin and with donkey anti-rabbit horseradish peroxidase–conjugated secondary antibody diluted at 1:4000. Membranes were incubated with ECL prime (Amersham) for 5 min, and data were acquired in ChemiDoc (Bio-Rad).

## Population RNA-seq library preparation and sequencing

For population RNA-seq, total RNA from 3000 to 5000 FACS sorted iDCs, mouse and human cancer cells lines and respective tumor-APCs, HEFs and hiDCs. was extracted with TRIzol reagent (Thermo Fisher Scientific). cDNA was generated with the SMARTSeq v4 Ultra-low input RNA kit (Takara) and amplified with 8 PCR cycles and purified with AMPure XP beads (Beckman). cDNA was analyzed using the Agilent High sensitivity DNA kit on an Agilent Bioanalyzer 2100 (Agilent). Library preparation was performed using the Nextera XT DNA library preparation kit (Illumina) according to the manufacturer's protocol. Following tagmentation of cDNA, forward and reverse indexes were added by 12 cycles of PCR. The libraries were normalized with beads, pooled, and sequenced on an Illumina NextSeq 500 machine (75-bp paired-end).

#### **RNA-seq analysis**

Paired-end reads were mapped to the human or murine genomes (Ensembl, release 93) using STAR v2.5.3a (444) with default settings except sjdbOverhang 74 --quantMode GeneCounts. Resulting gene counts were further processed with R package DESeq2 (445) and normalized using RLE method. DESeq2 package and

used for performing differential expression analysis based on Wald test. We defined upregulated genes by a fold change (FC) > 0 and Benjamini Hochberg (BH) corrected p-value < 0.05 and downregulated genes by FC < 0 and BH-corrected p-value < 0.05. PCA was performed using plotPCA function from DESeq2 package. Normalized counts were log2 transformed and visualized using ggplot2 R package (https://ggplot2.tidyverse.org/) or GraphPad Prism software.

Dendritic cell-specific gene list was defined as differential expression behavior between cDC1 and cDC2, cDC1 and pDC, cDC2 and pDC (adjusted P-value < 0.1 and log2foldChange > 0.5) and excluding genes that were over expressed in MEFs compared to cDC1, cDC2 and pDC (log2foldChange > 0.5). To find the relationship between all samples we calculated Pearson correlation and clustered the samples using method Ward.d2. The resulting clustering was reordered according to first principal component and visualized using pheatmap package. Also, principal component analysis was performed to explore relationships among day 5, 7, 8 and 9 iDC samples.

## Gene set enrichment analysis

GSEA between all possible conditions and states of HEFs-derived iDCs were performed against C7: immunologic signatures from the Molecular Signatures Database. Alternatively, GSEA was performed using successful and unsuccessful cDC1 reprogramming gene signatures. The analysis was performed using normalized UMI counts using default parameters, P = 1 for calculation of enrichment statistic, normalized enrichment scores, and rank by calculating difference of means scaled by the SD.

For the human cancer cell dataset, functional enrichment analysis was performed for differentially expressed genes for each cancer cell line and tumor-APC signature using clusterProfiler (BH-adjusted P < 0.1) (446) and top 6 categories were selected. For the mouse cancer dataset, gene list enrichment analyses were generated with KEGG pathways, gene ontologies, biological processes and molecular functions were obtained through EnrichR (447). Input gene set consisted of commonly upregulated genes in all murine reprogramming processes (foldchange >9, 27 genes). Results for each database were ordered based on log10(p-value) and the top 6 pathways, processes and functions plotted accordingly.

## **Tumor-APC signature**

The tumor-APC signature was defined as commonly upregulated genes between CD45+HLA-DR+ cells at day 9 and eGFP transduced cells (day 0), in at least 75% of human cancer lines. To order cell lines by reprogramming efficiency, we calculated for each gene the average difference between day 9 and day 0 and normalized it to the difference between cDC1 and day 0 for individual cancer cell lines. The median for each cancer cell line was used as reprogramming efficiency.

#### Antigen presentation signature

Gene lists for antigen presentation gene, IFN- $\gamma$  and STING pathways were curated based on human or murine KEGG pathways list for antigen presentation, cytosolic-DNA sensing pathway, and literature review. The expression value of those genes was z-transformed and subjected to MinMax function (values higher than defined Max value were set to Max value, and lower than Min value were set to Min value). Gene lists were clustered using complete linkage method and visualized using pheatmap R package (https://cran.r-project.org/web/packages/pheatmap/index.html). To estimate activation of antigen presentation signature, we used a similar procedure as described for tumor-APC signature gene list.

### Single-cell RNA sequencing

HEFs, hiDCs at d3, d6, and d9 (CD45+HLA-DR- and CD45+HLA-DR+); cDC1s; cDC2s; and pDCs from peripheral blood (from three individual donors) were FACS sorted for single-cell RNA-seq. Purified cells were loaded on a 10X Chromium (10X Genomics) according to the manufacturer's protocol. hiDC1s at d9 reprogrammed in the presence and absence of cytokines from HEFs and HDFs and CD45+HLA- DR+CD226+ hiDC1s were also profiled. Alternatively, single-cell RNA-seq was performed in T98G cells transduced with PIB-eGFP or with eGFP lentiviral particles (day 0). Nine days after reprogramming, 5000 to 10,000 transduced eGFP+ cells expressing at least one of the reprogramming markers, CD45 or HLA-DR, were FACS-purified and resuspended in PBS containing 0.04% bovine serum albumin (BSA). Day 0 controls were processed similarly. Cells were loaded on a 10x Chromium (10x Genomics) without multiplexing. Single-cell RNA libraries were prepared using the Chromium Single Cell 3+ v2 Reagent Kit (10x Genomics). Indexed sequencing libraries were quantified with a High Sensitivity DNA analysis kit (Agilent) and Agilent Bioanalyzer. Indexed libraries were pooled in an equimolar ratio and sequenced with an Illumina NextSeq 500 machine. Coverage was between 40,000 and 200,000 reads per single cell.

#### Dendritic cell subset classification

We used scPred (189) classification algorithm and two publicly available dendritic cell single-cell expression datasets (188, 223) for subset affiliation. To train the classifier using the scPred method (implemented as R library), we used the default parameters for get FeatureSpace and trainModel, as defined in tool vignette. To predict the assignment of dendritic cells isolated from PBMCs to publicly availably dendritic cell subsets, we used the scPredict function with default parameters. Alternatively, training of classifiers with available dendritic cell data was performed using 7,000 variable genes. Next, to adjust for cancer line expression background, we normalized cells by gene expression levels in non-reprogrammed

cells. We then classified normalized expression levels from the reprogramming dataset. We used a probability threshold of 0.99 to classify cells into classes. For classification of iDCs, we used the scPredict function with a threshold of 0.99 separately for each donor and then combined the number of cells affiliated to each subset.

## Chromatin immunoprecipitation sequencing.

HDFs were transduced with TetO-PIB or vectors encoding individual factors (TetO-PU.1, TetO-IRF8, or TetO-BATF3) and M2rtTA. Transduced HDFs were expanded, and ChIP was performed 48 h after the addition of Dox using antibodies for human PU.1, IRF8, and BATF3.

## ChIP-seq analysis and data visualization

ChIP-seq analysis was performed on the raw FASTQ files. FASTQ files were mapped to the human hg38 genome using the Bowtie 2 program, allowing for 2-bp mismatches. Mapped output files were processed through MACS v2.1.0 analysis software to determine peaks. Peak annotation was performed using ChIPseeker R library. For genome tracks, bigwig files were created from bam files with deepTools (https://deeptools.readthedocs.io/en/develop/) and explored using the UCSC Genome Browser. For chromatin state fold enrichment analysis, enrichment scores for genomic features, such as PU.1, IRF8, and BATF3 ChIP-seq peaks and histone marks. were calculated using the ChromHMM Overlap Enrichment (http://compbio.mit.edu/ChromHMM/). ChromHMM segmentation, containing 18 different chromatin states, was down-loaded from the Roadmap website (www.roadmapepigenomics.org/tools) and used for analysis. Enrichment scores were calculated as the ratio between the observed and the expected overlap for each feature and chromatin state based on their sizes and the size of the human genome. For *de novo* motif discovery, findMotifsGenome.pl procedure from HOMER was used on PU.1, IRF8, and BATF3 separately. HOMER was run using default parameters and input sequences comprising  $\pm 100$  bp from the center of the top 2500 peaks. Co-bound regions by PIB were found using the findOverlapsOfPeaks function in the ChIPpeakAnno R library (www.biomedcentral.com/1471-2105/11/237). Co-bound regions were used for de novo motif discovery using HOMER. To evaluate the similarity of the two sets based on the intersections, we calculated the Jaccard statistic using MACRO-APE (https://opera.autosome.ru/macroape/compare). To produce the heatmaps and profile plots, we used deepTools in the reference-point mode where each feature (such as peaks of a transcription factor or histone marks) was aligned at PU.1, IRF8, or BATF3 summits and tiled the flanking up- and downstream regions within ±4 kb.

#### **Purification of MHC-I**

Anti-MHC-I monoclonal antibody (28-8-6S) was purified from the supernatant of HB-51 hybridoma cells (ATCC) using Protein A-Sepharose 4B beads (Invitrogen). Antibodies were cross-linked to Protein A–Sepharose 4B beads at a concentration of 5 mg of antibodies per 1 mL volume of beads. For this purpose, the antibodies were incubated with the Protein A-Sepharose 4B beads for 1 h at room temperature. Chemical cross-linking was performed by the addition of dimethyl pimelimidate dihydrochloride (Sigma-Aldrich) in 0.2 M sodium borate buffer pH 9 (Sigma-Aldrich) at a final concentration of 20 mM for 30 min. The reaction was quenched by incubation with 0.2 M ethanolamine pH 8 (Sigma-Aldrich) for 2 h. Cross-linked antibodies were kept at 4°C until use. To improve sensitivity, two groups of samples were processed: 3 biological replicates of  $2x10^8$ /each B16 cells intended for data dependent acquisition (DDA) measurement to generate a spectral library generation, and 3 biological replicates of samples of 10<sup>6</sup> sorted B16 cells that were either GFP transduced, reprogrammed, or IFN- $\gamma$  treated, and control cells, for data independent acquisition (DIA) measurement. B16 cells were lysed in phosphate buffered saline containing 0.50% sodium deoxycholate (Sigma-Aldrich), 0.2 mM iodoacetamide (Sigma-Aldrich), 1 mM EDTA, 1:200 Protease Inhibitor Cocktail (Sigma-Aldrich), 1 mM phenylmethylsulfonylfluoride (Roche), and 1% octyl-β-D glucopyranoside (Sigma-Aldrich) at 4°C for 1 h. Samples of 2x10<sup>8</sup> cells were lysed in 4 mL, samples of 1x10<sup>6</sup> cells in 1 mL lysis buffer. Lysates were cleared by centrifugation with a table-top centrifuge (Eppendorf Centrifuge) at 4°C at 20,000 g for 50 min. MHC-I molecules were purified by incubating the cleared lysates with HIB antibodies cross-linked to Protein A-Sepharose 4B beads in affinity columns for 3h at 4°C. 300 µL of beads were used for samples of 2x10<sup>8</sup> and 200 µL for samples of 10<sup>6</sup> cells. The affinity columns were then washed as follows: 2 column volumes of 150 mM NaCl in 20 mM Tris-HCl pH 8, 2 column volumes of 400 mM NaCl in 20 mM Tris-HCl pH 8, and again 2 column volumes of 150 mM sodium chloride in 20 mM Tris-HCl pH 8. Finally, the beads were washed in 1 column volume of 20 mM Tris-HCl pH 8. MHC complexes and the bound peptides were eluted at room temperature by adding twice 500 µL of 1% trifluoroacetic acid (TFA). Sep-Pak tC18 96-well plates (Waters), preconditioned with 1 mL of 80% acetonitrile (ACN) in 0.1% TFA and then with 2 mL of 0.1% TFA, were used for the purification and concentration of MHC-I peptides. Elutions containing MHC-I molecules and peptides were loaded in the Sep-Pak tC18 96-well plates and the C18 wells were then washed with 2 mL of 0.1% TFA. The MHC-I peptides were eluted twice with 250 µL of 28% ACN in 0.1% TFA. MHC-I peptides containing elutions were transferred into Eppendorf tubes. Recovered peptides were dried using vacuum centrifugation (Thermo Fisher Scientific) and stored at -20°C.

#### Mass spectrometry acquisition of immunopeptidome data.

Prior to MS analysis, MHC-I peptide samples were resuspended in 8µL of 2% ACN and 0.1% formic acid (FA), and 10% iRT suspension (Biognosys AG). Then, two technical replicates of 3 µL per biological samples were loaded on the column for each measurement by LC-MS/MS. The LC-MS system consists of an Easy-nLC 1200 (Thermo Fisher Scientific) coupled online to Q Exactive HF and or HF-X mass spectrometer (Thermo Fisher Scientific). Peptides were separated on a 450-mm homemade column of 75-µm inner diameter packed with ReproSil Pur C18-AQ 1.9-µm resin (Dr. Maisch GmbH). For DDA the analytical separation was performed for a period of 130 min using a gradient of H<sub>2</sub>O/FA 99.9%/0.1% (solvent A) and CH<sub>3</sub>CN/FA 80%/0.1% (solvent B). The gradient was run in sequential, linear steps: 0 to 110 min (2%-25% B), 110 to 114 min (25%-35% B), 114 to 115 min (35%-100% B), and 115 to 130 min (constant at 100% B) at a flow rate of 250 nL/minute. The mass spectrometer was operated as follows: full-scan MS spectra were acquired from m/z = 300-1.650 at a resolution of 60.000 (m/z = 200) with a maximum injection time of 80 ms. The auto gain control (AGC) target value was set to  $3 \times 10^6$  ions. MS/MS spectra were acquired at a resolution of 30 000 (m/z = 200) using a top 20 method with an isolation window of 1.2 m/z, and a collision energy of 27 (HCD). For all MS/MS scans ions were accumulated to an AGC target value of  $2x10^5$  with a maximum injection time of 120 ms. Precursors with a charge of 4 or more were excluded from fragmentation. Dynamic exclusion was set to 20s. For DIA the analytical separation was performed for a period of 65 min using a gradient of H<sub>2</sub>O/FA 99.9%/0.1% (solvent A) and CH<sub>3</sub>CN/FA 80%/0.1% (solvent B). The gradient was run in sequential, linear steps: 0 to 52 min (2%-25% B), 52 to 54 min (25%-35% B), 54 to 55 min (35%-100% B), and 55 to 65 min (constant at 100% B) at a flow rate of 250 nL/minute. The DIA method consisted of one fullscan MS spectra, acquired from m/z = 300-1,650 (Resolution = 60 000, ion accumulation time = 60 ms), and 22 MS/MS scans. For each MS/MS scan the automatic gain control (AGC) target value was set to  $3 \times 10^6$  ion, resolution was set at 30 000 and a stepped normalized collision energy (25.5, 27, 30) approach was used. Maximum ion accumulation was set to auto, fixed first mass to 200 m/z. The overlap between consecutive MS/MS scans was 1 m/z.

#### MS data processing.

All DDA files were used to generate a library with a database search using fragpipe v17.1, including MSFragger v3.5. The FASTA file contained all reviewed mouse uniprot entries, as well as the manually added uniprot sequences P11269, P03386, Q3UFS3, and Q2TA50. The search space comprised unspecifically digested peptides with a length of 8 to 14 amino acids. Variable modifications included methionine oxidation and N-terminal acetylation and no fixed modifications were applied. Maximal precursor and fragment ion deviation was set to 20 ppm. Peptide, ion, and peptide spectrum match FDRs were set to 0.01, no

protein FDR was applied. DIA files were searched with the library described above using SpectroNaut 16 with a precursor q-value cut-off of 0.01.

## MS data analysis

Peptide binding affinities were predicted with NetMHCpan (448) and MixMHC (449). Peptides were considered as binders when they received a rank percentage of 2% or less by either of the two tools for at least one allele. The intensity of each peptide and the number of identifications per biological replicate were averaged for each replicate. MHC-I peptides predicted as binders were ranked by intensity (highest intensity = rank 1). The ranks were then normalized by dividing each rank by the total amount of binders per sample and subsequently transformed (f(x) = x - 1), yielding in an intensity score that ranged from 0 to 1, where 0 indicates the lowest intensity in a sample and 1 indicates the highest intensity in a sample. Data analyses were done with Julia and R, visualizations were created with R.

## T cell killing assays

CD8+ T cells from spleen of OT-I mice were enriched using a mouse CD8+ T cell isolation kit (Miltenyi Biotec) according to manufacturer's protocol. 6-well untreated plates were coated with anti-CD3 and anti-CD28 at  $2x10^{-3}$  mg mL<sup>-1</sup> for 2 h at 37 °C and washed 3x before seeding  $1x10^6$  T cells per mL in complete growth media (RPMI) supplemented with murine IL-2 (Peprotech, 100 U mL<sup>-1</sup>) and IL-12p70 (Peprotech, 2.5x10<sup>-3</sup> mg/mL). After 24 h of activation, T cells were re-seeded at  $1x10^6$  cells per mL in complete RPMI supplemented with murine IL-2 for 48 h on new untreated plates to allow T cell expansion. MACS-sorted reprogrammed mOrange+ B16-OVA cells or IFN- $\gamma$  treated cells were seeded with non-fluorescent B16-OVA (mOrange-) in equal numbers, 24 hours before co-culture with T cells. Expanded T cells were added in ratios of 0:1, 1:1, 5:1, 10:1 T cell to target cell. B16 cells not expressing OVA were used to assess assay specificity. For flow cytometric analysis, cells were resuspended and stained for viability (DAPI) and anti-CD3 and measured at indicated time points post co-culture with T cells.

## Naïve CD8+ T cell isolation, T cell priming and cross-presentation assays.

CD8+ T cells from spleen of OT-I mice were enriched using a naïve mouse CD8+ T cell Isolation kit (Miltenyi). Enriched CD8+ T cells were labeled with 5  $\mu$ M CTV (Thermo Fisher) at room temperature for 20 min, washed, and counted. FACS-sorted tdTomato+ and tdTomato- cells at day 8, MEFs, freshly isolated splenic cDC1 cells (CD11c+ MHC-II+CD8+), and CD103+ BM-DCs were incubated at 37 °C with OVA protein (100  $\mu$ g/mL). Alternatively, MACS-sorted reprogrammed tumor cells, non-reprogrammed cancer cells, eGFP-transduced cancer cells, and CD103+BM-DCs were incubated at 37°C with OVA protein (sliNFEKL, T cell priming assays) or protein (cross-presentation assays). OVA-

expressing cancer cells were not incubated with exogenous OVA. Cells were incubated overnight with Poly(I:C) or IFN- $\gamma$ , where indicated. After extensive washing, 20<sup>4</sup> MEFs-derived APCs or 5x10<sup>3</sup> tumor-APCs were incubated with 10<sup>5</sup> CTV-labeled OT-I CD8+ T cells in 96-well round- bottom tissue culture plates with Poly(I:C) (25 µg/mL). After 3 days of coculture, T cells were collected, stained, and analyzed in BD LSRFortessa. T cell proliferation (dilution of CTV staining) and activation (CD44 expression) were determined by gating live, single, TCR $\beta$ + CD8+ T cells. The threshold for data plotting was fixed at 1000 events within live cell gating.

### Naïve CD4+ T cell isolation and antigen presentation.

CD4+ T cell isolation and antigen-presenting assays CD4+ T cells from spleen of OT-II/Rag2KO mice were enriched using the Dynabeads Untouched Mouse CD4 Cells Kit (BD Biosciences). Enriched CD4+ T cells (purity,  $\geq$ 85%) were labeled with 5 µM CFSE at room temperature for 10 min, washed, and counted. 2x10<sup>4</sup> PIBtransduced MEFs or 2x10<sup>4</sup> splenic CD11c+ MHC-II+ cells were incubated with 2x10<sup>4</sup> CFSE-labeled OT-II CD4+ T cells in 96-well round-bottom tissue culture plates with OVA protein (10 µg/mL) or the OVA323-339 peptide (10 µg/mL) in the presence or absence of LPS (100 ng/mL). After 7 days of coculture, T cells were collected and stained for CD44. T cell proliferation (dilution of CFSE staining) and activation (CD44 expression) were analyzed in Accuri C6.

Alternatively, naïve CD4+ T cells were recovered from freshly isolated spleens from OT-II mice using Naïve CD4+ T cell isolation kit (Miltenyi). Isolated T cells were labeled with CTV as previously described for naïve CD8+ T cells and following manufacturer's protocol.  $1x10^4$  MACS-purified tumor-APCs and CD103+ BM-DCs were plated in round-bottom 96-well plate and incubated with OVA323-339 overnight. APCs were stimulated with Poly(I:C), where indicated. CTV-labelled naïve CD4+ T cells ( $10^5$  cells) were co-cultured with APCs for 4 days before flow cytometric analysis. T cell proliferation was measured as described for CD8+ T cells using CD44+ and CTV dilution as markers for T cell expansion and activation gated in live, single, TCR $\beta$ +, CD4+ T cells.

## Tumor establishment and treatment.

To establish tumors,  $2 \times 10^5$  B16OVA were injected subcutaneously into the right flanks of recipient mice. For B16-OVA tumor challenges, 6- to 10-week-old agematched C57BL/6 females were used. Tumor volumes were monitored with a digital caliper and calculated using the formula V=L×W×H× 1/2. Survival was determined by predefined endpoints (tumor size >1500 mm3, tumor ulceration, and signs of animal suffering). For all treatments with tumor-APCs, cancer cells were transduced with SFFV-PIB and purified by MACS with anti-CD45 and anti–MHC-II antibodies at day 5. Twenty-four hours before injection, tumor-APCs, or control cells were stimulated with Poly(I:C). For B16-OVA tumor experiments, B16derived tumor-APCs were additionally pulsed with OVA protein and washed extensively. For combinatorial treatment with ICIs, mice received 200 µg of anti–PD-1 (Bio X Cell, clone 29F.1A12) and 200 µg of anti–CTLA-4 (Bio X Cell, clone 9H10) or rat immunoglobulin G2a (IgG2a) (Bio X Cell, clone 2A3) and IgG2b (Bio X Cell, cloneLTF-2) isotype control antibodies intraperitoneally at days 7, 10, and 13. Animals were randomized after tumor inoculation before further treatments.

### T cell isolation from PBMCs and tetramer staining

14 days after B16-OVA tumor establishment and 7 days after the first intratumoral tumor-APC injection, peripheral blood was collected from the tail vein into heparin tubes to prevent clotting. Erythrocytes were lysed using BD Pharm Lyse according to the manufacturer's protocol and cells labeled with H-2Kb OVA (SIINFEKL) or H-2Kb MuLV p15E (KSPWFTTL) tetramers along with anti-CD45, anti-CD8 or anti-TCR antibodies.

# Immunophenotyping of tumors, tumor-draining and non-draining lymph nodes

On day 18, tumors were excised and chopped into pieces of 2 mm diameter. Tumor tissue was further mechanically and enzymatically processed for 1 h at 37°C using a digestion mixture of 1 mg/mL Collagenase D (Sigma-Aldrich), 10 µg/mL DNase I (Sigma-Aldrich) and 5 mM MgCl<sub>2</sub> in PBS under rotation. The resulting cell suspension was passed through a 70µm filter and divided equally for flow cytometric analysis using separate antibody staining panels. The lymphoid panel included antibodies for CD45, TCRB, CD8a, CD4, CD44, PD-1 and NK1.1. The myeloid panel included antibodies for CD45, CD11c, MHC-II, CD64, Ly6C, CD103, CD11b, Ly6G. Populations were defined according to: CD8+ T cells (CD45+TCRb+CD8+), CD4+ Т cells (CD45+TCRb+CD4+), NK cells (CD45+MHC-II-CD11b+Ly6G+), (CD45+NK1.1+), neutrophils monocytes (CD45+MHC-II-CD11b+Ly6c+), macrophages (CD45+MHC-II+CD11c+Ly6c-CD64+) and dendritic cells (CD45+MHC-II+CD11c+CD64-Ly6c-CD11b+).

## REFERENCES

- 1. de Visser KE, Joyce JA. The evolving tumor microenvironment: From cancer initiation to metastatic outgrowth. Cancer Cell. 2023;41(3):374-403.
- 2. Galon J, Bruni D. Tumor Immunology and Tumor Evolution: Intertwined Histories. Immunity. 2020;52(1):55-81.
- 3. Ehrlich P. Ueber den jetzigen Stand der Karzinomforschung1908.
- 4. Lawrence HS. Cellular and humoral aspects of the hypersensitive states: a symposium held at the New York Academy of Medicine. (No Title). 1959.
- 5. Zitvogel L, Tesniere A, Kroemer G. Cancer despite immunosurveillance: immunoselection and immunosubversion. Nat Rev Immunol. 2006;6(10):715-27.
- 6. Grulich AE, van Leeuwen MT, Falster MO, Vajdic CM. Incidence of cancers in people with HIV/AIDS compared with immunosuppressed transplant recipients: a meta-analysis. Lancet. 2007;370(9581):59-67.
- 7. Gross L. Intradermal immunization of C3H mice against a sarcoma that originated in an animal of the same line. Cancer research. 1943;3(5):326-33.
- 8. Foley EJ. Antigenic properties of methylcholanthrene-induced tumors in mice of the strain of origin. Cancer Res. 1953;13(12):835-7.
- Klein G, Sjögren HO, Klein E, Hellström KE. Demonstration of resistance against methylcholanthreneinduced sarcomas in the primary autochthonous host. Cancer research. 1960;20(11):1561-72.
- 10. van der Bruggen P, Traversari C, Chomez P, Lurquin C, De Plaen E, Van den Eynde B, et al. A gene encoding an antigen recognized by cytolytic T lymphocytes on a human melanoma. Science. 1991;254(5038):1643-7.
- 11. Wiemann B, Starnes CO. Coley's toxins, tumor necrosis factor and cancer research: a historical perspective. Pharmacol Ther. 1994;64(3):529-64.
- 12. Waldman AD, Fritz JM, Lenardo MJ. A guide to cancer immunotherapy: from T cell basic science to clinical practice. Nat Rev Immunol. 2020;20(11):651-68.
- 13. Epstein NA, Fatti LP. Prostatic carcinoma: some morphological features affecting prognosis. Cancer. 1976;37(5):2455-65.
- 14. Nacopoulou L, Azaris P, Papacharalampous N, Davaris P. Prognostic significance of histologic host response in cancer of the large bowel. Cancer. 1981;47(5):930-6.
- 15. Jass JR. Lymphocytic infiltration and survival in rectal cancer. J Clin Pathol. 1986;39(6):585-9.

- Rosenberg SA, Aebersold P, Cornetta K, Kasid A, Morgan RA, Moen R, et al. Gene transfer into humans--immunotherapy of patients with advanced melanoma, using tumor-infiltrating lymphocytes modified by retroviral gene transduction. N Engl J Med. 1990;323(9):570-8.
- 17. Rosenberg SA, Spiess P, Lafreniere R. A new approach to the adoptive immunotherapy of cancer with tumor-infiltrating lymphocytes. Science. 1986;233(4770):1318-21.
- Topalian SL, Muul LM, Solomon D, Rosenberg SA. Expansion of human tumor infiltrating lymphocytes for use in immunotherapy trials. J Immunol Methods. 1987;102(1):127-41.
- Rosenberg SA, Yang JC, Sherry RM, Kammula US, Hughes MS, Phan GQ, et al. Durable complete responses in heavily pretreated patients with metastatic melanoma using T-cell transfer immunotherapy. Clin Cancer Res. 2011;17(13):4550-7.
- 20. Cappell KM, Kochenderfer JN. Long-term outcomes following CAR T cell therapy: what we know so far. Nat Rev Clin Oncol. 2023;20(6):359-71.
- 21. Sterner RC, Sterner RM. CAR-T cell therapy: current limitations and potential strategies. Blood Cancer J. 2021;11(4):69.
- 22. Rendo MJ, Joseph JJ, Phan LM, DeStefano CB. CAR T-Cell Therapy for Patients with Multiple Myeloma: Current Evidence and Challenges. Blood Lymphat Cancer. 2022;12:119-36.
- 23. Marofi F, Motavalli R, Safonov VA, Thangavelu L, Yumashev AV, Alexander M, et al. CAR T cells in solid tumors: challenges and opportunities. Stem Cell Res Ther. 2021;12(1):81.
- 24. Qasim W, Zhan H, Samarasinghe S, Adams S, Amrolia P, Stafford S, et al. Molecular remission of infant B-ALL after infusion of universal TALEN geneedited CAR T cells. Sci Transl Med. 2017;9(374).
- 25. Cooper ML, Choi J, Staser K, Ritchey JK, Devenport JM, Eckardt K, et al. An "off-the-shelf" fratricide-resistant CAR-T for the treatment of T cell hematologic malignancies. Leukemia. 2018;32(9):1970-83.
- Sommer C, Boldajipour B, Kuo TC, Bentley T, Sutton J, Chen A, et al. Preclinical Evaluation of Allogeneic CAR T Cells Targeting BCMA for the Treatment of Multiple Myeloma. Mol Ther. 2019;27(6):1126-38.
- 27. Fathman CG, Lineberry NB. Molecular mechanisms of CD4+ T-cell anergy. Nat Rev Immunol. 2007;7(8):599-609.
- Hubo M, Trinschek B, Kryczanowsky F, Tuettenberg A, Steinbrink K, Jonuleit H. Costimulatory molecules on immunogenic versus tolerogenic human dendritic cells. Front Immunol. 2013;4:82.
- 29. Brunet J-F, Denizot F, Luciani M-F, Roux-Dosseto M, Suzan M, Mattei M-G, et al. A new member of the immunoglobulin superfamily—CTLA-4. Nature. 1987;328(6127):267-70.
- 30. Dariavach P, Mattei MG, Golstein P, Lefranc MP. Human Ig superfamily CTLA-4 gene: chromosomal localization and identity of protein sequence between murine and human CTLA-4 cytoplasmic domains. Eur J Immunol. 1988;18(12):1901-5.

- 31. Freeman GJ, Long AJ, Iwai Y, Bourque K, Chernova T, Nishimura H, et al. Engagement of the PD-1 immunoinhibitory receptor by a novel B7 family member leads to negative regulation of lymphocyte activation. J Exp Med. 2000;192(7):1027-34.
- 32. Ishida Y, Agata Y, Shibahara K, Honjo T. Induced expression of PD-1, a novel member of the immunoglobulin gene superfamily, upon programmed cell death. EMBO J. 1992;11(11):3887-95.
- Linsley PS, Brady W, Urnes M, Grosmaire LS, Damle NK, Ledbetter JA. CTLA-4 is a second receptor for the B cell activation antigen B7. J Exp Med. 1991;174(3):561-9.
- 34. Linsley PS, Greene JL, Brady W, Bajorath J, Ledbetter JA, Peach R. Human B7-1 (CD80) and B7-2 (CD86) bind with similar avidities but distinct kinetics to CD28 and CTLA-4 receptors. Immunity. 1994;1(9):793-801.
- 35. Walunas TL, Bakker CY, Bluestone JA. CTLA-4 ligation blocks CD28-dependent T cell activation. J Exp Med. 1996;183(6):2541-50.
- 36. Krummel MF, Allison JP. CD28 and CTLA-4 have opposing effects on the response of T cells to stimulation. J Exp Med. 1995;182(2):459-65.
- Krummel MF, Allison JP. CTLA-4 engagement inhibits IL-2 accumulation and cell cycle progression upon activation of resting T cells. J Exp Med. 1996;183(6):2533-40.
- Waterhouse P, Penninger JM, Timms E, Wakeham A, Shahinian A, Lee KP, et al. Lymphoproliferative disorders with early lethality in mice deficient in Ctla-4. Science. 1995;270(5238):985-8.
- Tivol EA, Boyd SD, McKeon S, Borriello F, Nickerson P, Strom TB, et al. CTLA4Ig prevents lymphoproliferation and fatal multiorgan tissue destruction in CTLA-4-deficient mice. J Immunol. 1997;158(11):5091-4.
- 40. Tai X, Van Laethem F, Sharpe AH, Singer A. Induction of autoimmune disease in CTLA-4-/- mice depends on a specific CD28 motif that is required for in vivo costimulation. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A. 2007;104(34):13756-61.
- 41. Kuehn HS, Ouyang W, Lo B, Deenick EK, Niemela JE, Avery DT, et al. Immune dysregulation in human subjects with heterozygous germline mutations in CTLA4. Science. 2014;345(6204):1623-7.
- 42. Latchman Y, Wood CR, Chernova T, Chaudhary D, Borde M, Chernova I, et al. PD-L2 is a second ligand for PD-1 and inhibits T cell activation. Nat Immunol. 2001;2(3):261-8.
- 43. Dong H, Strome SE, Salomao DR, Tamura H, Hirano F, Flies DB, et al. Tumorassociated B7-H1 promotes T-cell apoptosis: a potential mechanism of immune evasion. Nat Med. 2002;8(8):793-800.
- 44. Iwai Y, Ishida M, Tanaka Y, Okazaki T, Honjo T, Minato N. Involvement of PD-L1 on tumor cells in the escape from host immune system and tumor immunotherapy by PD-L1 blockade. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A. 2002;99(19):12293-7.

- 45. Wei SC, Levine JH, Cogdill AP, Zhao Y, Anang NAS, Andrews MC, et al. Distinct Cellular Mechanisms Underlie Anti-CTLA-4 and Anti-PD-1 Checkpoint Blockade. Cell. 2017;170(6):1120-33 e17.
- Barber DL, Wherry EJ, Masopust D, Zhu B, Allison JP, Sharpe AH, et al. Restoring function in exhausted CD8 T cells during chronic viral infection. Nature. 2006;439(7077):682-7.
- 47. Blank C, Brown I, Peterson AC, Spiotto M, Iwai Y, Honjo T, et al. PD-L1/B7H-1 inhibits the effector phase of tumor rejection by T cell receptor (TCR) transgenic CD8+ T cells. Cancer Res. 2004;64(3):1140-5.
- 48. Nishimura H, Nose M, Hiai H, Minato N, Honjo T. Development of lupus-like autoimmune diseases by disruption of the PD-1 gene encoding an ITIM motif-carrying immunoreceptor. Immunity. 1999;11(2):141-51.
- 49. Nishimura H, Okazaki T, Tanaka Y, Nakatani K, Hara M, Matsumori A, et al. Autoimmune dilated cardiomyopathy in PD-1 receptor-deficient mice. Science. 2001;291(5502):319-22.
- 50. Wang J, Yoshida T, Nakaki F, Hiai H, Okazaki T, Honjo T. Establishment of NOD-Pdcd1-/- mice as an efficient animal model of type I diabetes. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A. 2005;102(33):11823-8.
- 51. Nishimura H, Minato N, Nakano T, Honjo T. Immunological studies on PD-1 deficient mice: implication of PD-1 as a negative regulator for B cell responses. Int Immunol. 1998;10(10):1563-72.
- 52. Walunas TL, Lenschow DJ, Bakker CY, Linsley PS, Freeman GJ, Green JM, et al. CTLA-4 can function as a negative regulator of T cell activation. Immunity. 1994;1(5):405-13.
- 53. Leach DR, Krummel MF, Allison JP. Enhancement of antitumor immunity by CTLA-4 blockade. Science. 1996;271(5256):1734-6.
- 54. Couzin-Frankel J. Cancer Immunotherapy. Science. 2013;342(6165):1432-3.
- 55. Zimmermannova O, Caiado I, Ferreira AG, Pereira CF. Cell Fate Reprogramming in the Era of Cancer Immunotherapy. Front Immunol. 2021;12:714822.
- 56. Robert C, Thomas L, Bondarenko I, O'Day S, Weber J, Garbe C, et al. Ipilimumab plus dacarbazine for previously untreated metastatic melanoma. N Engl J Med. 2011;364(26):2517-26.
- Hodi FS, O'Day SJ, McDermott DF, Weber RW, Sosman JA, Haanen JB, et al. Improved survival with ipilimumab in patients with metastatic melanoma. N Engl J Med. 2010;363(8):711-23.
- Schadendorf D, Hodi FS, Robert C, Weber JS, Margolin K, Hamid O, et al. Pooled Analysis of Long-Term Survival Data From Phase II and Phase III Trials of Ipilimumab in Unresectable or Metastatic Melanoma. J Clin Oncol. 2015;33(17):1889-94.
- 59. Brahmer JR, Drake CG, Wollner I, Powderly JD, Picus J, Sharfman WH, et al. Phase I study of single-agent anti-programmed death-1 (MDX-1106) in refractory solid tumors: safety, clinical activity, pharmacodynamics, and immunologic correlates. J Clin Oncol. 2010;28(19):3167-75.

- Topalian SL, Hodi FS, Brahmer JR, Gettinger SN, Smith DC, McDermott DF, et al. Safety, activity, and immune correlates of anti-PD-1 antibody in cancer. N Engl J Med. 2012;366(26):2443-54.
- 61. Wolchok JD, Chiarion-Sileni V, Gonzalez R, Rutkowski P, Grob JJ, Cowey CL, et al. Overall Survival with Combined Nivolumab and Ipilimumab in Advanced Melanoma. N Engl J Med. 2017;377(14):1345-56.
- 62. Larkin J, Chiarion-Sileni V, Gonzalez R, Grob JJ, Rutkowski P, Lao CD, et al. Five-Year Survival with Combined Nivolumab and Ipilimumab in Advanced Melanoma. N Engl J Med. 2019;381(16):1535-46.
- 63. Garon EB, Rizvi NA, Hui R, Leighl N, Balmanoukian AS, Eder JP, et al. Pembrolizumab for the treatment of non–small-cell lung cancer. New England Journal of Medicine. 2015;372(21):2018-28.
- 64. Reck M, Rodríguez-Abreu D, Robinson AG, Hui R, Csőszi T, Fülöp A, et al. Pembrolizumab versus chemotherapy for PD-L1–positive non–small-cell lung cancer. New England Journal of Medicine. 2016;375(19):1823-33.
- 65. Rittmeyer A, Barlesi F, Waterkamp D, Park K, Ciardiello F, Von Pawel J, et al. Atezolizumab versus docetaxel in patients with previously treated non-small-cell lung cancer (OAK): a phase 3, open-label, multicentre randomised controlled trial. The Lancet. 2017;389(10066):255-65.
- 66. Ferris RL, Blumenschein G, Jr., Fayette J, Guigay J, Colevas AD, Licitra L, et al. Nivolumab for Recurrent Squamous-Cell Carcinoma of the Head and Neck. N Engl J Med. 2016;375(19):1856-67.
- 67. Burtness B, Harrington KJ, Greil R, Soulières D, Tahara M, de Castro G, et al. Pembrolizumab alone or with chemotherapy versus cetuximab with chemotherapy for recurrent or metastatic squamous cell carcinoma of the head and neck (KEYNOTE-048): a randomised, open-label, phase 3 study. The Lancet. 2019;394(10212):1915-28.
- 68. Bellmunt J, De Wit R, Vaughn DJ, Fradet Y, Lee J-L, Fong L, et al. Pembrolizumab as second-line therapy for advanced urothelial carcinoma. New England Journal of Medicine. 2017;376(11):1015-26.
- 69. Lopez-Beltran A, Cimadamore A, Blanca A, Massari F, Vau N, Scarpelli M, et al. Immune Checkpoint Inhibitors for the Treatment of Bladder Cancer. Cancers (Basel). 2021;13(1).
- Rouanne M, Bajorin DF, Hannan R, Galsky MD, Williams SB, Necchi A, et al. Rationale and Outcomes for Neoadjuvant Immunotherapy in Urothelial Carcinoma of the Bladder. Eur Urol Oncol. 2020;3(6):728-38.
- Sharma P, Retz M, Siefker-Radtke A, Baron A, Necchi A, Bedke J, et al. Nivolumab in metastatic urothelial carcinoma after platinum therapy (CheckMate 275): a multicentre, single-arm, phase 2 trial. The lancet oncology. 2017;18(3):312-22.
- 72. Fuchs CS, Doi T, Jang RW, Muro K, Satoh T, Machado M, et al. Safety and efficacy of pembrolizumab monotherapy in patients with previously treated advanced gastric and gastroesophageal junction cancer: phase 2 clinical KEYNOTE-059 trial. JAMA oncology. 2018;4(5):e180013-e.

- 73. El-Khoueiry AB, Sangro B, Yau T, Crocenzi TS, Kudo M, Hsu C, et al. Nivolumab in patients with advanced hepatocellular carcinoma (CheckMate 040): an open-label, non-comparative, phase 1/2 dose escalation and expansion trial. The Lancet. 2017;389(10088):2492-502.
- 74. Roemer MGM, Redd RA, Cader FZ, Pak CJ, Abdelrahman S, Ouyang J, et al. Major Histocompatibility Complex Class II and Programmed Death Ligand 1 Expression Predict Outcome After Programmed Death 1 Blockade in Classic Hodgkin Lymphoma. J Clin Oncol. 2018;36(10):942-50.
- 75. Schmid P, Rugo HS, Adams S, Schneeweiss A, Barrios CH, Iwata H, et al. Atezolizumab plus nab-paclitaxel as first-line treatment for unresectable, locally advanced or metastatic triple-negative breast cancer (IMpassion130): updated efficacy results from a randomised, double-blind, placebo-controlled, phase 3 trial. Lancet Oncol. 2020;21(1):44-59.
- 76. Ansell SM, Lesokhin AM, Borrello I, Halwani A, Scott EC, Gutierrez M, et al. PD-1 blockade with nivolumab in relapsed or refractory Hodgkin's lymphoma. New England Journal of Medicine. 2015;372(4):311-9.
- 77. Moskowitz CH, Zinzani PL, Fanale MA, Armand P, Johnson NA, Radford JA, et al. Pembrolizumab in relapsed/refractory classical Hodgkin lymphoma: primary end point analysis of the phase 2 Keynote-087 study. Blood. 2016;128(22):1107.
- Kwon ED, Hurwitz AA, Foster BA, Madias C, Feldhaus AL, Greenberg NM, et al. Manipulation of T cell costimulatory and inhibitory signals for immunotherapy of prostate cancer. Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences. 1997;94(15):8099-103.
- 79. Kurtulus S, Madi A, Escobar G, Klapholz M, Nyman J, Christian E, et al. Checkpoint Blockade Immunotherapy Induces Dynamic Changes in PD-1(-)CD8(+) Tumor-Infiltrating T Cells. Immunity. 2019;50(1):181-94 e6.
- Maio M, Grob J-J, Aamdal S, Bondarenko I, Robert C, Thomas L, et al. Five-year survival rates for treatment-naive patients with advanced melanoma who received ipilimumab plus dacarbazine in a phase III trial. Journal of clinical oncology. 2015;33(10):1191.
- 81. Kaufman HL, Kohlhapp FJ, Zloza A. Oncolytic viruses: a new class of immunotherapy drugs. Nat Rev Drug Discov. 2015;14(9):642-62.
- 82. Martuza RL, Malick A, Markert JM, Ruffner KL, Coen DM. Experimental therapy of human glioma by means of a genetically engineered virus mutant. Science. 1991;252(5007):854-6.
- 83. Moore AE. Effect of inoculation of the viruses of influenza A and herpes simplex on the growth of transplantable tumors in mice. Cancer. 1949;2(3):516-24.
- 84. Andtbacka RHI, Kaufman HL, Collichio F, Amatruda T, Senzer N, Chesney J, et al. Talimogene Laherparepvec Improves Durable Response Rate in Patients With Advanced Melanoma. Journal of Clinical Oncology. 2015;33(25):2780-8.
- 85. Shalhout SZ, Miller DM, Emerick KS, Kaufman HL. Therapy with oncolytic viruses: progress and challenges. Nat Rev Clin Oncol. 2023;20(3):160-77.

- 86. Chang KJ, Senzer NN, Binmoeller K, Goldsweig H, Coffin R. Phase I doseescalation study of talimogene laherparepvec (T-VEC) for advanced pancreatic cancer (ca). American Society of Clinical Oncology; 2012.
- Harrington KJ, Hingorani M, Tanay MA, Hickey J, Bhide SA, Clarke PM, et al. Phase I/II study of oncolytic HSVGM-CSF in combination with radiotherapy and cisplatin in untreated stage III/IV squamous cell cancer of the head and neck. Clinical Cancer Research. 2010;16(15):4005-15.
- Friedman GK, Johnston JM, Bag AK, Bernstock JD, Li R, Aban I, et al. Oncolytic HSV-1 G207 immunovirotherapy for pediatric high-grade gliomas. New England Journal of Medicine. 2021;384(17):1613-22.
- 89. Packiam VT, Lamm DL, Barocas DA, Trainer A, Fand B, Davis III RL, et al., editors. An open label, single-arm, phase II multicenter study of the safety and efficacy of CG0070 oncolytic vector regimen in patients with BCG-unresponsive non–muscle-invasive bladder cancer: Interim results. Urologic Oncology: Seminars and Original Investigations; 2018: Elsevier.
- 90. Streby KA, Currier MA, Triplet M, Ott K, Dishman DJ, Vaughan MR, et al. Firstin-human intravenous seprehvir in young cancer patients: a phase 1 clinical trial. Mol Ther. 2019;27(11):1930-8.
- Villalona-Calero MA, Lam E, Otterson GA, Zhao W, Timmons M, Subramaniam D, et al. Oncolytic reovirus in combination with chemotherapy in metastatic or recurrent non-small cell lung cancer patients with K RAS-activated tumors. Cancer. 2016;122(6):875-83.
- 92. Mahalingam D, Goel S, Aparo S, Patel Arora S, Noronha N, Tran H, et al. A phase II study of pelareorep (REOLYSIN®) in combination with genetiabine for patients with advanced pancreatic adenocarcinoma. Cancers. 2018;10(6):160.
- 93. Kantoff PW, Higano CS, Shore ND, Berger ER, Small EJ, Penson DF, et al. Sipuleucel-T immunotherapy for castration-resistant prostate cancer. N Engl J Med. 2010;363(5):411-22.
- 94. Fong L, Carroll P, Weinberg V, Chan S, Lewis J, Corman J, et al. Activated lymphocyte recruitment into the tumor microenvironment following preoperative sipuleucel-T for localized prostate cancer. J Natl Cancer Inst. 2014;106(11).
- 95. Rosenblatt J, Stone RM, Uhl L, Neuberg D, Joyce R, Levine JD, et al. Individualized vaccination of AML patients in remission is associated with induction of antileukemia immunity and prolonged remissions. Sci Transl Med. 2016;8(368):368ra171.
- 96. Sabado RL, Balan S, Bhardwaj N. Dendritic cell-based immunotherapy. Cell Res. 2017;27(1):74-95.
- 97. Yu J, Sun H, Cao W, Song Y, Jiang Z. Research progress on dendritic cell vaccines in cancer immunotherapy. Exp Hematol Oncol. 2022;11(1):3.
- 98. Florcken A, Kopp J, van Lessen A, Movassaghi K, Takvorian A, Johrens K, et al. Allogeneic partially HLA-matched dendritic cells pulsed with autologous tumor cell lysate as a vaccine in metastatic renal cell cancer: a clinical phase I/II study. Hum Vaccin Immunother. 2013;9(6):1217-27.

- 99. Shinde P, Fernandes S, Melinkeri S, Kale V, Limaye L. Compromised functionality of monocyte-derived dendritic cells in multiple myeloma patients may limit their use in cancer immunotherapy. Sci Rep. 2018;8(1):5705.
- 100. Bol KF, Schreibelt G, Rabold K, Wculek SK, Schwarze JK, Dzionek A, et al. The clinical application of cancer immunotherapy based on naturally circulating dendritic cells. J Immunother Cancer. 2019;7(1):109.
- 101. Charles J, Chaperot L, Hannani D, Bruder Costa J, Templier I, Trabelsi S, et al. An innovative plasmacytoid dendritic cell line-based cancer vaccine primes and expands antitumor T-cells in melanoma patients in a first-in-human trial. Oncoimmunology. 2020;9(1):1738812.
- 102. Schreibelt G, Bol KF, Westdorp H, Wimmers F, Aarntzen EH, Duiveman-de Boer T, et al. Effective Clinical Responses in Metastatic Melanoma Patients after Vaccination with Primary Myeloid Dendritic Cells. Clin Cancer Res. 2016;22(9):2155-66.
- 103. Lutz E, Yeo CJ, Lillemoe KD, Biedrzycki B, Kobrin B, Herman J, et al. A lethally irradiated allogeneic granulocyte-macrophage colony stimulating factor-secreting tumor vaccine for pancreatic adenocarcinoma. A Phase II trial of safety, efficacy, and immune activation. Ann Surg. 2011;253(2):328-35.
- 104. Le DT, Lutz E, Uram JN, Sugar EA, Onners B, Solt S, et al. Evaluation of ipilimumab in combination with allogeneic pancreatic tumor cells transfected with a GM-CSF gene in previously treated pancreatic cancer. J Immunother. 2013;36(7):382-9.
- 105. Lutz ER, Wu AA, Bigelow E, Sharma R, Mo G, Soares K, et al. Immunotherapy converts nonimmunogenic pancreatic tumors into immunogenic foci of immune regulation. Cancer Immunol Res. 2014;2(7):616-31.
- 106. Le DT, Wang-Gillam A, Picozzi V, Greten TF, Crocenzi T, Springett G, et al. Safety and survival with GVAX pancreas prime and Listeria Monocytogenesexpressing mesothelin (CRS-207) boost vaccines for metastatic pancreatic cancer. J Clin Oncol. 2015;33(12):1325-33.
- 107. Le DT, Picozzi VJ, Ko AH, Wainberg ZA, Kindler H, Wang-Gillam A, et al. Results from a Phase IIb, Randomized, Multicenter Study of GVAX Pancreas and CRS-207 Compared with Chemotherapy in Adults with Previously Treated Metastatic Pancreatic Adenocarcinoma (ECLIPSE Study). Clin Cancer Res. 2019;25(18):5493-502.
- 108. Kumar A, Taghi Khani A, Sanchez Ortiz A, Swaminathan S. GM-CSF: A Double-Edged Sword in Cancer Immunotherapy. Front Immunol. 2022;13:901277.
- 109. Saxena M, van der Burg SH, Melief CJM, Bhardwaj N. Therapeutic cancer vaccines. Nat Rev Cancer. 2021;21(6):360-78.
- 110. Pavlick A, Blazquez AB, Meseck M, Lattanzi M, Ott PA, Marron TU, et al. Combined Vaccination with NY-ESO-1 Protein, Poly-ICLC, and Montanide Improves Humoral and Cellular Immune Responses in Patients with High-Risk Melanoma. Cancer Immunol Res. 2020;8(1):70-80.
- 111. Tomaic V. Functional Roles of E6 and E7 Oncoproteins in HPV-Induced Malignancies at Diverse Anatomical Sites. Cancers (Basel). 2016;8(10).

- 112. Sahin U, Oehm P, Derhovanessian E, Jabulowsky RA, Vormehr M, Gold M, et al. An RNA vaccine drives immunity in checkpoint-inhibitor-treated melanoma. Nature. 2020;585(7823):107-12.
- 113. Moderna and Merck Announce mRNA-4157/V940, an

Investigational Personalized mRNA Cancer Vaccine, in

Combination with KEYTRUDA(R) (pembrolizumab),

Met Primary Ecacy Endpoint in Phase 2b KEYNOTE942 Trial [press release]. 2022.

- 114. Precision medicine meets cancer vaccines. Nat Med. 2023;29(6):1287.
- 115. Rojas LA, Sethna Z, Soares KC, Olcese C, Pang N, Patterson E, et al. Personalized RNA neoantigen vaccines stimulate T cells in pancreatic cancer. Nature. 2023;618(7963):144-50.
- 116. Keskin DB, Anandappa AJ, Sun J, Tirosh I, Mathewson ND, Li S, et al. Neoantigen vaccine generates intratumoral T cell responses in phase Ib glioblastoma trial. Nature. 2019;565(7738):234-9.
- 117. Hirsch L, Zitvogel L, Eggermont A, Marabelle A. PD-Loma: a cancer entity with a shared sensitivity to the PD-1/PD-L1 pathway blockade. Br J Cancer. 2019;120(1):3-5.
- 118. Sharma P, Hu-Lieskovan S, Wargo JA, Ribas A. Primary, Adaptive, and Acquired Resistance to Cancer Immunotherapy. Cell. 2017;168(4):707-23.
- 119. Brudno JN, Kochenderfer JN. Toxicities of chimeric antigen receptor T cells: recognition and management. Blood. 2016;127(26):3321-30.
- 120. Johnson DB, Nebhan CA, Moslehi JJ, Balko JM. Immune-checkpoint inhibitors: long-term implications of toxicity. Nat Rev Clin Oncol. 2022;19(4):254-67.
- 121. Tolba MF, Omar HA. Immunotherapy, an evolving approach for the management of triple negative breast cancer: Converting non-responders to responders. Crit Rev Oncol Hematol. 2018;122:202-7.
- 122. Elez E, Baraibar I. Immunotherapy in colorectal cancer: an unmet need deserving of change. Lancet Oncol. 2022;23(7):830-1.
- 123. Ye Y, Zheng S. Successful Immunotherapy for Pancreatic Cancer in a Patient With TSC2 and SMAD4 Mutations: A Case Report. Front Immunol. 2021;12:785400.
- 124. Bruni D, Angell HK, Galon J. The immune contexture and Immunoscore in cancer prognosis and therapeutic efficacy. Nat Rev Cancer. 2020;20(11):662-80.
- 125. Benoit A, Vogin G, Duhem C, Berchem G, Janji B. Lighting Up the Fire in the Microenvironment of Cold Tumors: A Major Challenge to Improve Cancer Immunotherapy. Cells. 2023;12(13).
- 126. Chen DS, Mellman I. Oncology meets immunology: the cancer-immunity cycle. Immunity. 2013;39(1):1-10.
- 127. Lendeckel U, Venz S, Wolke C. Macrophages: shapes and functions. ChemTexts. 2022;8(2):12.

- 128. Yang Z, Zhang M, Peng R, Liu J, Wang F, Li Y, et al. The prognostic and clinicopathological value of tumor-associated macrophages in patients with colorectal cancer: a systematic review and meta-analysis. Int J Colorectal Dis. 2020;35(9):1651-61.
- Kumari N, Choi SH. Tumor-associated macrophages in cancer: recent advancements in cancer nanoimmunotherapies. J Exp Clin Cancer Res. 2022;41(1):68.
- 130. Borriello L, Coste A, Traub B, Sharma VP, Karagiannis GS, Lin Y, et al. Primary tumor associated macrophages activate programs of invasion and dormancy in disseminating tumor cells. Nat Commun. 2022;13(1):626.
- 131. Unanue ER, Cerottini JC. The immunogenicity of antigen bound to the plasma membrane of macrophages. J Exp Med. 1970;131(4):711-25.
- Steinman RM, Cohn ZA. Identification of a novel cell type in peripheral lymphoid organs of mice. I. Morphology, quantitation, tissue distribution. J Exp Med. 1973;137(5):1142-62.
- Cabeza-Cabrerizo M, Cardoso A, Minutti CM, Pereira da Costa M, Reis e Sousa C. Dendritic Cells Revisited. Annu Rev Immunol. 2021;39:131-66.
- 134. Kondo M, Weissman IL, Akashi K. Identification of clonogenic common lymphoid progenitors in mouse bone marrow. Cell. 1997;91(5):661-72.
- 135. Akashi K, Traver D, Miyamoto T, Weissman IL. A clonogenic common myeloid progenitor that gives rise to all myeloid lineages. Nature. 2000;404(6774):193-7.
- 136. Debili N, Coulombel L, Croisille L, Katz A, Guichard J, Breton-Gorius J, et al. Characterization of a bipotent erythro-megakaryocytic progenitor in human bone marrow. Blood. 1996;88(4):1284-96.
- 137. Fujiwara Y, Browne CP, Cunniff K, Goff SC, Orkin SH. Arrested development of embryonic red cell precursors in mouse embryos lacking transcription factor GATA-1. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A. 1996;93(22):12355-8.
- 138. Rothenberg EV. Transcriptional control of early T and B cell developmental choices. Annu Rev Immunol. 2014;32:283-321.
- 139. Busslinger M. Transcriptional control of early B cell development. Annu Rev Immunol. 2004;22:55-79.
- 140. Chopin M, Lun AT, Zhan Y, Schreuder J, Coughlan H, D'Amico A, et al. Transcription Factor PU.1 Promotes Conventional Dendritic Cell Identity and Function via Induction of Transcriptional Regulator DC-SCRIPT. Immunity. 2019;50(1):77-90 e5.
- 141. Hohaus S, Petrovick MS, Voso MT, Sun Z, Zhang DE, Tenen DG. PU.1 (Spi-1) and C/EBP alpha regulate expression of the granulocyte-macrophage colony-stimulating factor receptor alpha gene. Mol Cell Biol. 1995;15(10):5830-45.
- 142. Reddy MA, Yang BS, Yue X, Barnett CJ, Ross IL, Sweet MJ, et al. Opposing actions of c-ets/PU.1 and c-myb protooncogene products in regulating the macrophage-specific promoters of the human and mouse colony-stimulating factor-1 receptor (c-fms) genes. J Exp Med. 1994;180(6):2309-19.

- 143. Smith LT, Hohaus S, Gonzalez DA, Dziennis SE, Tenen DG. PU.1 (Spi-1) and C/EBP alpha regulate the granulocyte colony-stimulating factor receptor promoter in myeloid cells. Blood. 1996;88(4):1234-47.
- 144. Zhang DE, Hetherington CJ, Chen HM, Tenen DG. The macrophage transcription factor PU.1 directs tissue-specific expression of the macrophage colony-stimulating factor receptor. Mol Cell Biol. 1994;14(1):373-81.
- 145. Minderjahn J, Schmidt A, Fuchs A, Schill R, Raithel J, Babina M, et al. Mechanisms governing the pioneering and redistribution capabilities of the nonclassical pioneer PU.1 (vol 11, 402, 2020). Nat Commun. 2020;11(1).
- 146. Carotta S, Dakic A, D'Amico A, Pang SH, Greig KT, Nutt SL, et al. The transcription factor PU.1 controls dendritic cell development and Flt3 cytokine receptor expression in a dose-dependent manner. Immunity. 2010;32(5):628-41.
- 147. Onai N, Obata-Onai A, Schmid MA, Ohteki T, Jarrossay D, Manz MG. Identification of clonogenic common Flt3+M-CSFR+ plasmacytoid and conventional dendritic cell progenitors in mouse bone marrow. Nat Immunol. 2007;8(11):1207-16.
- 148. Iwasaki H, Akashi K. Myeloid lineage commitment from the hematopoietic stem cell. Immunity. 2007;26(6):726-40.
- 149. Schlitzer A, Sivakamasundari V, Chen J, Sumatoh HR, Schreuder J, Lum J, et al. Identification of cDC1- and cDC2-committed DC progenitors reveals early lineage priming at the common DC progenitor stage in the bone marrow. Nat Immunol. 2015;16(7):718-28.
- 150. Schraml BU, van Blijswijk J, Zelenay S, Whitney PG, Filby A, Acton SE, et al. Genetic tracing via DNGR-1 expression history defines dendritic cells as a hematopoietic lineage. Cell. 2013;154(4):843-58.
- 151. Sancho D, Joffre OP, Keller AM, Rogers NC, Martinez D, Hernanz-Falcon P, et al. Identification of a dendritic cell receptor that couples sensing of necrosis to immunity. Nature. 2009;458(7240):899-903.
- 152. Satpathy AT, Kc W, Albring JC, Edelson BT, Kretzer NM, Bhattacharya D, et al. Zbtb46 expression distinguishes classical dendritic cells and their committed progenitors from other immune lineages. J Exp Med. 2012;209(6):1135-52.
- 153. Liu K, Victora GD, Schwickert TA, Guermonprez P, Meredith MM, Yao K, et al. In vivo analysis of dendritic cell development and homeostasis. Science. 2009;324(5925):392-7.
- 154. Grajales-Reyes GE, Iwata A, Albring J, Wu X, Tussiwand R, Kc W, et al. Batf3 maintains autoactivation of Irf8 for commitment of a CD8alpha(+) conventional DC clonogenic progenitor. Nat Immunol. 2015;16(7):708-17.
- 155. Kurotaki D, Kawase W, Sasaki H, Nakabayashi J, Nishiyama A, Morse HC, 3rd, et al. Epigenetic control of early dendritic cell lineage specification by the transcription factor IRF8 in mice. Blood. 2019;133(17):1803-13.
- 156. Durai V, Bagadia P, Granja JM, Satpathy AT, Kulkarni DH, Davidson JTt, et al. Cryptic activation of an Irf8 enhancer governs cDC1 fate specification. Nat Immunol. 2019;20(9):1161-73.

- 157. Bagadia P, Huang X, Liu TT, Durai V, Grajales-Reyes GE, Nitschke M, et al. An Nfil3-Zeb2-Id2 pathway imposes Irf8 enhancer switching during cDC1 development. Nat Immunol. 2019;20(9):1174-85.
- 158. Hildner K, Edelson BT, Purtha WE, Diamond M, Matsushita H, Kohyama M, et al. Batf3 deficiency reveals a critical role for CD8alpha+ dendritic cells in cytotoxic T cell immunity. Science. 2008;322(5904):1097-100.
- 159. Hacker C, Kirsch RD, Ju XS, Hieronymus T, Gust TC, Kuhl C, et al. Transcriptional profiling identifies Id2 function in dendritic cell development. Nat Immunol. 2003;4(4):380-6.
- 160. Kashiwada M, Pham N-L, Pewe L, Harty J, Rothman P. NFIL3/E4BP4 is a key transcription factor for CD8α+ dendritic cell development (153.47). The Journal of Immunology. 2011;186(1\_Supplement):153.47-.47.
- 161. Sichien D, Scott CL, Martens L, Vanderkerken M, Van Gassen S, Plantinga M, et al. IRF8 Transcription Factor Controls Survival and Function of Terminally Differentiated Conventional and Plasmacytoid Dendritic Cells, Respectively. Immunity. 2016;45(3):626-40.
- 162. Merad M, Sathe P, Helft J, Miller J, Mortha A. The dendritic cell lineage: ontogeny and function of dendritic cells and their subsets in the steady state and the inflamed setting. Annu Rev Immunol. 2013;31:563-604.
- 163. McKenna HJ, Stocking KL, Miller RE, Brasel K, De Smedt T, Maraskovsky E, et al. Mice lacking flt3 ligand have deficient hematopoiesis affecting hematopoietic progenitor cells, dendritic cells, and natural killer cells. Blood. 2000;95(11):3489-97.
- 164. Waskow C, Liu K, Darrasse-Jeze G, Guermonprez P, Ginhoux F, Merad M, et al. The receptor tyrosine kinase Flt3 is required for dendritic cell development in peripheral lymphoid tissues. Nat Immunol. 2008;9(6):676-83.
- 165. Mayer CT, Ghorbani P, Nandan A, Dudek M, Arnold-Schrauf C, Hesse C, et al. Selective and efficient generation of functional Batf3-dependent CD103+ dendritic cells from mouse bone marrow. Blood. 2014;124(20):3081-91.
- 166. Satpathy AT, Briseno CG, Lee JS, Ng D, Manieri NA, Kc W, et al. Notch2dependent classical dendritic cells orchestrate intestinal immunity to attaching-andeffacing bacterial pathogens. Nat Immunol. 2013;14(9):937-48.
- 167. Murphy TL, Grajales-Reyes GE, Wu X, Tussiwand R, Briseno CG, Iwata A, et al. Transcriptional Control of Dendritic Cell Development. Annu Rev Immunol. 2016;34:93-119.
- 168. Tussiwand R, Everts B, Grajales-Reyes GE, Kretzer NM, Iwata A, Bagaitkar J, et al. Klf4 expression in conventional dendritic cells is required for T helper 2 cell responses. Immunity. 2015;42(5):916-28.
- 169. Brown CC, Gudjonson H, Pritykin Y, Deep D, Lavallee VP, Mendoza A, et al. Transcriptional Basis of Mouse and Human Dendritic Cell Heterogeneity. Cell. 2019;179(4):846-63 e24.
- 170. Tian Y, Guo X, Wu T, Fei K, Wu L. Identification of a novel cDC2-committed progenitor within mouse common dendritic cell progenitor population. Protein Cell. 2022;13(4):302-7.

- Vremec D, Pooley J, Hochrein H, Wu L, Shortman K. CD4 and CD8 expression by dendritic cell subtypes in mouse thymus and spleen. J Immunol. 2000;164(6):2978-86.
- 172. Anderson DA, 3rd, Dutertre CA, Ginhoux F, Murphy KM. Genetic models of human and mouse dendritic cell development and function. Nat Rev Immunol. 2021;21(2):101-15.
- 173. Schulz O, Diebold SS, Chen M, Naslund TI, Nolte MA, Alexopoulou L, et al. Tolllike receptor 3 promotes cross-priming to virus-infected cells. Nature. 2005;433(7028):887-92.
- 174. Zhang JG, Czabotar PE, Policheni AN, Caminschi I, Wan SS, Kitsoulis S, et al. The dendritic cell receptor Clec9A binds damaged cells via exposed actin filaments. Immunity. 2012;36(4):646-57.
- 175. Canton J, Blees H, Henry CM, Buck MD, Schulz O, Rogers NC, et al. The receptor DNGR-1 signals for phagosomal rupture to promote cross-presentation of dead-cell-associated antigens. Nat Immunol. 2021;22(2):140-53.
- 176. Radtke AJ, Kastenmuller W, Espinosa DA, Gerner MY, Tse SW, Sinnis P, et al. Lymph-node resident CD8alpha+ dendritic cells capture antigens from migratory malaria sporozoites and induce CD8+ T cell responses. PLoS Pathog. 2015;11(2):e1004637.
- 177. Gerner MY, Torabi-Parizi P, Germain RN. Strategically localized dendritic cells promote rapid T cell responses to lymph-borne particulate antigens. Immunity. 2015;42(1):172-85.
- 178. Schulz O, Edwards AD, Schito M, Aliberti J, Manickasingham S, Sher A, et al. CD40 triggering of heterodimeric IL-12 p70 production by dendritic cells in vivo requires a microbial priming signal. Immunity. 2000;13(4):453-62.
- 179. Macatonia SE, Hosken NA, Litton M, Vieira P, Hsieh CS, Culpepper JA, et al. Dendritic cells produce IL-12 and direct the development of Th1 cells from naive CD4+ T cells. J Immunol. 1995;154(10):5071-9.
- Wculek SK, Cueto FJ, Mujal AM, Melero I, Krummel MF, Sancho D. Dendritic cells in cancer immunology and immunotherapy. Nat Rev Immunol. 2020;20(1):7-24.
- Chiang MC, Tullett KM, Lee YS, Idris A, Ding Y, McDonald KJ, et al. Differential uptake and cross-presentation of soluble and necrotic cell antigen by human DC subsets. Eur J Immunol. 2016;46(2):329-39.
- 182. Tosh KW, Mittereder L, Bonne-Annee S, Hieny S, Nutman TB, Singer SM, et al. The IL-12 Response of Primary Human Dendritic Cells and Monocytes to Toxoplasma gondii Is Stimulated by Phagocytosis of Live Parasites Rather Than Host Cell Invasion. J Immunol. 2016;196(1):345-56.
- 183. Raetz M, Kibardin A, Sturge CR, Pifer R, Li H, Burstein E, et al. Cooperation of TLR12 and TLR11 in the IRF8-dependent IL-12 response to Toxoplasma gondii profilin. J Immunol. 2013;191(9):4818-27.

- 184. Soares H, Waechter H, Glaichenhaus N, Mougneau E, Yagita H, Mizenina O, et al. A subset of dendritic cells induces CD4+ T cells to produce IFN-gamma by an IL-12-independent but CD70-dependent mechanism in vivo. J Exp Med. 2007;204(5):1095-106.
- 185. Sittig SP, Bakdash G, Weiden J, Skold AE, Tel J, Figdor CG, et al. A Comparative Study of the T Cell Stimulatory and Polarizing Capacity of Human Primary Blood Dendritic Cell Subsets. Mediators Inflamm. 2016;2016:3605643.
- 186. Breton G, Zheng S, Valieris R, Tojal da Silva I, Satija R, Nussenzweig MC. Human dendritic cells (DCs) are derived from distinct circulating precursors that are precommitted to become CD1c+ or CD141+ DCs. J Exp Med. 2016;213(13):2861-70.
- 187. Poulin LF, Reyal Y, Uronen-Hansson H, Schraml BU, Sancho D, Murphy KM, et al. DNGR-1 is a specific and universal marker of mouse and human Batf3-dependent dendritic cells in lymphoid and nonlymphoid tissues. Blood. 2012;119(25):6052-62.
- 188. Poulin LF, Salio M, Griessinger E, Anjos-Afonso F, Craciun L, Chen JL, et al. Characterization of human DNGR-1+ BDCA3+ leukocytes as putative equivalents of mouse CD8alpha+ dendritic cells. J Exp Med. 2010;207(6):1261-71.
- Villani AC, Satija R, Reynolds G, Sarkizova S, Shekhar K, Fletcher J, et al. Singlecell RNA-seq reveals new types of human blood dendritic cells, monocytes, and progenitors. Science. 2017;356(6335).
- 190. Naik SH, Proietto AI, Wilson NS, Dakic A, Schnorrer P, Fuchsberger M, et al. Cutting edge: generation of splenic CD8+ and CD8- dendritic cell equivalents in Fms-like tyrosine kinase 3 ligand bone marrow cultures. J Immunol. 2005;174(11):6592-7.
- 191. Grajkowska LT, Ceribelli M, Lau CM, Warren ME, Tiniakou I, Nakandakari Higa S, et al. Isoform-Specific Expression and Feedback Regulation of E Protein TCF4 Control Dendritic Cell Lineage Specification. Immunity. 2017;46(1):65-77.
- 192. Cisse B, Caton ML, Lehner M, Maeda T, Scheu S, Locksley R, et al. Transcription factor E2-2 is an essential and specific regulator of plasmacytoid dendritic cell development. Cell. 2008;135(1):37-48.
- 193. Dress RJ, Dutertre CA, Giladi A, Schlitzer A, Low I, Shadan NB, et al. Plasmacytoid dendritic cells develop from Ly6D(+) lymphoid progenitors distinct from the myeloid lineage. Nat Immunol. 2019;20(7):852-64.
- 194. Herman JS, Sagar, Grun D. FateID infers cell fate bias in multipotent progenitors from single-cell RNA-seq data. Nat Methods. 2018;15(5):379-86.
- 195. Rodrigues PF, Alberti-Servera L, Eremin A, Grajales-Reyes GE, Ivanek R, Tussiwand R. Distinct progenitor lineages contribute to the heterogeneity of plasmacytoid dendritic cells. Nat Immunol. 2018;19(7):711-22.
- 196. Feng J, Pucella JN, Jang G, Alcantara-Hernandez M, Upadhaya S, Adams NM, et al. Clonal lineage tracing reveals shared origin of conventional and plasmacytoid dendritic cells. Immunity. 2022;55(3):405-22 e11.

- 197. Scott CL, Soen B, Martens L, Skrypek N, Saelens W, Taminau J, et al. The transcription factor Zeb2 regulates development of conventional and plasmacytoid DCs by repressing Id2. J Exp Med. 2016;213(6):897-911.
- 198. Arroyo Hornero R, Idoyaga J. Plasmacytoid dendritic cells: A dendritic cell in disguise. Mol Immunol. 2023;159:38-45.
- 199. Saito Y, Komori S, Kotani T, Murata Y, Matozaki T. The Role of Type-2 Conventional Dendritic Cells in the Regulation of Tumor Immunity. Cancers (Basel). 2022;14(8).
- 200. Zhou B, Lawrence T, Liang Y. The Role of Plasmacytoid Dendritic Cells in Cancers. Front Immunol. 2021;12:749190.
- 201. Pourahmad R, Rezaei N. Role of Monocyte-Derived Dendritic Cells (MoDCs) in Tumor Immune Response. In: Rezaei N, editor. Handbook of Cancer and Immunology. Cham: Springer International Publishing; 2022. p. 1-18.
- 202. Bottcher JP, Reis e Sousa C. The Role of Type 1 Conventional Dendritic Cells in Cancer Immunity. Trends Cancer. 2018;4(11):784-92.
- 203. Broz ML, Binnewies M, Boldajipour B, Nelson AE, Pollack JL, Erle DJ, et al. Dissecting the Tumor Myeloid Compartment Reveals Rare Activating Antigen-Presenting Cells Critical for T Cell Immunity. Cancer Cell. 2014;26(6):938.
- 204. Meiser P, Knolle MA, Hirschberger A, de Almeida GP, Bayerl F, Lacher S, et al. A distinct stimulatory cDC1 subpopulation amplifies CD8(+) T cell responses in tumors for protective anti-cancer immunity. Cancer Cell. 2023.
- 205. Wculek SK, Amores-Iniesta J, Conde-Garrosa R, Khouili SC, Melero I, Sancho D. Effective cancer immunotherapy by natural mouse conventional type-1 dendritic cells bearing dead tumor antigen. J Immunother Cancer. 2019;7(1):100.
- 206. Sanchez-Paulete AR, Cueto FJ, Martinez-Lopez M, Labiano S, Morales-Kastresana A, Rodriguez-Ruiz ME, et al. Cancer Immunotherapy with Immunomodulatory Anti-CD137 and Anti-PD-1 Monoclonal Antibodies Requires BATF3-Dependent Dendritic Cells. Cancer Discov. 2016;6(1):71-9.
- 207. Spranger S, Dai D, Horton B, Gajewski TF. Tumor-Residing Batf3 Dendritic Cells Are Required for Effector T Cell Trafficking and Adoptive T Cell Therapy. Cancer Cell. 2017;31(5):711-23 e4.
- 208. Spranger S, Bao R, Gajewski TF. Melanoma-intrinsic beta-catenin signalling prevents anti-tumour immunity. Nature. 2015;523(7559):231-5.
- 209. Caronni N, Piperno GM, Simoncello F, Romano O, Vodret S, Yanagihashi Y, et al. TIM4 expression by dendritic cells mediates uptake of tumor-associated antigens and anti-tumor responses. Nat Commun. 2021;12(1):2237.
- 210. Salmon H, Idoyaga J, Rahman A, Leboeuf M, Remark R, Jordan S, et al. Expansion and Activation of CD103(+) Dendritic Cell Progenitors at the Tumor Site Enhances Tumor Responses to Therapeutic PD-L1 and BRAF Inhibition. Immunity. 2016;44(4):924-38.
- 211. Tzeng A, Kauke MJ, Zhu EF, Moynihan KD, Opel CF, Yang NJ, et al. Temporally Programmed CD8alpha(+) DC Activation Enhances Combination Cancer Immunotherapy. Cell Rep. 2016;17(10):2503-11.

- 212. Oba T, Long MD, Keler T, Marsh HC, Minderman H, Abrams SI, et al. Overcoming primary and acquired resistance to anti-PD-L1 therapy by induction and activation of tumor-residing cDC1s. Nat Commun. 2020;11(1):5415.
- 213. Zhang M, Yang W, Wang P, Deng Y, Dong YT, Liu FF, et al. CCL7 recruits cDC1 to promote antitumor immunity and facilitate checkpoint immunotherapy to non-small cell lung cancer. Nat Commun. 2020;11(1):6119.
- 214. Ribas A, Medina T, Kummar S, Amin A, Kalbasi A, Drabick JJ, et al. SD-101 in Combination with Pembrolizumab in Advanced Melanoma: Results of a Phase Ib, Multicenter Study. Cancer Discov. 2018;8(10):1250-7.
- 215. Garris CS, Arlauckas SP, Kohler RH, Trefny MP, Garren S, Piot C, et al. Successful Anti-PD-1 Cancer Immunotherapy Requires T Cell-Dendritic Cell Crosstalk Involving the Cytokines IFN-gamma and IL-12. Immunity. 2018;49(6):1148-61 e7.
- 216. Lee AH, Sun L, Mochizuki AY, Reynoso JG, Orpilla J, Chow F, et al. Neoadjuvant PD-1 blockade induces T cell and cDC1 activation but fails to overcome the immunosuppressive tumor associated macrophages in recurrent glioblastoma. Nat Commun. 2021;12(1):6938.
- Mayoux M, Roller A, Pulko V, Sammicheli S, Chen S, Sum E, et al. Dendritic cells dictate responses to PD-L1 blockade cancer immunotherapy. Sci Transl Med. 2020;12(534).
- 218. Theisen DJ, Davidson JTt, Briseno CG, Gargaro M, Lauron EJ, Wang Q, et al. WDFY4 is required for cross-presentation in response to viral and tumor antigens. Science. 2018;362(6415):694-9.
- 219. Han D, Liu J, Chen C, Dong L, Liu Y, Chang R, et al. Anti-tumour immunity controlled through mRNA m(6)A methylation and YTHDF1 in dendritic cells. Nature. 2019;566(7743):270-4.
- 220. Jneid B, Bochnakian A, Hoffmann C, Delisle F, Djacoto E, Sirven P, et al. Selective STING stimulation in dendritic cells primes antitumor T cell responses. Sci Immunol. 2023;8(79):eabn6612.
- 221. Roberts EW, Broz ML, Binnewies M, Headley MB, Nelson AE, Wolf DM, et al. Critical Role for CD103(+)/CD141(+) Dendritic Cells Bearing CCR7 for Tumor Antigen Trafficking and Priming of T Cell Immunity in Melanoma. Cancer Cell. 2016;30(2):324-36.
- 222. Enamorado M, Iborra S, Priego E, Cueto FJ, Quintana JA, Martinez-Cano S, et al. Enhanced anti-tumour immunity requires the interplay between resident and circulating memory CD8(+) T cells. Nat Commun. 2017;8:16073.
- 223. Hubert M, Gobbini E, Couillault C, Manh TV, Doffin AC, Berthet J, et al. IFN-III is selectively produced by cDC1 and predicts good clinical outcome in breast cancer. Sci Immunol. 2020;5(46).
- 224. Diamond MS, Kinder M, Matsushita H, Mashayekhi M, Dunn GP, Archambault JM, et al. Type I interferon is selectively required by dendritic cells for immune rejection of tumors. J Exp Med. 2011;208(10):1989-2003.

- 225. Fuertes MB, Kacha AK, Kline J, Woo SR, Kranz DM, Murphy KM, et al. Host type I IFN signals are required for antitumor CD8+ T cell responses through CD8alpha+ dendritic cells. J Exp Med. 2011;208(10):2005-16.
- 226. Bottcher JP, Bonavita E, Chakravarty P, Blees H, Cabeza-Cabrerizo M, Sammicheli S, et al. NK Cells Stimulate Recruitment of cDC1 into the Tumor Microenvironment Promoting Cancer Immune Control. Cell. 2018;172(5):1022-37 e14.
- 227. Barry KC, Hsu J, Broz ML, Cueto FJ, Binnewies M, Combes AJ, et al. A natural killer-dendritic cell axis defines checkpoint therapy-responsive tumor microenvironments. Nat Med. 2018;24(8):1178-91.
- 228. Gaggero S, Witt K, Carlsten M, Mitra S. Cytokines Orchestrating the Natural Killer-Myeloid Cell Crosstalk in the Tumor Microenvironment: Implications for Natural Killer Cell-Based Cancer Immunotherapy. Front Immunol. 2020;11:621225.
- 229. Ohm JE, Shurin MR, Esche C, Lotze MT, Carbone DP, Gabrilovich DI. Effect of vascular endothelial growth factor and FLT3 ligand on dendritic cell generation in vivo. J Immunol. 1999;163(6):3260-8.
- 230. Chiba S, Baghdadi M, Akiba H, Yoshiyama H, Kinoshita I, Dosaka-Akita H, et al. Tumor-infiltrating DCs suppress nucleic acid-mediated innate immune responses through interactions between the receptor TIM-3 and the alarmin HMGB1. Nat Immunol. 2012;13(9):832-42.
- 231. Tang M, Diao J, Gu H, Khatri I, Zhao J, Cattral MS. Toll-like Receptor 2 Activation Promotes Tumor Dendritic Cell Dysfunction by Regulating IL-6 and IL-10 Receptor Signaling. Cell Rep. 2015;13(12):2851-64.
- 232. Ruffell B, Chang-Strachan D, Chan V, Rosenbusch A, Ho CM, Pryer N, et al. Macrophage IL-10 blocks CD8+ T cell-dependent responses to chemotherapy by suppressing IL-12 expression in intratumoral dendritic cells. Cancer Cell. 2014;26(5):623-37.
- 233. Cubillos-Ruiz JR, Silberman PC, Rutkowski MR, Chopra S, Perales-Puchalt A, Song M, et al. ER Stress Sensor XBP1 Controls Anti-tumor Immunity by Disrupting Dendritic Cell Homeostasis. Cell. 2015;161(7):1527-38.
- 234. Veglia F, Tyurin VA, Mohammadyani D, Blasi M, Duperret EK, Donthireddy L, et al. Lipid bodies containing oxidatively truncated lipids block antigen cross-presentation by dendritic cells in cancer. Nat Commun. 2017;8(1):2122.
- 235. Lin JH, Huffman AP, Wattenberg MM, Walter DM, Carpenter EL, Feldser DM, et al. Type 1 conventional dendritic cells are systemically dysregulated early in pancreatic carcinogenesis. J Exp Med. 2020;217(8).
- Wang S, He Z, Wang X, Li H, Liu XS. Antigen presentation and tumor immunogenicity in cancer immunotherapy response prediction. Elife. 2019;8.
- 237. Yang K, Halima A, Chan TA. Antigen presentation in cancer mechanisms and clinical implications for immunotherapy. Nat Rev Clin Oncol. 2023.
- 238. Xie N, Shen G, Gao W, Huang Z, Huang C, Fu L. Neoantigens: promising targets for cancer therapy. Signal Transduct Target Ther. 2023;8(1):9.

- 239. Rizvi NA, Hellmann MD, Snyder A, Kvistborg P, Makarov V, Havel JJ, et al. Cancer immunology. Mutational landscape determines sensitivity to PD-1 blockade in non-small cell lung cancer. Science. 2015;348(6230):124-8.
- 240. Snyder A, Makarov V, Merghoub T, Yuan J, Zaretsky JM, Desrichard A, et al. Genetic basis for clinical response to CTLA-4 blockade in melanoma. N Engl J Med. 2014;371(23):2189-99.
- 241. Cristescu R, Aurora-Garg D, Albright A, Xu L, Liu XQ, Loboda A, et al. Tumor mutational burden predicts the efficacy of pembrolizumab monotherapy: a pantumor retrospective analysis of participants with advanced solid tumors. J Immunother Cancer. 2022;10(1).
- 242. Nan Z, Guoqing W, Xiaoxu Y, Yin M, Xin H, Xue L, et al. The Predictive Efficacy of Tumor Mutation Burden (TMB) on Nonsmall Cell Lung Cancer Treated by Immune Checkpoint Inhibitors: A Systematic Review and Meta-Analysis. Biomed Res Int. 2021;2021:1780860.
- 243. Ning B, Liu Y, Wang M, Li Y, Xu T, Wei Y. The Predictive Value of Tumor Mutation Burden on Clinical Efficacy of Immune Checkpoint Inhibitors in Melanoma: A Systematic Review and Meta-Analysis. Front Pharmacol. 2022;13:748674.
- 244. Romero P, Banchereau J, Bhardwaj N, Cockett M, Disis ML, Dranoff G, et al. The Human Vaccines Project: A roadmap for cancer vaccine development. Sci Transl Med. 2016;8(334):334ps9.
- 245. Le DT, Durham JN, Smith KN, Wang H, Bartlett BR, Aulakh LK, et al. Mismatch repair deficiency predicts response of solid tumors to PD-1 blockade. Science. 2017;357(6349):409-13.
- 246. Perumal D, Imai N, Lagana A, Finnigan J, Melnekoff D, Leshchenko VV, et al. Mutation-derived Neoantigen-specific T-cell Responses in Multiple Myeloma. Clin Cancer Res. 2020;26(2):450-64.
- 247. Roudko V, Bozkus CC, Orfanelli T, McClain CB, Carr C, O'Donnell T, et al. Shared Immunogenic Poly-Epitope Frameshift Mutations in Microsatellite Unstable Tumors. Cell. 2020;183(6):1634-49 e17.
- 248. Brightman SE, Becker A, Thota RR, Naradikian MS, Chihab L, Zavala KS, et al. Neoantigen-specific stem cell memory-like CD4(+) T cells mediate CD8(+) T celldependent immunotherapy of MHC class II-negative solid tumors. Nat Immunol. 2023;24(8):1345-57.
- 249. Martin TD, Patel RS, Cook DR, Choi MY, Patil A, Liang AC, et al. The adaptive immune system is a major driver of selection for tumor suppressor gene inactivation. Science. 2021;373(6561):1327-35.
- 250. Dong M, Qian M, Ruan Z. CUL3/SPOP complex prevents immune escape and enhances chemotherapy sensitivity of ovarian cancer cells through degradation of PD-L1 protein. J Immunother Cancer. 2022;10(10).
- 251. Chu J, Gao F, Yan M, Zhao S, Yan Z, Shi B, et al. Natural killer cells: a promising immunotherapy for cancer. J Transl Med. 2022;20(1):240.

- 252. Chowell D, Morris LGT, Grigg CM, Weber JK, Samstein RM, Makarov V, et al. Patient HLA class I genotype influences cancer response to checkpoint blockade immunotherapy. Science. 2018;359(6375):582-7.
- 253. Zaretsky JM, Garcia-Diaz A, Shin DS, Escuin-Ordinas H, Hugo W, Hu-Lieskovan S, et al. Mutations Associated with Acquired Resistance to PD-1 Blockade in Melanoma. N Engl J Med. 2016;375(9):819-29.
- 254. Filip I, Wang A, Kravets O, Orenbuch R, Zhao J, Perea-Chamblee TE, et al. Pervasiveness of HLA allele-specific expression loss across tumor types. Genome Med. 2023;15(1):8.
- 255. Gettinger S, Choi J, Hastings K, Truini A, Datar I, Sowell R, et al. Impaired HLA Class I Antigen Processing and Presentation as a Mechanism of Acquired Resistance to Immune Checkpoint Inhibitors in Lung Cancer. Cancer Discov. 2017;7(12):1420-35.
- 256. McGranahan N, Rosenthal R, Hiley CT, Rowan AJ, Watkins TBK, Wilson GA, et al. Allele-Specific HLA Loss and Immune Escape in Lung Cancer Evolution. Cell. 2017;171(6):1259-71 e11.
- 257. Shukla SA, Rooney MS, Rajasagi M, Tiao G, Dixon PM, Lawrence MS, et al. Comprehensive analysis of cancer-associated somatic mutations in class I HLA genes. Nat Biotechnol. 2015;33(11):1152-8.
- 258. Yoshihama S, Roszik J, Downs I, Meissner TB, Vijayan S, Chapuy B, et al. NLRC5/MHC class I transactivator is a target for immune evasion in cancer. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A. 2016;113(21):5999-6004.
- 259. Burr ML, Sparbier CE, Chan KL, Chan YC, Kersbergen A, Lam EYN, et al. An Evolutionarily Conserved Function of Polycomb Silences the MHC Class I Antigen Presentation Pathway and Enables Immune Evasion in Cancer. Cancer Cell. 2019;36(4):385-401 e8.
- 260. Ozcan M, Janikovits J, von Knebel Doeberitz M, Kloor M. Complex pattern of immune evasion in MSI colorectal cancer. Oncoimmunology. 2018;7(7):e1445453.
- 261. Lorenzi S, Forloni M, Cifaldi L, Antonucci C, Citti A, Boldrini R, et al. IRF1 and NF-kB restore MHC class I-restricted tumor antigen processing and presentation to cytotoxic T cells in aggressive neuroblastoma. PLoS One. 2012;7(10):e46928.
- 262. Kriegsman BA, Vangala P, Chen BJ, Meraner P, Brass AL, Garber M, et al. Frequent Loss of IRF2 in Cancers Leads to Immune Evasion through Decreased MHC Class I Antigen Presentation and Increased PD-L1 Expression. J Immunol. 2019;203(7):1999-2010.
- 263. Tripathi SC, Peters HL, Taguchi A, Katayama H, Wang H, Momin A, et al. Immunoproteasome deficiency is a feature of non-small cell lung cancer with a mesenchymal phenotype and is associated with a poor outcome. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A. 2016;113(11):E1555-64.
- 264. Henle AM, Nassar A, Puglisi-Knutson D, Youssef B, Knutson KL. Downregulation of TAP1 and TAP2 in early stage breast cancer. PLoS One. 2017;12(11):e0187323.
- 265. Lou Y, Vitalis TZ, Basha G, Cai B, Chen SS, Choi KB, et al. Restoration of the expression of transporters associated with antigen processing in lung carcinoma increases tumor-specific immune responses and survival. Cancer Res. 2005;65(17):7926-33.
- 266. Seliger B, Atkins D, Bock M, Ritz U, Ferrone S, Huber C, et al. Characterization of human lymphocyte antigen class I antigen-processing machinery defects in renal cell carcinoma lesions with special emphasis on transporter-associated with antigen-processing down-regulation. Clin Cancer Res. 2003;9(5):1721-7.
- 267. Seliger B, Hohne A, Knuth A, Bernhard H, Ehring B, Tampe R, et al. Reduced membrane major histocompatibility complex class I density and stability in a subset of human renal cell carcinomas with low TAP and LMP expression. Clin Cancer Res. 1996;2(8):1427-33.
- 268. Cromme FV, Airey J, Heemels MT, Ploegh HL, Keating PJ, Stern PL, et al. Loss of transporter protein, encoded by the TAP-1 gene, is highly correlated with loss of HLA expression in cervical carcinomas. J Exp Med. 1994;179(1):335-40.
- 269. Bernal M, Garcia-Alcalde F, Concha A, Cano C, Blanco A, Garrido F, et al. Genome-wide differential genetic profiling characterizes colorectal cancers with genetic instability and specific routes to HLA class I loss and immune escape. Cancer Immunol Immunother. 2012;61(6):803-16.
- 270. Dhatchinamoorthy K, Colbert JD, Rock KL. Cancer Immune Evasion Through Loss of MHC Class I Antigen Presentation. Front Immunol. 2021;12:636568.
- 271. Wolf Y, Bartok O, Patkar S, Eli GB, Cohen S, Litchfield K, et al. UVB-Induced Tumor Heterogeneity Diminishes Immune Response in Melanoma. Cell. 2019;179(1):219-35 e21.
- 272. Alspach E, Lussier DM, Miceli AP, Kizhvatov I, DuPage M, Luoma AM, et al. MHC-II neoantigens shape tumour immunity and response to immunotherapy. Nature. 2019;574(7780):696-701.
- 273. Axelrod ML, Cook RS, Johnson DB, Balko JM. Biological Consequences of MHC-II Expression by Tumor Cells in Cancer. Clin Cancer Res. 2019;25(8):2392-402.
- 274. Marty Pyke R, Thompson WK, Salem RM, Font-Burgada J, Zanetti M, Carter H. Evolutionary Pressure against MHC Class II Binding Cancer Mutations. Cell. 2018;175(7):1991.
- 275. Radice E, Bellone G, Miranda V. Enhancement of the Immunostimulatory Functions of Ex Vivo-Generated Dendritic Cells from Early-Stage Colon Cancer Patients by Consecutive Exposure to Low Doses of Sequential-Kinetic-Activated IL-4 and IL-12. A Preliminary Study. Transl Oncol. 2015;8(4):327-38.
- 276. Del Campo AB, Aptsiauri N, Méndez R, Zinchenko S, Vales Á, Paschen A, et al. Efficient Recovery of HLA Class I Expression in Human Tumor Cells After Beta2-Microglobulin Gene Transfer Using Adenoviral Vector: Implications for Cancer Immunotherapy. Scandinavian Journal of Immunology. 2009;70(2):125-35.
- 277. Del Campo AB, Carretero J, Muñoz JA, Zinchenko S, Ruiz-Cabello F, González-Aseguinolaza G, et al. Adenovirus expressing β2-microglobulin recovers HLA class I expression and antitumor immunity by increasing T-cell recognition. Cancer Gene Therapy. 2014;21(8):317-32.

- 278. Mortara L, Castellani P, Meazza R, Tosi G, De Lerma Barbaro A, Procopio FA, et al. CIITA-induced MHC class II expression in mammary adenocarcinoma leads to a Th1 polarization of the tumor microenvironment, tumor rejection, and specific antitumor memory. Clin Cancer Res. 2006;12(11 Pt 1):3435-43.
- 279. Oshima S, Nakamura T, Namiki S, Okada E, Tsuchiya K, Okamoto R, et al. Interferon Regulatory Factor 1 (IRF-1) and IRF-2 Distinctively Up-Regulate Gene Expression and Production of Interleukin-7 in Human Intestinal Epithelial Cells. Molecular and Cellular Biology. 2004;24(14):6298-310.
- 280. Vlková V, Štěpánek I, Hrušková V, Šenigl F, Mayerová V, Šrámek M, et al. Epigenetic regulations in the IFNγ signalling pathway: IFNγ-mediated MHC class I upregulation on tumour cells is associated with DNA demethylation of antigenpresenting machinery genes. Oncotarget. 2014;5(16):6923-35.
- 281. Propper DJ, Chao D, Braybrooke JP, Bahl P, Thavasu P, Balkwill F, et al. Low-Dose IFN-γ Induces Tumor MHC Expression in Metastatic Malignant Melanoma. Clinical Cancer Research. 2003;9(1):84-92.
- 282. Davar D, Wang H, Chauvin J-M, Pagliano O, Fourcade JJ, Ka M, et al. Phase Ib/II Study of Pembrolizumab and Pegylated-Interferon Alfa-2b in Advanced Melanoma. Journal of Clinical Oncology. 2018;36(35):3450-8.
- 283. Cheon H, Wang Y, Wightman SM, Jackson MW, Stark GR. How cancer cells make and respond to interferon-I. Trends in Cancer. 2023;9(1):83-92.
- 284. ElTanbouly MA, Noelle RJ. Rethinking peripheral T cell tolerance: checkpoints across a T cell's journey. Nat Rev Immunol. 2021;21(4):257-67.
- 285. Patel SJ, Sanjana NE, Kishton RJ, Eidizadeh A, Vodnala SK, Cam M, et al. Identification of essential genes for cancer immunotherapy. Nature. 2017;548(7669):537-42.
- Griffin GK, Wu J, Iracheta-Vellve A, Patti JC, Hsu J, Davis T, et al. Epigenetic silencing by SETDB1 suppresses tumour intrinsic immunogenicity. Nature. 2021;595(7866):309-14.
- 287. Manguso RT, Pope HW, Zimmer MD, Brown FD, Yates KB, Miller BC, et al. In vivo CRISPR screening identifies Ptpn2 as a cancer immunotherapy target. Nature. 2017;547(7664):413-8.
- 288. Corrales L, Laura, Sarah, David, Kelsey, George, et al. Direct Activation of STING in the Tumor Microenvironment Leads to Potent and Systemic Tumor Regression and Immunity. Cell Reports. 2015;11(7):1018-30.
- 289. Zheng J, Mo J, Zhu T, Zhuo W, Yi Y, Hu S, et al. Comprehensive elaboration of the cGAS-STING signaling axis in cancer development and immunotherapy. Mol Cancer. 2020;19(1):133.
- 290. Falahat R, Perez-Villarroel P, Mailloux AW, Zhu G, Pilon-Thomas S, Barber GN, et al. STING Signaling in Melanoma Cells Shapes Antigenicity and Can Promote Antitumor T-cell Activity. Cancer Immunol Res. 2019;7(11):1837-48.
- 291. Shen C, Li M, Duan Y, Jiang X, Hou X, Xue F, et al. HDAC inhibitors enhance the anti-tumor effect of immunotherapies in hepatocellular carcinoma. Front Immunol. 2023;14:1170207.

- 292. Wang L, Amoozgar Z, Huang J, Saleh MH, Xing D, Orsulic S, et al. Decitabine Enhances Lymphocyte Migration and Function and Synergizes with CTLA-4 Blockade in a Murine Ovarian Cancer Model. Cancer Immunol Res. 2015;3(9):1030-41.
- 293. Daver N, Garcia-Manero G, Basu S, Boddu PC, Alfayez M, Cortes JE, et al. Efficacy, Safety, and Biomarkers of Response to Azacitidine and Nivolumab in Relapsed/Refractory Acute Myeloid Leukemia: A Nonrandomized, Open-Label, Phase II Study. Cancer Discov. 2019;9(3):370-83.
- 294. Woods DM, Sodre AL, Villagra A, Sarnaik A, Sotomayor EM, Weber J. HDAC Inhibition Upregulates PD-1 Ligands in Melanoma and Augments Immunotherapy with PD-1 Blockade. Cancer Immunol Res. 2015;3(12):1375-85.
- 295. Terranova-Barberio M, Thomas S, Ali N, Pawlowska N, Park J, Krings G, et al. HDAC inhibition potentiates immunotherapy in triple negative breast cancer. Oncotarget. 2017;8(69):114156-72.
- 296. Wang X, Waschke BC, Woolaver RA, Chen Z, Zhang G, Piscopio AD, et al. Histone Deacetylase Inhibition Sensitizes PD1 Blockade-Resistant B-cell Lymphomas. Cancer Immunol Res. 2019;7(8):1318-31.
- 297. Waddington CH. The Strategy of the Genes. 2014.
- 298. Gurdon JB. The developmental capacity of nuclei taken from intestinal epithelium cells of feeding tadpoles. J Embryol Exp Morphol. 1962;10:622-40.
- 299. Briggs R, King TJ. Transplantation of Living Nuclei From Blastula Cells into Enucleated Frogs' Eggs. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A. 1952;38(5):455-63.
- 300. Wilmut I, Schnieke AE, McWhir J, Kind AJ, Campbell KH. Viable offspring derived from fetal and adult mammalian cells. Nature. 1997;385(6619):810-3.
- Takahashi K, Yamanaka S. Induction of pluripotent stem cells from mouse embryonic and adult fibroblast cultures by defined factors. Cell. 2006;126(4):663-76.
- 302. Takahashi K, Tanabe K, Ohnuki M, Narita M, Ichisaka T, Tomoda K, et al. Induction of pluripotent stem cells from adult human fibroblasts by defined factors. Cell. 2007;131(5):861-72.
- Okita K, Nakagawa M, Hyenjong H, Ichisaka T, Yamanaka S. Generation of mouse induced pluripotent stem cells without viral vectors. Science. 2008;322(5903):949-53.
- 304. Wang H, Yang Y, Liu J, Qian L. Direct cell reprogramming: approaches, mechanisms and progress. Nat Rev Mol Cell Biol. 2021;22(6):410-24.
- 305. Aoi T, Yae K, Nakagawa M, Ichisaka T, Okita K, Takahashi K, et al. Generation of pluripotent stem cells from adult mouse liver and stomach cells. Science. 2008;321(5889):699-702.
- 306. Staerk J, Dawlaty MM, Gao Q, Maetzel D, Hanna J, Sommer CA, et al. Reprogramming of human peripheral blood cells to induced pluripotent stem cells. Cell Stem Cell. 2010;7(1):20-4.
- 307. Loh YH, Hartung O, Li H, Guo C, Sahalie JM, Manos PD, et al. Reprogramming of T cells from human peripheral blood. Cell Stem Cell. 2010;7(1):15-9.

- 308. Aasen T, Raya A, Barrero MJ, Garreta E, Consiglio A, Gonzalez F, et al. Efficient and rapid generation of induced pluripotent stem cells from human keratinocytes. Nat Biotechnol. 2008;26(11):1276-84.
- 309. Sommer CA, Stadtfeld M, Murphy GJ, Hochedlinger K, Kotton DN, Mostoslavsky G. Induced pluripotent stem cell generation using a single lentiviral stem cell cassette. Stem Cells. 2009;27(3):543-9.
- 310. Kim D, Kim CH, Moon JI, Chung YG, Chang MY, Han BS, et al. Generation of human induced pluripotent stem cells by direct delivery of reprogramming proteins. Cell Stem Cell. 2009;4(6):472-6.
- 311. Hanna J, Wernig M, Markoulaki S, Sun CW, Meissner A, Cassady JP, et al. Treatment of sickle cell anemia mouse model with iPS cells generated from autologous skin. Science. 2007;318(5858):1920-3.
- 312. Kim K, Zhao R, Doi A, Ng K, Unternaehrer J, Cahan P, et al. Donor cell type can influence the epigenome and differentiation potential of human induced pluripotent stem cells. Nat Biotechnol. 2011;29(12):1117-9.
- 313. Kikuchi T, Morizane A, Doi D, Magotani H, Onoe H, Hayashi T, et al. Human iPS cell-derived dopaminergic neurons function in a primate Parkinson's disease model. Nature. 2017;548(7669):592-6.
- 314. Sougawa N, Miyagawa S, Fukushima S, Kawamura A, Yokoyama J, Ito E, et al. Immunologic targeting of CD30 eliminates tumourigenic human pluripotent stem cells, allowing safer clinical application of hiPSC-based cell therapy. Sci Rep. 2018;8(1):3726.
- 315. Weintraub H, Tapscott SJ, Davis RL, Thayer MJ, Adam MA, Lassar AB, et al. Activation of muscle-specific genes in pigment, nerve, fat, liver, and fibroblast cell lines by forced expression of MyoD. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A. 1989;86(14):5434-8.
- 316. Lassar AB, Paterson BM, Weintraub H. Transfection of a DNA locus that mediates the conversion of 10T1/2 fibroblasts to myoblasts. Cell. 1986;47(5):649-56.
- Kulessa H, Frampton J, Graf T. GATA-1 reprograms avian myelomonocytic cell lines into eosinophils, thromboblasts, and erythroblasts. Genes Dev. 1995;9(10):1250-62.
- Heins N, Malatesta P, Cecconi F, Nakafuku M, Tucker KL, Hack MA, et al. Glial cells generate neurons: the role of the transcription factor Pax6. Nat Neurosci. 2002;5(4):308-15.
- Xie H, Ye M, Feng R, Graf T. Stepwise reprogramming of B cells into macrophages. Cell. 2004;117(5):663-76.
- 320. Pires CF, Rosa FF, Kurochkin I, Pereira CF. Understanding and Modulating Immunity With Cell Reprogramming. Front Immunol. 2019;10:2809.
- 321. Ieda M, Fu JD, Delgado-Olguin P, Vedantham V, Hayashi Y, Bruneau BG, et al. Direct reprogramming of fibroblasts into functional cardiomyocytes by defined factors. Cell. 2010;142(3):375-86.
- 322. Song K, Nam YJ, Luo X, Qi X, Tan W, Huang GN, et al. Heart repair by reprogramming non-myocytes with cardiac transcription factors. Nature. 2012;485(7400):599-604.

- 323. Vierbuchen T, Ostermeier A, Pang ZP, Kokubu Y, Sudhof TC, Wernig M. Direct conversion of fibroblasts to functional neurons by defined factors. Nature. 2010;463(7284):1035-41.
- 324. Son EY, Ichida JK, Wainger BJ, Toma JS, Rafuse VF, Woolf CJ, et al. Conversion of mouse and human fibroblasts into functional spinal motor neurons. Cell Stem Cell. 2011;9(3):205-18.
- 325. Caiazzo M, Dell'Anno MT, Dvoretskova E, Lazarevic D, Taverna S, Leo D, et al. Direct generation of functional dopaminergic neurons from mouse and human fibroblasts. Nature. 2011;476(7359):224-7.
- 326. Colasante G, Lignani G, Rubio A, Medrihan L, Yekhlef L, Sessa A, et al. Rapid Conversion of Fibroblasts into Functional Forebrain GABAergic Interneurons by Direct Genetic Reprogramming. Cell Stem Cell. 2015;17(6):719-34.
- 327. Caiazzo M, Giannelli S, Valente P, Lignani G, Carissimo A, Sessa A, et al. Direct conversion of fibroblasts into functional astrocytes by defined transcription factors. Stem Cell Reports. 2015;4(1):25-36.
- 328. Huang P, Zhang L, Gao Y, He Z, Yao D, Wu Z, et al. Direct reprogramming of human fibroblasts to functional and expandable hepatocytes. Cell Stem Cell. 2014;14(3):370-84.
- 329. Huang P, He Z, Ji S, Sun H, Xiang D, Liu C, et al. Induction of functional hepatocyte-like cells from mouse fibroblasts by defined factors. Nature. 2011;475(7356):386-9.
- 330. Yamamoto K, Sato Y, Honjo K, Ichioka H, Oseko F, Sowa Y, et al. Generation of Directly Converted Human Osteoblasts That Are Free of Exogenous Gene and Xenogenic Protein. J Cell Biochem. 2016;117(11):2538-45.
- 331. Yamamoto K, Kishida T, Sato Y, Nishioka K, Ejima A, Fujiwara H, et al. Direct conversion of human fibroblasts into functional osteoblasts by defined factors. Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences. 2015;112(19):6152-7.
- 332. Liang J, Wang N, He J, Du J, Guo Y, Li L, et al. Induction of Sertoli-like cells from human fibroblasts by NR5A1 and GATA4. Elife. 2019;8.
- 333. Kishida T, Ejima A, Yamamoto K, Tanaka S, Yamamoto T, Mazda O. Reprogrammed Functional Brown Adipocytes Ameliorate Insulin Resistance and Dyslipidemia in Diet-Induced Obesity and Type 2 Diabetes. Stem Cell Reports. 2015;5(4):569-81.
- 334. Hiramatsu K, Sasagawa S, Outani H, Nakagawa K, Yoshikawa H, Tsumaki N. Generation of hyaline cartilaginous tissue from mouse adult dermal fibroblast culture by defined factors. J Clin Invest. 2011;121(2):640-57.
- 335. Zhou Q, Brown J, Kanarek A, Rajagopal J, Melton DA. In vivo reprogramming of adult pancreatic exocrine cells to beta-cells. Nature. 2008;455(7213):627-32.
- 336. Rao I, Crisafulli L, Paulis M, Ficara F. Hematopoietic Cells from Pluripotent Stem Cells: Hope and Promise for the Treatment of Inherited Blood Disorders. Cells. 2022;11(3).

- 337. Pereira CF, Chang B, Gomes A, Bernitz J, Papatsenko D, Niu X, et al. Hematopoietic Reprogramming In Vitro Informs In Vivo Identification of Hemogenic Precursors to Definitive Hematopoietic Stem Cells. Dev Cell. 2016;36(5):525-39.
- 338. Daniel MG, Pereira CF, Bernitz JM, Lemischka IR, Moore K. Reprogramming Mouse Embryonic Fibroblasts with Transcription Factors to Induce a Hemogenic Program. J Vis Exp. 2016(118).
- 339. Pereira CF, Chang B, Qiu J, Niu X, Papatsenko D, Hendry CE, et al. Induction of a hemogenic program in mouse fibroblasts. Cell Stem Cell. 2013;13(2):205-18.
- 340. Batta K, Florkowska M, Kouskoff V, Lacaud G. Direct reprogramming of murine fibroblasts to hematopoietic progenitor cells. Cell Rep. 2014;9(5):1871-84.
- 341. Ghosh Z, Huang M, Hu S, Wilson KD, Dey D, Wu JC. Dissecting the oncogenic and tumorigenic potential of differentiated human induced pluripotent stem cells and human embryonic stem cells. Cancer Res. 2011;71(14):5030-9.
- 342. Kooreman NG, Kim Y, de Almeida PE, Termglinchan V, Diecke S, Shao NY, et al. Autologous iPSC-Based Vaccines Elicit Anti-tumor Responses In Vivo. Cell Stem Cell. 2018;22(4):501-13 e7.
- 343. Li Y, Zeng H, Xu RH, Liu B, Li Z. Vaccination with human pluripotent stem cells generates a broad spectrum of immunological and clinical responses against colon cancer. Stem Cells. 2009;27(12):3103-11.
- 344. Zhao T, Zhang ZN, Rong Z, Xu Y. Immunogenicity of induced pluripotent stem cells. Nature. 2011;474(7350):212-5.
- 345. Nianias A, Themeli M. Induced Pluripotent Stem Cell (iPSC)-Derived Lymphocytes for Adoptive Cell Immunotherapy: Recent Advances and Challenges. Curr Hematol Malig Rep. 2019;14(4):261-8.
- 346. Montel-Hagen A, Seet CS, Li S, Chick B, Zhu Y, Chang P, et al. Organoid-Induced Differentiation of Conventional T Cells from Human Pluripotent Stem Cells. Cell Stem Cell. 2019;24(3):376-89 e8.
- 347. Nishimura T, Kaneko S, Kawana-Tachikawa A, Tajima Y, Goto H, Zhu D, et al. Generation of rejuvenated antigen-specific T cells by reprogramming to pluripotency and redifferentiation. Cell Stem Cell. 2013;12(1):114-26.
- 348. Vizcardo R, Masuda K, Yamada D, Ikawa T, Shimizu K, Fujii S, et al. Regeneration of human tumor antigen-specific T cells from iPSCs derived from mature CD8(+) T cells. Cell Stem Cell. 2013;12(1):31-6.
- 349. Minagawa A, Yoshikawa T, Yasukawa M, Hotta A, Kunitomo M, Iriguchi S, et al. Enhancing T Cell Receptor Stability in Rejuvenated iPSC-Derived T Cells Improves Their Use in Cancer Immunotherapy. Cell Stem Cell. 2018;23(6):850-8 e4.
- Zhang M, Dong Y, Hu F, Yang D, Zhao Q, Lv C, et al. Transcription factor Hoxb5 reprograms B cells into functional T lymphocytes. Nat Immunol. 2018;19(3):279-90.
- 351. Guo R, Hu F, Weng Q, Lv C, Wu H, Liu L, et al. Guiding T lymphopoiesis from pluripotent stem cells by defined transcription factors. Cell Res. 2020;30(1):21-33.

- 352. Carpenter L, Malladi R, Yang CT, French A, Pilkington KJ, Forsey RW, et al. Human induced pluripotent stem cells are capable of B-cell lymphopoiesis. Blood. 2011;117(15):4008-11.
- 353. French A, Yang CT, Taylor S, Watt SM, Carpenter L. Human induced pluripotent stem cell-derived B lymphocytes express sIgM and can be generated via a hemogenic endothelium intermediate. Stem Cells Dev. 2015;24(9):1082-95.
- 354. Williams SM, Sumstad D, Kadidlo D, Curtsinger J, Luo X, Miller JS, et al. Clinical-scale production of cGMP compliant CD3/CD19 cell-depleted NK cells in the evolution of NK cell immunotherapy at a single institution. Transfusion. 2018;58(6):1458-67.
- 355. Knorr DA, Ni Z, Hermanson D, Hexum MK, Bendzick L, Cooper LJ, et al. Clinical-scale derivation of natural killer cells from human pluripotent stem cells for cancer therapy. Stem Cells Transl Med. 2013;2(4):274-83.
- 356. Strati P, Bachanova V, Goodman A, Pagel JM, Castro JE, Griffis K, et al. Preliminary results of a phase I trial of FT516, an off-the-shelf natural killer (NK) cell therapy derived from a clonal master induced pluripotent stem cell (iPSC) line expressing high-affinity, non-cleavable CD16 (hnCD16), in patients (pts) with relapsed/refractory (R/R) B-cell lymphoma (BCL). Journal of Clinical Oncology. 2021;39(15\_suppl):7541-.
- 357. Wang D, Malarkannan S. Transcriptional Regulation of Natural Killer Cell Development and Functions. Cancers (Basel). 2020;12(6).
- 358. Li P, Burke S, Wang J, Chen X, Ortiz M, Lee SC, et al. Reprogramming of T cells to natural killer-like cells upon Bcl11b deletion. Science. 2010;329(5987):85-9.
- 359. Lachmann N, Ackermann M, Frenzel E, Liebhaber S, Brennig S, Happle C, et al. Large-scale hematopoietic differentiation of human induced pluripotent stem cells provides granulocytes or macrophages for cell replacement therapies. Stem Cell Reports. 2015;4(2):282-96.
- 360. Sweeney CL, Teng R, Wang H, Merling RK, Lee J, Choi U, et al. Molecular Analysis of Neutrophil Differentiation from Human Induced Pluripotent Stem Cells Delineates the Kinetics of Key Regulators of Hematopoiesis. Stem Cells. 2016;34(6):1513-26.
- 361. Hansen M, Varga E, Aarts C, Wust T, Kuijpers T, von Lindern M, et al. Efficient production of erythroid, megakaryocytic and myeloid cells, using single cell-derived iPSC colony differentiation. Stem Cell Res. 2018;29:232-44.
- 362. Karlsson KR, Cowley S, Martinez FO, Shaw M, Minger SL, James W. Homogeneous monocytes and macrophages from human embryonic stem cells following coculture-free differentiation in M-CSF and IL-3. Exp Hematol. 2008;36(9):1167-75.
- 363. Nenasheva T, Gerasimova T, Serdyuk Y, Grigor'eva E, Kosmiadi G, Nikolaev A, et al. Macrophages Derived From Human Induced Pluripotent Stem Cells Are Low-Activated "Naive-Like" Cells Capable of Restricting Mycobacteria Growth. Front Immunol. 2020;11:1016.

- 364. Senju S, Haruta M, Matsumura K, Matsunaga Y, Fukushima S, Ikeda T, et al. Generation of dendritic cells and macrophages from human induced pluripotent stem cells aiming at cell therapy. Gene Ther. 2011;18(9):874-83.
- 365. Morrissey MA, Williamson AP, Steinbach AM, Roberts EW, Kern N, Headley MB, et al. Chimeric antigen receptors that trigger phagocytosis. Elife. 2018;7.
- 366. Zhang L, Tian L, Dai X, Yu H, Wang J, Lei A, et al. Pluripotent stem cell-derived CAR-macrophage cells with antigen-dependent anti-cancer cell functions. J Hematol Oncol. 2020;13(1):153.
- 367. Feng R, Desbordes SC, Xie H, Tillo ES, Pixley F, Stanley ER, et al. PU.1 and C/EBPalpha/beta convert fibroblasts into macrophage-like cells. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A. 2008;105(16):6057-62.
- 368. Chen SW, Hung YS, Fuh JL, Chen NJ, Chu YS, Chen SC, et al. Efficient conversion of human induced pluripotent stem cells into microglia by defined transcription factors. Stem Cell Reports. 2021;16(5):1363-80.
- 369. Sontag S, Forster M, Qin J, Wanek P, Mitzka S, Schuler HM, et al. Modelling IRF8 Deficient Human Hematopoiesis and Dendritic Cell Development with Engineered iPS Cells. Stem Cells. 2017;35(4):898-908.
- Choi KD, Vodyanik MA, Slukvin, II. Generation of mature human myelomonocytic cells through expansion and differentiation of pluripotent stem cell-derived lin-CD34+CD43+CD45+ progenitors. J Clin Invest. 2009;119(9):2818-29.
- 371. Sachamitr P, Leishman AJ, Davies TJ, Fairchild PJ. Directed Differentiation of Human Induced Pluripotent Stem Cells into Dendritic Cells Displaying Tolerogenic Properties and Resembling the CD141(+) Subset. Front Immunol. 2017;8:1935.
- 372. Horton C, Davies TJ, Lahiri P, Sachamitr P, Fairchild PJ. Induced pluripotent stem cells reprogrammed from primary dendritic cells provide an abundant source of immunostimulatory dendritic cells for use in immunotherapy. Stem Cells. 2020;38(1):67-79.
- 373. Kitadani J, Ojima T, Iwamoto H, Tabata H, Nakamori M, Nakamura M, et al. Cancer Vaccine Therapy Using Carcinoembryonic Antigen - expressing Dendritic Cells generated from Induced Pluripotent Stem Cells. Scientific Reports. 2018;8(1):4569.
- 374. Suva ML, Riggi N, Bernstein BE. Epigenetic reprogramming in cancer. Science. 2013;339(6127):1567-70.
- 375. Harris H, Miller OJ, Klein G, Worst P, Tachibana T. Suppression of malignancy by cell fusion. Nature. 1969;223(5204):363-8.
- 376. Hochedlinger K, Blelloch R, Brennan C, Yamada Y, Kim M, Chin L, et al. Reprogramming of a melanoma genome by nuclear transplantation. Genes Dev. 2004;18(15):1875-85.
- 377. Zhang X, Cruz FD, Terry M, Remotti F, Matushansky I. Terminal differentiation and loss of tumorigenicity of human cancers via pluripotency-based reprogramming. Oncogene. 2013;32(18):2249-60, 60 e1-21.
- 378. Wesely J, Kotini AG, Izzo F, Luo H, Yuan H, Sun J, et al. Acute Myeloid Leukemia iPSCs Reveal a Role for RUNX1 in the Maintenance of Human Leukemia Stem Cells. Cell Rep. 2020;31(9):107688.

- 379. Bernhardt M, Novak D, Assenov Y, Orouji E, Knappe N, Weina K, et al. Melanoma-Derived iPCCs Show Differential Tumorigenicity and Therapy Response. Stem Cell Reports. 2017;8(5):1379-91.
- 380. Utikal J, Maherali N, Kulalert W, Hochedlinger K. Sox2 is dispensable for the reprogramming of melanocytes and melanoma cells into induced pluripotent stem cells. J Cell Sci. 2009;122(Pt 19):3502-10.
- 381. Carette JE, Pruszak J, Varadarajan M, Blomen VA, Gokhale S, Camargo FD, et al. Generation of iPSCs from cultured human malignant cells. Blood. 2010;115(20):4039-42.
- 382. Kumano K, Arai S, Hosoi M, Taoka K, Takayama N, Otsu M, et al. Generation of induced pluripotent stem cells from primary chronic myelogenous leukemia patient samples. Blood. 2012;119(26):6234-42.
- 383. Chao MP, Gentles AJ, Chatterjee S, Lan F, Reinisch A, Corces MR, et al. Human AML-iPSCs Reacquire Leukemic Properties after Differentiation and Model Clonal Variation of Disease. Cell Stem Cell. 2017;20(3):329-44 e7.
- 384. Miyoshi N, Ishii H, Nagai K-i, Hoshino H, Mimori K, Tanaka F, et al. Defined factors induce reprogramming of gastrointestinal cancer cells. Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences. 2010;107(1):40-5.
- 385. Kim J, Hoffman JP, Alpaugh RK, Rhim AD, Reichert M, Stanger BZ, et al. An iPSC line from human pancreatic ductal adenocarcinoma undergoes early to invasive stages of pancreatic cancer progression. Cell Rep. 2013;3(6):2088-99.
- 386. Corominas-Faja B, Cufi S, Oliveras-Ferraros C, Cuyas E, Lopez-Bonet E, Lupu R, et al. Nuclear reprogramming of luminal-like breast cancer cells generates Sox2-overexpressing cancer stem-like cellular states harboring transcriptional activation of the mTOR pathway. Cell Cycle. 2013;12(18):3109-24.
- 387. Iskender B, Izgi K, Canatan H. Reprogramming bladder cancer cells for studying cancer initiation and progression. Tumour Biol. 2016;37(10):13237-45.
- 388. Stricker SH, Feber A, Engstrom PG, Caren H, Kurian KM, Takashima Y, et al. Widespread resetting of DNA methylation in glioblastoma-initiating cells suppresses malignant cellular behavior in a lineage-dependent manner. Genes Dev. 2013;27(6):654-69.
- 389. Liu Z, Che P, Mercado JJ, Hackney JR, Friedman GK, Zhang C, et al. Characterization of iPSCs derived from low grade gliomas revealed early regional chromosomal amplifications during gliomagenesis. J Neurooncol. 2019;141(2):289-301.
- 390. Gong L, Yan Q, Zhang Y, Fang X, Liu B, Guan X. Cancer cell reprogramming: a promising therapy converting malignancy to benignity. Cancer Commun (Lond). 2019;39(1):48.
- 391. Izgi K, Canatan H, Iskender B. Current status in cancer cell reprogramming and its clinical implications. J Cancer Res Clin Oncol. 2017;143(3):371-83.
- 392. Takahashi K, Yamanaka S. A decade of transcription factor-mediated reprogramming to pluripotency. Nat Rev Mol Cell Biol. 2016;17(3):183-93.

- 393. Su Z, Zang T, Liu ML, Wang LL, Niu W, Zhang CL. Reprogramming the fate of human glioma cells to impede brain tumor development. Cell Death Dis. 2014;5(10):e1463.
- 394. Fehrenbach S, Novak D, Bernhardt M, Larribere L, Boukamp P, Umansky V, et al. Loss of tumorigenic potential upon transdifferentiation from keratinocytic into melanocytic lineage. Sci Rep. 2016;6:28891.
- 395. Cheng Z, He Z, Cai Y, Zhang C, Fu G, Li H, et al. Conversion of hepatoma cells to hepatocyte-like cells by defined hepatocyte nuclear factors. Cell Res. 2019;29(2):124-35.
- 396. Somasundaram R, Ahsberg J, Okuyama K, Ungerback J, Lilljebjorn H, Fioretos T, et al. Clonal conversion of B lymphoid leukemia reveals cross-lineage transfer of malignant states. Genes Dev. 2016;30(22):2486-99.
- 397. Rapino F, Robles EF, Richter-Larrea JA, Kallin EM, Martinez-Climent JA, Graf T. C/EBPalpha induces highly efficient macrophage transdifferentiation of B lymphoma and leukemia cell lines and impairs their tumorigenicity. Cell Rep. 2013;3(4):1153-63.
- 398. McClellan JS, Dove C, Gentles AJ, Ryan CE, Majeti R. Reprogramming of primary human Philadelphia chromosome-positive B cell acute lymphoblastic leukemia cells into nonleukemic macrophages. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A. 2015;112(13):4074-9.
- 399. Kaji K, Norrby K, Paca A, Mileikovsky M, Mohseni P, Woltjen K. Virus-free induction of pluripotency and subsequent excision of reprogramming factors. Nature. 2009;458(7239):771-5.
- 400. Carey BW, Markoulaki S, Hanna J, Saha K, Gao Q, Mitalipova M, et al. Reprogramming of murine and human somatic cells using a single polycistronic vector. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A. 2009;106(1):157-62.
- 401. Chantzoura E, Skylaki S, Menendez S, Kim SI, Johnsson A, Linnarsson S, et al. Reprogramming Roadblocks Are System Dependent. Stem Cell Reports. 2015;5(3):350-64.
- 402. Liu Z, Chen O, Wall JBJ, Zheng M, Zhou Y, Wang L, et al. Systematic comparison of 2A peptides for cloning multi-genes in a polycistronic vector. Sci Rep. 2017;7(1):2193.
- 403. Rosa FF, Pires CF, Kurochkin I, Ferreira AG, Gomes AM, Palma LG, et al. Direct reprogramming of fibroblasts into antigen-presenting dendritic cells. Sci Immunol. 2018;3(30).
- 404. Rosa FF, Pires CF, Kurochkin I, Halitzki E, Zahan T, Arh N, et al. Single-cell transcriptional profiling informs efficient reprogramming of human somatic cells to cross-presenting dendritic cells. Sci Immunol. 2022;7(69).
- 405. Treutlein B, Lee QY, Camp JG, Mall M, Koh W, Shariati SAM, et al. Dissecting direct reprogramming from fibroblast to neuron using single-cell RNA-seq. Nature. 2016;534(7607):391-+.
- 406. Biddy BA, Kong WJ, Kamimoto K, Guo C, Waye SE, Sun T, et al. Single-cell mapping of lineage and identity in direct reprogramming. Nature. 2018;564(7735):219-+.

- 407. Zhou Y, Liu ZQ, Welch JD, Gao X, Wang L, Garbutt T, et al. Single-Cell Transcriptomic Analyses of Cell Fate Transitions during Human Cardiac Reprogramming. Cell Stem Cell. 2019;25(1):149-+.
- 408. Warlich E, Kuehle J, Cantz T, Brugman MH, Maetzig T, Galla M, et al. Lentiviral Vector Design and Imaging Approaches to Visualize the Early Stages of Cellular Reprogramming. Mol Ther. 2011;19(4):782-9.
- 409. Lawson KA, Sousa CM, Zhang X, Kim E, Akthar R, Caumanns JJ, et al. Functional genomic landscape of cancer-intrinsic evasion of killing by T cells. Nature. 2020;586(7827):120-6.
- 410. Kalbasi A, Tariveranmoshabad M, Hakimi K, Kremer S, Campbell KM, Funes JM, et al. Uncoupling interferon signaling and antigen presentation to overcome immunotherapy resistance due to JAK1 loss in melanoma. Sci Transl Med. 2020;12(565).
- 411. Zimmermannova O, Ferreira AG, Ascic E, Velasco Santiago M, Kurochkin I, Hansen M, et al. Restoring tumor immunogenicity with dendritic cell reprogramming. Sci Immunol. 2023;8(85):eadd4817.
- 412. Marro S, Pang ZP, Yang N, Tsai MC, Qu K, Chang HY, et al. Direct lineage conversion of terminally differentiated hepatocytes to functional neurons. Cell Stem Cell. 2011;9(4):374-82.
- 413. Wonderlich J, Shearer G, Livingstone A, Brooks A, Soloski MJ, Presby MM. Induction and Measurement of Cytotoxic T Lymphocyte Activity. Curr Protoc Immunol. 2018;120:3 11 1-3 29.
- 414. Upadhyay R, Boiarsky JA, Pantsulaia G, Svensson-Arvelund J, Lin MJ, Wroblewska A, et al. A Critical Role for Fas-Mediated Off-Target Tumor Killing in T-cell Immunotherapy. Cancer Discov. 2021;11(3):599-613.
- 415. Sutermaster BA, Darling EM. Considerations for high-yield, high-throughput cell enrichment: fluorescence versus magnetic sorting. Sci Rep. 2019;9(1):227.
- 416. Pan J, Wan J. Methodological comparison of FACS and MACS isolation of enriched microglia and astrocytes from mouse brain. J Immunol Methods. 2020;486:112834.
- 417. Schönheit J, Kuhl C, Gebhardt ML, Klett FF, Riemke P, Scheller M, et al. PU. 1 level-directed chromatin structure remodeling at the Irf8 gene drives dendritic cell commitment. Cell reports. 2013;3(5):1617-28.
- 418. Lee J, Sayed N, Hunter A, Au KF, Wong WH, Mocarski ES, et al. Activation of innate immunity is required for efficient nuclear reprogramming. Cell. 2012;151(3):547-58.
- 419. Liu Z, Wang L, Welch JD, Ma H, Zhou Y, Vaseghi HR, et al. Single-cell transcriptomics reconstructs fate conversion from fibroblast to cardiomyocyte. Nature. 2017;551(7678):100-4.
- 420. Chronis C, Fiziev P, Papp B, Butz S, Bonora G, Sabri S, et al. Cooperative Binding of Transcription Factors Orchestrates Reprogramming. Cell. 2017;168(3):442-59.e20.
- 421. Zaret KS. Pioneer Transcription Factors Initiating Gene Network Changes. Annu Rev Genet. 2020;54:367-85.

- 422. Kim S, Bagadia P, Anderson DA, Liu T-T, Huang X, Theisen DJ, et al. High Amount of Transcription Factor IRF8 Engages AP1-IRF Composite Elements in Enhancers to Direct Type 1 Conventional Dendritic Cell Identity. Immunity. 2020;53(4):759-74.e9.
- 423. Pham D, Moseley CE, Gao M, Savic D, Winstead CJ, Sun M, et al. Batf Pioneers the Reorganization of Chromatin in Developing Effector T Cells via Ets1-Dependent Recruitment of Ctcf. Cell Reports. 2019;29(5):1203-20.e7.
- 424. Minkis K, Kavanagh DG, Alter G, Bogunovic D, O'Neill D, Adams S, et al. Type 2 Bias of T cells expanded from the blood of melanoma patients switched to type 1 by IL-12p70 mRNA-transfected dendritic cells. Cancer Res. 2008;68(22):9441-50.
- 425. Linde MH, Fan AC, Kohnke T, Trotman-Grant AC, Gurev SF, Phan P, et al. Reprogramming Cancer into Antigen-Presenting Cells as a Novel Immunotherapy. Cancer Discov. 2023;13(5):1164-85.
- 426. Ivashkiv LB. IFNgamma: signalling, epigenetics and roles in immunity, metabolism, disease and cancer immunotherapy. Nat Rev Immunol. 2018;18(9):545-58.
- 427. Lu Y, Brommer B, Tian X, Krishnan A, Meer M, Wang C, et al. Reprogramming to recover youthful epigenetic information and restore vision. Nature. 2020;588(7836):124-9.
- 428. Athanasopoulos T, Munye MM, Yanez-Munoz RJ. Nonintegrating Gene Therapy Vectors. Hematol Oncol Clin North Am. 2017;31(5):753-70.
- 429. Bulcha JT, Wang Y, Ma H, Tai PWL, Gao G. Viral vector platforms within the gene therapy landscape. Signal Transduct Target Ther. 2021;6(1):53.
- 430. Juttner J, Szabo A, Gross-Scherf B, Morikawa RK, Rompani SB, Hantz P, et al. Targeting neuronal and glial cell types with synthetic promoter AAVs in mice, nonhuman primates and humans. Nat Neurosci. 2019;22(8):1345-56.
- 431. Montano-Samaniego M, Bravo-Estupinan DM, Mendez-Guerrero O, Alarcon-Hernandez E, Ibanez-Hernandez M. Strategies for Targeting Gene Therapy in Cancer Cells With Tumor-Specific Promoters. Front Oncol. 2020;10:605380.
- 432. Stadtfeld M, Nagaya M, Utikal J, Weir G, Hochedlinger K. Induced pluripotent stem cells generated without viral integration. Science. 2008;322(5903):945-9.
- 433. Li H, Chen G. In Vivo Reprogramming for CNS Repair: Regenerating Neurons from Endogenous Glial Cells. Neuron. 2016;91(4):728-38.
- 434. Abad M, Mosteiro L, Pantoja C, Canamero M, Rayon T, Ors I, et al. Reprogramming in vivo produces teratomas and iPS cells with totipotency features. Nature. 2013;502(7471):340-5.
- 435. Mosteiro L, Pantoja C, Alcazar N, Marion RM, Chondronasiou D, Rovira M, et al. Tissue damage and senescence provide critical signals for cellular reprogramming in vivo. Science. 2016;354(6315).
- 436. Ocampo A, Reddy P, Martinez-Redondo P, Platero-Luengo A, Hatanaka F, Hishida T, et al. In Vivo Amelioration of Age-Associated Hallmarks by Partial Reprogramming. Cell. 2016;167(7):1719-33 e12.

- 437. Qian L, Huang Y, Spencer CI, Foley A, Vedantham V, Liu L, et al. In vivo reprogramming of murine cardiac fibroblasts into induced cardiomyocytes. Nature. 2012;485(7400):593-8.
- 438. Wang LL, Su Z, Tai W, Zou Y, Xu XM, Zhang CL. The p53 Pathway Controls SOX2-Mediated Reprogramming in the Adult Mouse Spinal Cord. Cell Rep. 2016;17(3):891-903.
- 439. Li W, Nakanishi M, Zumsteg A, Shear M, Wright C, Melton DA, et al. In vivo reprogramming of pancreatic acinar cells to three islet endocrine subtypes. Elife. 2014;3:e01846.
- 440. Rezvani M, Espanol-Suner R, Malato Y, Dumont L, Grimm AA, Kienle E, et al. In Vivo Hepatic Reprogramming of Myofibroblasts with AAV Vectors as a Therapeutic Strategy for Liver Fibrosis. Cell Stem Cell. 2016;18(6):809-16.
- 441. Brambrink T, Foreman R, Welstead GG, Lengner CJ, Wernig M, Suh H, et al. Sequential expression of pluripotency markers during direct reprogramming of mouse somatic cells. Cell Stem Cell. 2008;2(2):151-9.
- 442. Hockemeyer D, Soldner F, Cook EG, Gao Q, Mitalipova M, Jaenisch R. A druginducible system for direct reprogramming of human somatic cells to pluripotency. Cell Stem Cell. 2008;3(3):346-53.
- 443. Lee J, Zhou YJ, Ma W, Zhang W, Aljoufi A, Luh T, et al. Lineage specification of human dendritic cells is marked by IRF8 expression in hematopoietic stem cells and multipotent progenitors. Nat Immunol. 2017;18(8):877-88.
- 444. Dobin A, Davis CA, Schlesinger F, Drenkow J, Zaleski C, Jha S, et al. STAR: ultrafast universal RNA-seq aligner. Bioinformatics. 2013;29(1):15-21.
- 445. Love MI, Huber W, Anders S. Moderated estimation of fold change and dispersion for RNA-seq data with DESeq2. Genome Biol. 2014;15(12):550.
- 446. Yu G, Wang LG, Han Y, He QY. clusterProfiler: an R package for comparing biological themes among gene clusters. OMICS. 2012;16(5):284-7.
- 447. Chen EY, Tan CM, Kou Y, Duan Q, Wang Z, Meirelles GV, et al. Enrichr: interactive and collaborative HTML5 gene list enrichment analysis tool. BMC Bioinformatics. 2013;14:128.
- 448. Reynisson B, Barra C, Kaabinejadian S, Hildebrand WH, Peters B, Nielsen M. Improved Prediction of MHC II Antigen Presentation through Integration and Motif Deconvolution of Mass Spectrometry MHC Eluted Ligand Data. J Proteome Res. 2020;19(6):2304-15.
- 449. Gfeller D, Schmidt J, Croce G, Guillaume P, Bobisse S, Genolet R, et al. Predictions of immunogenicity reveal potent SARS-CoV-2 CD8+ T-cell epitopes. bioRxiv. 2022:2022.05. 23.492800.

## About the author

GABRIELA FERREIRA was born in 1993 in Braga, Portugal. Her goal to become a scientist led her to study Biomedical Sciences, followed by a master's degree in Molecular Genetics. During her studies, she found her passion for immunology, genetic engineering, and cancer biology. In late 2017 she was accepted to the Ph.D. programme in Experimental Biology and Biomedicine and soon after that, enrolled in a joint degree between Lund University, Sweden, and Universidade de Coimbra, Portugal.



The work in this dissertation focused on exploring direct reprogramming strategies to increase tumor immunogenicity and develop new strategies for immunotherapy.



**FACULTY OF** 

**MEDICINE** 

Division of Molecular Medicine and Gene Therapy Department of Laboratory Medicine

> Lund University, Faculty of Medicine Doctoral Dissertation Series 2023:130 ISBN 978-91-8021-472-8 ISSN 1652-8220

